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“ASU(s)”

=
“Board”

AN

“Company”

[eEERSTA
“CG Code”

[E %]

“Director(s)”

(B A A E 421 )
“GDP”

[R&E |
“Group”

BEE:ES N
“HBIS”

[T 8 i 17 )
“HBIS Company’

q

[ 0] 8 Bk 8 £ = |
“HBIS Group”

7] 8] 42 =
“HBIS Laosteel”

BZE: TNl

“HBIS Tangshan Branch”

=

Definitions

FARERERTNIFEEEA  Unless otherwise stated in the context, the following terms shall have the

following meanings in this report:

EROBEE
air separations unit(s)

EEg
the board of Directors

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

LR R B C1ET &L 2 B VR ST A
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

ZN/NSIF--2
the director(s) of the Company

NEEHAE

gross domestic product

KRR R EMERF
the Company and its subsidiaries

30 & 8 A R A A
HBIS Group Co., Ltd.* G $] S B A R A 7))

] 88 B 7 B PR A R
HBIS Company Limited* Gl # i {7 45 IR 2 7))

AMEE R AMBARAKERZENBMEAN ETEELAEE
HBIS and its subsidiaries and their respective associates, but excluding the Group

A3 4 = S B R A
HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co., Ltd.* (i i 44 = $i & A R A 7))

AR BRABE LD AR
HBIS Company Limited Tangshen Branch* Gl il B% 5 A BR A &l B LU 7 A &l)
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Definitions

[0 &4 f25 $ |
“HBIS Tangsteel”

[ E A 8l
“Listing Rules”

BRI RAR]
“LNG”

[ 8]
“Luanxian”

ST
“Model Code”

[Nm&/hr]
“Nm&/hr”

=
“PRC” or “China”

[HB R &= 3L
“Prospectus”

AR
“RMB”

[ & 8 | 3 [2024 5 3
NS

“Reporting Period” or
“2024” or “Year”

(38 75 & B R 15k 5]
“SFO”

[ 7]
“Share(s)”

FLMEEEAREE QA
Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Co., Ltd* (B IS EEERET A7)

B S P8 % E T AR Al
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

BIERAR  BRELAKNBENRAR(EEZERF )
liquefied natural gas, which is natural gas (predominantly methane) that has been
cooled down to liquid form

BEEHREBERAR
Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd.* (# & EMAE AR A7)

FHARBIMSCIE L EITAESTHETESFR D 2IRESFE
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

BAESL KGN
Normal cubic metre per hour

hEARAFE
the People’s Republic of China

RNFHEA2020F 12 B16 M BRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 16 December 2020

FEEEEEARE
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

B E2024512A31HILFE

the year ended 31 December 2024

BB EOET1E(E HFRBAEHKA)D

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

NN T AR AN F & AR 0.0001 35 T /9 & i iR
the ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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“Shareholder(s)”
[ B 22 AT &

“Stock Exchange”

[ 1L E AR &
“Tangshan Plate”

(EERE i
“TTG”
(ERRELTHAA K

“TTG Laoting Branch”

ES=0 |
IIUSII

Ep |
IIUSDII

Y EHRES

*

For identification purposes only

=

Definitions

[RERESTEPN
the holder(s) of the Shares

BEABERSFBERAR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

B ERMBR AR
Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate Co., Ltd.* (B L ERM B R Q)

FILE#HAEERAA
Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd.* (F LI EMREARE A7)

FLEMREERAGLEESAE
Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. Laoting Branch* (LI E i REEER A r%% =

Po/NCT)

EFBRER
United States of America

EXBEEEERET

United States Dollar, lawful currency of the United States
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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of the Company, | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Group for the Reporting Period.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The total revenue of the Group in 2024 was approximately RMB1,313.61
million representing a decrease of approximately 11.26% as compared to
approximately RMB1,491.15 million in the year ended 31 December 2023.
Gross profit which amounted to approximately RMB315.25 million in 2024
decreased by approximately 4.17% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2023, which was mainly due to the continued downturn in the
steel market in 2024 and fierce competition in the liquefied industrial gas
market, including the fact that the price of lean krypton xenon liquid oxygen
in the market has been hovering at low levels, and the consumption of
pipeline gas has not met expectations. The profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company in 2024 was approximately RMB130.05
million (profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately RMB128.08 million in 2023), representing an increase of
approximately 1.54% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2023.

REVIEW

In 2024, one set of 60,000Nm%hr and two sets of 40,000Nm%/hr ASUs
of the Group’s TTG New District Plant (formerly Zhonggi Investment
(Tangshan) Plant) were in smooth operation while the second set
of 60,000Nm®hr oxygen generating plant was in the final stage of
construction. The Group’s production capacity and technical capability of

its equipment have been substantially enhanced.

The TTG New District Plant was able to capitalised on its competitive
advantages in terms of equipment, technology and talents, successfully
achieving its production output and operational efficiency targets through
technological innovations such as automatic variable load, liquid oxygen
self-pressurisation and steam heating. These will become an important
driver of profit growth for the Group. The successful market launch of
rare gas products (lean krypton xenon) has filled the market gaps in the
aerospace and high-end electronic products sectors previously faced
by the Group. This has continuously enhanced the Group’s market core
competitiveness.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2024, the Group has fully mobilised the enthusiasm of its research
and development personnel and enhanced its independent innovation
capabilities by strengthening the management of intellectual property
rights such as completion of project research, patent applications and
copyright registration of computer software, so as to provide solid scientific
and technological support for the Group’s high quality development. The
Group’s main subsidiary, TTG, passed the annual qualification review
and obtained the certification as a high-tech enterprise for 2022 to 2025.
Furthermore, in 2024, we established nine new science and technology
projects and were granted two second-class awards for science and
technology advancement. The Group applied for six utility model patents
and one invention patent.

OUTLOOK

Leveraging on the Group’s excellent production and service experience in
the iron and steel smelting industry, the Group will have a more in-depth
cooperation with HBIS at its steel production base in Laoting. Meanwhile,
the Group will review the direction of the market trend according to the
development needs of customers and will endeavor to accelerate the
research and development of high value-added products, cultivate high-
quality major customers, enhance the influence and popularity of its
corporate brand and thus increase the competitiveness of the Group in
the market.

I will continue to uphold the principle of “serving the society, rewarding
shareholders and achieving employees”. By accelerating the Group’s
strategic layout throughout the entire Chinese market, and increasing the
pace of developing new markets, this will lead the Group towards high
quality development through technological innovation.

%R Annual Report 2024
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Chairman’s Statement

2 & ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

AABHHBERREEE  MAELEE  On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
BEE TH2024F EEHMERMBUARDLR  sincere gratitude to all the staff of the Group for their contribution in 2024
#omMARBRRL, BRERMAEZHR—HE and to express our sincere appreciation to our customers, shareholders

RE AR RBN L B HABRRBE | and the community for their continuous support to the Company!
RRIESE Mr. Song Changjiang

ey Chairman

Bl - 202593 A25H Tangshan, 25 March 2025

10 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Five Year Financial Summary

2024 20234 20224 20214 2020%
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

EF | RESULTS RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
1 &= Revenue 1,313,612 1,491,154 1,481,644 1,209,271 1,186,824
W& F7 18 % A % Al Profit before income tax 159,453 152,765 161,018 14,118 3,688
FEMEX Income tax expense (29,407) (24,689) (48,275) (40,935) (31,385)
AATAHEEAEEEARTE,  Profit/(loss) for the year
(E5#R) attributable to owners

of the Company 130,047 128,076 112,743 (26,817) (27,697)
Hitir el A Other comprehensive

income
MEHER Currency translation

differences 427 479) (8,940) (9,647) 2,542
FREEWREE Total comprehensive

income for the year 130,474 127,597 103,803 (36,464) (25,155)
BEERAR ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
AEMTH Total assets 2,443,149 2,472,961 2,606,676 2,406,049 2,524,718
BfEEHE Total liabilities (799,245)  (959,531) (1,220,843) (1,124,019) (1,206,225)
AR Total equity 1,643,904 1,513,430 1,385,833 1,282,030 1,318,493
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FXBORE
AEBIBRTARELERBEIER
® -
ARENEIBERIEXRBIEAN BN
MEE HMAEBRABHBLEEAR -

BEPBEBEXRGR(BERAETR]) 2025
FAAT A BT ZEEIE - 2024 FHE
lﬁqié EZ@}\E% 349,08418 7T - #&

FBERTE b EFIERLS5.0% © 2024
E q:l#ﬂfﬂﬁg%mo 0518 MR + 82023 4F
TB#1.7% : 4 8 E = #8.51{8HE + $22023
F T R2.3% ¢ A4 il M #913.9918 W - &R
2023F HEKR1.1% °

XaRArEERFERFPAMEERERA
HEEEEMNERZESEN LKEI
BEIXREEBREFAMER - A -
EREITEREBMERFINEMBEAM
BREEMSHNEREL E—FERETK -
NEEEH £22024F12A31H IE FEH W
AMEE2023F12A31HEFEMNHAR
1,491 1568 BT RPN EDARE
1,31361HE T °

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the production and supply of industrial
gases in the PRC.

The Group’s key products, industrial gases, are mainly used in the
production of iron and steel. The Group’s revenue is derived mainly from
iron and steel production companies.

According to the preliminary accounting data released by National Bureau
of Statistics of China (the “Statistic Bureau”) on 17 January 2025, GDP
of China in 2024 was approximately RMB134,908.4 billion, representing an
increase of approximately 5.0% over the last year at a constant prices. In
2024, China’s crude steel output was approximately 1,005 million tons in
2024, representing a 1.7% decrease compared to 2023, and the pig iron
output was approximately 851 million tons, representing 2.3% decrease
compared to 2023; the production of steel was approximately 1,399
million tons, representing an 1.1% increase compared to 2023.

Benefiting from the gradual release of production capacity in the coastal
production bases of the Group’s main customer, being HBIS Group Co.,
Ltd. (& E AR A F),

increased as compared to last year. However, due to keen competition in

the Group’s pipeline industrial gas business

the liquefied industrial gas market, the price of the product lean krypton
xenon liquid oxygen in the market has dropped severely as compared
to that of the previous year. Consequently, the Group’s revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2024 decreased to approximately RMB1,313.61
million, representing a 11.91% decrease from approximately RMB1,491.15
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Supply of Pipeline Industrial Gas

The Group’s pipeline industrial gas is produced and transmitted to its
customers via pipelines. The Group’s production facilities are all located
on, or in close proximity to, the production facilities of its pipeline industrial
gas customers for the convenience of those customers being provided
with industrial gas products. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group had two pipeline industrial gas production plants in operation,
namely the TTG Laoting Branch (] mEE 4= 5 A7) plant and the TTG
new district plant (formerly known as the Zhongqi Investment (Tangshan)
plant).

Supply of Liquefied Industrial Gas

To maximise the utilisation of its designed production capacity and
increase its revenue, the Group also engages in the supply of liquefied
industrial gas. The Group’s liquefied industrial gas products include
oxygen, nitrogen, argon and carbon dioxide. Among the oxygen and
nitrogen in gas form and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon generated
in its air separations unit(s) (“ASUs”), liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon
can be sold directly as liquid products, whereas oxygen and nitrogen in
gas form generated by the ASUs can be further processed through the
liquefier to obtain liquefied oxygen and nitrogen. After meeting all the
demand for oxygen and nitrogen in gas form in the pipeline, the Group
utilises the spare design capacity to produce and sell liquefied nitrogen,
thereby maximising the use of the ASUs. Carbon dioxide is produced in
a separate production line independent from the production of oxygen,
nitrogen and argon.

Provision of Technical Support and Management
Services

The Group provides technical support and management services. Such
services include management of organisation and planning, equipment
inspections, equipment maintenance, routine maintenance, safety, labour
and personnel etc. in respect of the production and supply of the industrial
gas products.

%R Annual Report 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HERCRARREHREEER
%
AEBHBERARBEEREERCX
RARFEREEEHRAEBERRY - HERI(L
ARAREAEELEERBEERICRARE
me RHAREHREEEENEERR
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Supply of LNG and the Provision of Gas Transmission

Services

The Group’s LNG-related business includes the supply of LNG and the
provision of gas transmission services. The supply of LNG refers to the
production and sales of LNG products by the Group. The provision of gas
transmission services refers to the Group’s coke oven gas pressurisation
and transmission services provided via pipelines which are independent
from the pipelines used for its supply of pipeline industrial gas. The Group’s
Luanxian plant produces LNG and also provides gas transmission services,
and has relevant equipment and machinery used for the Group’s LNG
supply business.

Revenue and gross profit from each segment for the years ended 31
December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”) and 31 December 2023 are
set out as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024 For the year ended 31 December 2023

BZ2024512A31ALEE B E2023F12A31ALEFE
Gross Gross profit Gross  Gross profit
Revenue profit margin Revenue profit margin
U 2 e ER=E Uz EM R =
RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR%n AR®R ARBT ARET
HETERE(EBRRL) Supply of industrial gas ~ 1,112,662,660 299,147,627 26.89% 1,203,621,320 320,611,598 26.64%
(pipeline and liquefied)
BIERARRREH XKL LNG and gas transmission 213,195,599 6,798,135 3.19% 305,356,594 10,050,185 3.29%
services
B REE RS Technical support and 14,764,420 9,301,072 63.00% 2,917,278 1,441,159 49.40%
management services
Eagic| Elimination (27,010,910 - - (20,741,204) = -
rEE The Group 1,313,611,769 315,246,834 24.00% 1,491,153,988 332,102,942 22.27%

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

Impact of external factors

While setting its GDP growth target at around 5% for 2024, China’s GDP
had achieved an annual growth of approximately 5.0% in 2024. The year
2024 was a challenging year for the steel industry, which was affected by
the high raw fuel prices and the falling steel prices, resulting a significant
decline in profitability.

In the current global economic environment, gas supply companies face
multiple risks, particularly in their business of supplying gas to iron and
steel plants in China. The two main risk factors are changes in the US
trade policy towards other countries and the impact of the US-China trade
war. Firstly, the increase in tariffs by the US will have profound impact on
global trade, which will not only affect the imported raw materials of iron
and steel plants, but may also trigger adjustments to the entire supply
chain. As our major customers, iron and steel plants may change their
production plans and market demand due to the impact of trade policies,
which may expose our gas demand to fluctuations, affecting sales forecast
and inventory management. In summary, as policy uncertainty in the U.S.
market increases, our market position will be challenged.

Secondly, the continued escalation of the US-China trade war has
exacerbated the instability of the global trade environment. As bilateral
trade relations become tense, iron and steel plants may face challenges
such as reduced market demand and higher trade barriers, which not
only affect their production operations, but may also lead to changes in
their demand for gas supply. Iron and steel plants may consider alternative
sources of supply in response to the trade war, which could further
reduce our market share. To address such risks, we need to formulate
flexible business strategies, enhance our market analysis capabilities
and risk forecasting capabilities, build a diversified customer base and
supply chain to reduce our reliance on a single market, and strengthen
our communication and co-operation with iron and steel plants to better
understand the changes in their demand. In addition, we should also
consider expanding into other markets and identifying new business
opportunities, so as to maintain our competitiveness in an uncertain trading
environment and ensure stable business development.

%R Annual Report 2024

15



16

EEENWREDN

Management Discussion and Analysis

C025F THRBEETEREMFIIE - i
BITEZTERN B REMRENHEAL
WEE MsHERNIERE WMoEER
BEKBEE AR ESRWEEH TG HIT
¥RETREHMER - BRFMHERSH
MM KRREBRERAEFNRFEE
REZ o (L TIT¥  EHAMEITEN®E
PEhE BEREEEENAL B
TERBITERETRITAKSE -

TERRISTREREHKS

FETXRBTEERZRRED M E
SN BHERMBERFAZNZETEHR
MR- BEEIXREER UETHER
BAREROFTEARFRLTEHIEE - T H
TEREMESHEBERFER -

AEBEREILL R IXREBALLE
ERRIXERETEEZAR  RAKAE
BMERTXERBY  HEAEEERE
Em HREFHFERBEMMSMHE
IR R K ERATS o

HREXABRTRNEE

TERBHIAEADSBRRBEHERRMIN
BHR - HtARREFHREN  SIeH
REABERAE  HEBEUES - BER
MAMERS » —REFBRAE - SMEHA
M NBIGLRIIER - B RRINEH
HRBEAKEFBEHLEERBEHRAELN -

AEERBESFNBEFIERBHERN
RNEBREEMES  BRERKRAEE
MTHEEBE  SRUIBEREE -

Overall demand for industrial gases in 2025 will remain supported.
Affected by changes in industry profits and the profit allocation in the
product chain, the market supply pressure is prominent in steel industry,
steel enterprises may be less active in production, and steel billets output
may passively decline, which will drag down demand for industrial gases.
However, as a high-end steel material, stainless steel will continue to
grow in its traditional application in the future. The chemical industry and
traditional petrochemical industry is still facing certain challenges, but
with the transformation and upgrading of the industry, it will bring new
opportunities for development of the industrial gas industry.

Opportunities brought by industry development

prospect

China’s industrial gas industry has developed rapidly under the influence
of national policies, foreign investment, the development of high tech and
so on. With the rapid development of the industry and the explosive surge
in demand for emerging gas represented by electronic special gases, the
industrial gas market in China is expected to continue growing.

As a leading industrial gas enterprise in Northern China, the Group has a
clear advantage in the bulk industrial gas market. Meanwhile, the Group
also keeps abreast of the industry development trends, actively develops
special gas products, and expands the market share of electronic special
gas products, so as to enhance its prospect for future development.

Opportunities brought by gas supply model
development

The industrial gas supply model can be categorised into self-established
equipment gas supply and outsourced gas supply. As compared to the
self-established equipment gas supply model, the outsourced gas supply
model has low operating cost and one-off financial cost with high gas
supply stability and efficient resources utilisation. Therefore, the market
share of outsourced gas supply has been growing steadily. It is expected
that the outsourced gas supply model will gradually replace the self-
established equipment gas supply model in the future.

The Group will leverage on its successful experience and technical
advantages as an outsourced gas supplier to keep pace with the market
trends of changes in gas supply models and explore external development
opportunities.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Group’s business development

The Group’s business development is supported by customers with strong
backgrounds. Based on the increasing demand for industrial gas products
resulting from the expansion of customers’ production capacity, the Group
expects stable growth in its business in the future.

The increase in demand for industrial gas products will mainly be reflected
by the following aspects:

1. The construction of the fourth blast furnace in the coastal base of
HBIS Company Limited Tangshan Branch (il j& 5 & fR A & B 1L
/NG
The fourth blast furnace is currently under construction, and the
60,000Nm®/hr oxygen generating plant by TTG is in the final stage

of construction.

2. The construction of cold-rolled production line in the coastal base
of HBIS Company Tangshan Branch

Hydrogen production units are being constructed by TTG to support
the two cold-rolled production lines.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted to
approximately RMB1,313.61 million (2023: approximately RMB1,491.15
million), representing a decrease of approximately 11.91% as compared to
2028. The gross profit for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
RMB315.25 million (2023: approximately RMB332.10 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 5.07% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2023, which was mainly due to the decrease in the selling price
of lean krypton xenon liquid oxygen in 2024. For the Reporting Period,
the Company recorded a profit attributable to owners of approximately
RMB130.05 million (2023: approximately RMB128.08 million). The earnings
per Share attributable to the Shareholders of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately RMBO0.11 (2023:
earnings per Share of RMBO0.11).

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period decreased by
approximately 11.91% from approximately RMB1,491.15 milion for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB1,313.61 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024. During the Reporting Period, the
revenue generated form the supply of pipeline industrial gas amounted to
approximately RMB961.50 million, representing a decrease of approximately
3.72% as compared to approximately RMB998.62 million for the vyear
ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the fact that
Tangshan High-Strength gas plant had ceased production and switched
to providing technical support and management services, resulting in a
decrease in pipeline gas supply. The revenue generated from the supply of
liquefied industrial gas for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
RMB113.16 million, representing a decrease of approximately 31.71% as
compared to approximately RMB165.70 million for the same period in
2023, mainly due to the decrease in the price of liquid oxygen products.
The revenue generated from the supply of LNG and gas transmission
services for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately RMB213.20
million, representing a decrease of approximately 30.18% as compared to
approximately RMB305.36 million for the same period in 2023, mainly due
to the decrease in demand from specific customers. The revenue generated
from technical support and management services for the Reporting Period
was approximately RMB14.76 million, representing a substantial increase of

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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approximately 405.48% as compared to approximately RMB2.92 million for
the same period in 2023, mainly due to the months of services provided in
2024 were more than those in 2023. Other sales revenue for the Reporting
Period was approximately RMB10.99 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 40.75% as compared to approximately RMB18.55 million for
the same period in 2023. The decrease in other sales revenue was primarily
due to a decrease in sales of the automotive natural gas business.

Other income and other net losses

The other income of the Group for the Reporting Period increased
(2023:
approximately RMB5.38 million). The increase in other income was mainly

by approximately 79.18% to approximately RMB9.64 million

due to a one-off insurance compensation received by the Group for the
Reporting Period as compared to nil in the previous year.

The other net losses of the Group for the Reporting Period were
approximately RMB28.03 million (2023: approximately RMB17.75 million of
other net losses), which was mainly due to the write-off of property, plant
and equipment during the Reporting Period.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group for the Reporting Period
increased by approximately 22.75% to approximately RMB2.32 million
(2023: approximately RMB1.89 million), which was mainly attributable to
the increase in employee benefits expenses.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Reporting Period
decreased by approximately 13.07% to approximately RMB47.28 million
(2023: approximately RMB54.39 million). The decrease in administrative
expenses was mainly due to lower depreciation due to the disposal
of certain fixed assets in the second half of 2024, lower directors’
remuneration expenses and lower legal and professional fees incurred

during the Reporting Period as compared to the previous year.

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

During the Reporting Period, the expected credit losses for trade
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is
RMBS.08 million (2023: RMB15.36 million).
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During the Reporting Period, the expected credit losses for trade
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position were
approximately RMB26.58 million (2023: RMB23.50 million), representing an
increase of approximately 13.11% of RMB3.08 million as compared to the
previous year, which was mainly due to an increase in the risk of default of
counterparty and forward-looking factors threatening the macroeconomy.

Finance costs, net

The net finance costs of the Group for the Reporting Period decreased
by approximately 14.92% to approximately RMB18.48 million (2023:
approximately RMB21.72 million), mainly due to the decrease in interest
rate during 2024

expenses for financing as the weighted interest

decreased compared with 2023.

Income tax expense

The income tax expense of the Group for the Reporting Period increased
million (2023:
approximately RMB24.69 million), due to the fact that there were no

by approximately 19.12% to approximately RMB29.41

accumulated losses that could be used.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

The Group had a total cash and bank balances of approximately
RMB183.89 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
RMB202.62 million). As at 31 December 2024, bank and other borrowings
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB463.69 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB537.79 million), including bank borrowings of
approximately RMB460.31 million (2023: approximately RMB533.00 million)
and lease liabilities of approximately RMB3.38 million (2023: approximately
RMB4.79 million). The bank borrowings bore interest rate at a Loan Prime
Rate ranging from +3.95% to +4.9% and the People’s Bank of China
benchmark interest rate of 4.35%. The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated
as total debt divided by total equity) was approximately 28% as at 31
December 2024 (2023: 36%). Net debt, calculated as total borrowing as
well as lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents, was approximately
RMB279.81
RMB335.17 million). The outstanding credit facilities of approximately
RMB304.00 million as at 31 December 2024 can be utilised as additional
liquidity of the Group.

milion as at 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



R2024F12A31H AEEHB R E
EfELH A REES30.31H & T+ 2023
F12H31BHARKS52.86 8 & L8 4 4Y
1.59%, & H2024%F12A318 - K g B E
4858 49 A R #546.68F & JT © 82023F
128318 A A R#668.245H & Lk 2 4
18.19% °

AEBZRELERUARBE ELERMN
BB E4A5)N2024FE12 A31H £91.54

(20234 : #1.28) °
BT AEBANEELREAHAITERE
BAIEERS  ANARHES  RWITIERX

fi -

i 2

EETEZRMNBREHNRPERBE(FH
ZE2023F12A31HILFEE &) -
THRIEBRNOBREBRR EEFEETMU
TEE:

—  R2024%12 A31H  KEERERE
EREHNARARKESS68EBE T
ZHEBYE MERZHERE L
BB BEENHELY ARSER
B  AEEFERAEZESIN
MR EBY TERENBEING
jﬁ °

- FERREKRTER
MR °

A M58 R

REHEARERR 2R EMRERDRE
BREETEBRRNBSHORAERS -

EEENWEDN

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group recorded total current assets of approximately RMB839.31
million as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately
1.59% as compared to approximately RMB852.86 milion as at 31
December 2023; and total current liabilities of approximately RMB546.68
million as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately
18.19% as compared to approximately RMB668.24 million as at 31
December 2023.

The current ratio of the Group, calculated by dividing total current assets
by total current liabilities, was approximately 1.54 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: approximately 1.28).

Currently, the Group’s operating and capital expenditures are mainly
financed by cash generated from operation, internal liquidity and bank

borrowings.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (for the year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

Cognisant of the Group’s dividend policy, the Board has considered the
fact that:

- As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total capital commitments
of approximately RMB55.68 million, mainly related to contracted
commitments in respect of purchase of property, plant and

equipment. With the imminent construction of the furnace of HBIS

Tangshan Branch, the Group plans on committing more capital

investments so as to meet the additional industrial gas demand from

HBIS.

- The Group has continued to reduce its bank borrowings in order to
minimise the expenditure on finance costs.

Having weighed the above, the above decision has been arrived with a

prudent approach in not recommending the payment of a final dividend
for the Reporting Period.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial instruments include financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, trade and other receivables
and bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, borrowings
and lease liabilities. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to support the Group’s industrial gas business. The Group also has
various financial assets and financial liabilities arising from its business
operations. The principal risks arising from its financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The
Group intends to achieve an appropriate balance between these risks and
the investment returns so as to minimise the potential adverse impact on
its business and financial condition. The Group will not obtain collateral
from the counterparty. At the end of the Reporting Period, the provision
for impairment loss of approximately RMB26.58 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB23.50 million) was made for trade receivables
as a portion of the trade receivables was considered to be subject
to certain credit risk due to their ageing exceeding six months. The
management of the Group had also evaluated all available forward-looking
information, including but not limited to the expected industry growth
rate and settlement, and concluded that there is no significant increase
in credit risk. As at 31 December 2024, approximately 89% of the trade
receivables of the Group were payable by the HBIS (31 December 2023:
approximately 97%). The credit period granted to the Group’s customers,
including the HBIS Group, is usually no more than 180 days and the credit
quality of these customers is assessed by taking into account their financial
position, past experience, business relationship with the Group and other
factors. In view of the sound history of receivables, the management of
the Group believes that the fixed credit risk of the Group’s unsettled trade
receivables balance is insignificant, however, an impairment provision
has been made for trade receivables in accordance with the principle of
prudence. The Group aims to maintain its current assets at an appropriate
level and is committed to a capital limit. This ensures that the Group can
satisfy its short term and long term liquidity needs. The Group had been
following its liquidity policy during the Reporting Period, which has been
effective in managing liquidity risk. The cash flow generated from the
Group’s operation is expected to be able to satisfy the Group’s needs for
cash flow in the future.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Foreign currency risk

Other payables as well as cash and cash equivalents of the Group mainly
generated from the business outside the PRC, are denominated in other
currencies different from the function currency of its related business. The
currencies that caused such exposure are primarily the US dollars and
Hong Kong dollars. The Group did not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge against its foreign exchange risk. The Group periodically reviews
its foreign exchange risk and considers that there is no significant exposure
to its foreign exchange risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of lack of funds to pay liabilities as they fall due.
This may arise from mismatches in the amount or timing with regard to
the financial assets and liabilities. The Group manages its liquidity risk
through regular monitoring the following objectives: maintaining the stable
development of the Group’s principal businesses, timely monitoring cash
and bank position, projecting cash flows and evaluating the level of current
assets to ensure the Group has liquidity.

Pledge of assets
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any charge over its
assets (2023: Nil).

TREASURY POLICIES

The bank balance and cash held by the Group were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency and interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign currency and interest rate
exposure from time to time and considers hedging significant foreign
currency and interest rate exposure when necessary.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the Reporting Period, the Group disposed of property, plant
and equipment with a carrying value of RMB24.60 million (2023: Nil) for
proceeds of RMB34.45 million (2023: Nil). For details, please refer to note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no significant investments
held, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries or associated
companies, or investment projects for sale.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the total capital commitments of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB55.68 million (2023: approximately
RMB172.63 million). They were mainly contracted commitments in respect

of purchase of property, plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group believes that talent is one of the key factors that led to
its success. The Group has experienced management team members
and employees to assist it in its business expansion. The Group plans
to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel and further
strengthen its corporate culture by continuing to invest in supporting
employees in their career development. The Group also plans to provide
its employees with trainings and professional development programmes
and further align employees’ interests with its own interest.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Group places high emphasis on the training and development of its
staff. The Group invests in continuing education and training programs
for its management and other staff members to update their skills and
knowledge periodically. The Group provides trainings for its staff members
with respect to its operation, technical knowledge and work safety
standards and environmental protection.

To attract and retain the suitable personnel who are beneficial to the
development of the Group, the Group has adopted a share option scheme
conditionally by the written resolutions of its then shareholders on 17 June
2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and such scheme is effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 29 December 2020. Pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme, share options may be granted to eligible employees
of the Group as a long-term incentive. No share options were granted,
cancelled or lapsed up to the date of this announcement.

The Group hired 324 employees in total as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
323 employees) with total staff costs of approximately RMB52.64 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately RMB55.37
million). The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its
employees.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure
that has taken place subsequent to the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this announcement.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering (as defined in the prospectus
of the Company dated 16 December 2020 (the “Prospectus”)) amounted
to HK$315.9 million (equivalent to RMB298.1 million) (the “IPO Proceeds”)
after deducting the underwriting fees and commissions and other
expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Global Offering.
The IPO Proceeds had been fully utilised by 2024. The following table sets
out details of the use of the net IPO Proceeds:

KEERBEEARR(BLRENEREENERIBES EEANRE
Procurement and relocation of ASUs relating to the development at the Zhongqi Investment
(Tangshan) plant Utilised
AR®T T
RMB’000
E—MEE Phase |
F—ATRANBHEE: First ASU: 64,990
THBTEE M TEKA payment for the remaining procurement and installation cost
E_ATEROIBMEE: Second ASU: 101,790
THBTEEMTEKA payment for the remaining procurement and installation cost
I A FE 8 RS 4R BT MR B R B and relocation of certain existing ancillary equipment
BETIRB WM e and machinery such as air compressors
(4N Z= i) from the TTG headquarters plant
FZRAERNBRE: Third ASU: 80,170
7 FE o RBS AR ED MR S R B relocation and installation of a used ASU
TR —AENTEIANHEE from the TTG headquarters plant
EMRER Phase I
EMNETERIBESE: Fourth ASU: 50,553
BERZE—BHFH procurement and installation of a new ASU
TEROBMEE
LEES NHEM—FR AT AE  Working capital and other general corporate purposes 27,300
# ot Total 324,803
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Changjiang (R ’I), aged 56, was appointed as an executive
Director on 22 April 2024, has over 31 years of working experience in
the steel industry. He is currently the deputy general manager of Hesteel
Tangsteel Group Corporation (] ] & & F #f] /2 7)), an executive director
of Tangshan Tangsteel Construction Development Company Limited* (&
LI 8 2 3% 2 B A BR 2 @) and the chairman of Tangshan Tang’ang New
Building Materials Company Limited* (FEIIESH A EZM BR AR]). Mr.
Song joined the HBIS Group in November 1989 and held the positions
of deputy manager, manager and deputy department head successively
from 1989 to 2016 at several subsidiaries within the HBIS Group. Mr. Song
served as the deputy department head of the supervision department of
a subsidiary of the HBIS Group and the deputy director and the director
of the corporate office (Office of the Party Committee) of HBIS Tangsteel
from 2016 to 2023. Mr. Song has been appointed as the deputy general
manager of HBIS Tangsteel since December 2023.

Mr. Song holds university degree, graduated from the Correspondence
School of Party School of the CPC Central Committee* (AR 9 2 % pK 15 £2
B) , majoring in business administration, and is a political engineer.

Mr. Sun Changhuan (FR&#8), aged 54, was appointed as an executive
Director on 22 April 2024, has over 31 years of working experience in the
industrial gas industry. He is currently the secretary of the Party Committee
and the general manager of TTG. He joined the Group in July 1994 and
successively worked as a mechanical technician and the deputy director
at several subsidiaries within the Group from 1994 to 2007, the manager
of different departments of TTG from 2007 to 2011, an assistant general
manager and the deputy general manager of TTG from 2011 to 2020,
and was appointed as the general manager of TTG in August 2020. He
was appointed as the secretary of the Party Committee and the general
manager of TTG in May 2022.

Mr. Sun graduated from Hebei Institute of Light and Chemical Industry*
4L (L T %) with a Bachelor’s Degree in chemical machinery and
equipment and obtained the qualification of professorate senior engineer
in metallurgical equipment.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Wenli (58 X&), aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 20 January 2023 and a member of the audit committee of
the Company (the “Audit Committee”), has over 32 years of accounting
experience in the industrial sector. He joined HBIS Company, a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000709.S2) in
September 1992. Between September 1992 and January 2022, Mr.
Zhang served various subsidiaries of HBIS Company in finance related
roles. Since January 2022, he served as the head of finance department of
HBIS Puxiang Car Plate Company Limited* CRISiEE)SERABRAR]) . He
also served as the deputy head of finance and operation department from
January 2022 to October 2022 and the assistant to the general manager
of HBIS Tangsteel since January 2022, where he is mainly responsible for
the operation and finance matters.

Mr. Zhang Wenli obtained his bachelor’s degree in international economics
and management from Shijiazhuang Tiedao Institute (currently known as
Shijiazhuang Tiedao University) in June 2007. He obtained his qualification
of a Senior Accountant (IE = A & 5HE0) in December 2020.

Ms. Ng Shuk Ming (fi#l88) , aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 19 August 2011 and re-designated as a non-executive Director
on 13 December 2019. She is responsible for participating in decision-
making in respect of major matters such as strategy, etc. Ms. Ng is also
a director of TTG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since 15
July 2015. Ms. Ng has more than 16 years of working experience in the
private equity industry. Between September 2007 and June 2010, she
worked as an associate and senior associate at Excelsior Capital Asia,
a direct investment firm focused on North Asia area, where Ms. Ng was
responsible for executing and monitoring high value investments. Since
June 2010, Ms. Ng has been working as an associate and subsequently a
principal at CITP Advisors (Hong Kong) Ltd., where Ms. Ng is responsible
for project development, executing and monitoring high value investments.

Further to her professional experience, Ms. Ng has been a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2003.

Ms. Ng obtained her bachelor’'s degree in professional accountancy from
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1999. Ms. Ng obtained her
postgraduate diploma in Financial Strategy from Said Business School,
University of Oxford in June 2021.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (&), aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 June 2020. He is responsible for supervising
and providing independent advice to the Board. Mr. Siu is the chairman of
the Audit Committee, a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Siu has over 30 years of accounting and corporate management
experience. He joined KPMG (Hong Kong) in August 1994 as an
accountant and became a partner in July 2008. Mr. Siu was the head of
real estate of KPMG (China) and the head of capital markets development,
Southern China of KPMG (China) before his retirement in June 2018. From
September 2019 to September 2021, Mr. Siu served as the executive
director of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (Stock
code: 95), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

He has been the independent non-executive directors of Dongjiang
Environmental Company Limited (Stock code: 895), China Aluminum
International Engineering Corporation Limited (Stock code: 2068), Sichuan
Energy Investment Development Co., Ltd. (Stock code: 1713) and Bank
of Zhengzhou Co., Ltd. (Stock code: 6196) since December 2020, April
2022, August 2024 and March 2025 respectively. Mr. Siu also served
as the independent non-executive director of Roiserv Lifestyle Services
Co., Ltd. (Stock code: 2146) from June 2020 to July 2022; MicroPort
NeuroScientific Corporation (Stock code: 2172) from June 2022 to June
2024; and Central China Management Company Limited (Stock code:
9982) from May 2021 to May 2024. The shares of those companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Siu is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA) and a member of the Hong Kong Independent Non
Executive Director Association (HKINEDA). He was also a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). He obtained the
qualification certificate of independent directors for listed companies (£
NAEIEFEKEZEZE) from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in February
2021.

Mr. Siu obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration from
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 1994,
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Mr. Xiao Huan Wei (B J&1&), aged 67, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 June 2020. He is responsible for supervising
and providing independent advice to the Board. Mr. Xiao is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Xiao had over 16 years of work experience in the investment industry.
From July 2005 to May 2014, Mr. Xiao served as executive director, group
chief executive, chairman of the group executive committee, and group
chief executive director of VXL Capital Limited (currently known as Crown
International Corporation Limited (2@ IRKE BB R 2AF])) (stock code:
0727), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, where he was responsible for overseeing acquisitions, asset
transfers, planning and construction development of various projects.
Since December 2021, Mr. Xiao has been the independent non-executive
director of CAQ Holdings Limited (Stock code: CAQ), the shares of which
are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.

Mr. Xiao has been the chairman of Secret Garden (Zhangjiakou) Resort
Co., Ltd. (F%e (RRA) kM ERAF]) (“ZJK”) since February 2014,
a company that principally engaged in the construction and operation of
projects relating to comprehensive and all-season ecotourism resources
development, greenery and environmental protection, skiing, outward
bound, competition and sports skills training, stadium and playground
construction and provision of agent services, where Mr. Xiao has been
responsible for the comprehensive leading of the operation management
and administration work of ZJK. Mr. Xiao is also the chairman of certain
subsidiaries of ZJK.

Mr. Xiao is a member of Beijing 2022 Olympics Winter Games Bid
Committee and the 11th and 12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference national committee of Hebei Province.

Mr. Xiao obtained his associate degree in Theory in Marxism-Leninism
from Fudan University (18 B X&), China in May 1984.
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Ms. Li Chun Elsy (Z£), aged 52, was appointed as an independent
17 June 2020. She is
supervising and providing independent advice to the Board. Ms. Li is a

non-executive Director on responsible for

member of the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Li has over 14 years of working experience in global financial
institutions. Between March 2008 and November 2014, she has held
various roles at Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch, including
managing director of institutional client group and managing director of
financial institutions group of the investment banking department. Between
May 2015 and January 2017, Ms. Li was a consultant of Egon Zehnder
International. Between May 2017 and August 2022, she was the group
treasurer and head of corporate development of Sun Hung Kai & Co.
Limited (stock code: 0086), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Between December 2022 to June 2024,
Ms. Li was the Chief Operating Officer of Peterson Holdings Company
Limited. Since July 2024, she has been the operating member of SC
Ventures by Standard Chartered Bank.

Ms. Li has been a member of the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
since July 2019. Ms. Li was qualified as a certified public accountant of
the State of New York, US in January 2002.

Ms. Li acquired her bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
University of Michigan Business School, University of Michigan, US in May
1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Libing (Z3 ££), aged 54, joined the Group in March 2007. Mr.
Li has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on
31 March 2022.
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Before joining the Group, from August 1992 to June 1995, Mr. Li worked
as a technician at Tangshan Steel Oxygen Factory (& i & & &) where
he was responsible for the management of technology relating to oxygen
production. From June 1995 to October 1997, he was the leader of the
2#15000Nm®/hr machinery planning group of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (JE 3l & & k), where he oversaw the infrastructure project
management. From October 1997 to February 2000, he worked as the
deputy head of operation workshop No. 3 of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (JE#fi & %) , where he was responsible for the production of
oxygen and technology management. From February 2000 to August
2003, he worked as a technician at the production division of Tangshan
Steel Oxygen Factory (Bl & EK), where he was responsible for
the management of craftsmanship and infrastructure and technology
renovation project management. Between August 2003 and January 2007,
he held various positions within the engineering technology division of the
power generation department of HBIS Tangsteel (currently known as HBIS
Tangsteel Power Technology Branch Company (E ILIlEEE AR SE A
AlAE R T 572 |]) , a branch company of HBIS Tangsteel), where, from
January 2007 to March 2007, he was the director at operation workshop
No. 3 of the power energy division of HBIS Tangsteel.

After joining the Group, between March 2007 and February 2010, he
was the manager of the branch of Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
(“Tangshan Stainless Steel”). Between February 2010 and February
2016, he worked as the manager of engineering and technology
department of TTG. Between January 2016 and December 2018, Mr. Li
was retained as an expert in oxygen production technique (%14 T # &
T2 %) and has been the technology and business development director
since January 2016.

Further to his professional experience, Mr. Li received the title of
professional senior engineer in November 2017 from Hebei provincial title
reform leading group office Gt B BB EFE NAR A E) .

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’'s degree in refrigeration equipment and
cryogenics technology from Shanghai Institute of Mechanical Engineering
(/G # M, 2Pt ) (currently known as University of Shanghai for Science
and Technology (/83 T K)) in China in July 1992 and a master’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Tianjin University (K&K &) in
China in September 2008.
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Mr. Hon Ming Sang (8884 ), aged 46, committee member of the 11th
Luoding Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
joined the Group in August 2022. Mr. Hon was appointed as the chief
financial officer and the company secretary of the Company on 16 August
2022 and 31 October 2022, respectively. He graduated with an honour
degree of Professional Accountancy in the School of Accountancy from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a CFA charterholder, a
member of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts, a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member
of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute UK & Ireland.

Mr. Hon previously worked in an international audit firm and has over 16
years of working experience in listed companies and financial institutions.
He has extensive experience in corporate finance, merger and acquisition,
investment and financial management and compliance services.

Mr. Hon is also an independent non-executive director of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 1087), Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings
Limited (@ company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 8018) and Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 351) and Virtual
Mind Holding Company Limited (company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 1520) respectively. He was an executive
director and company secretary of SFund International Holdings Limited
(company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 1367) between 7 February 2017 and 15 August 2022.

Mr. Li Shuhui (ZH#&), aged 51, joined our Group in March 2007, and
was appointed as our business development director on 13 December
2019, and is mainly responsible for the cultivation and development of new
product, new business and new areas of our Company. Mr. Li is currently
also a supervisor of Tangsteel Dongxin Village.
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Before joining our Group, between November 1998 and August 2003, Mr.
Li worked at Tangshan Steel Oxygen Factory (& #i 4 & &) . Between
August 2003 and March 2007, he worked at a power plant of HBIS
Tangsteel. Between March 2007 and February 2010, Mr. Li worked as a
planning officer and host officer at the sales branch of TTG, where he
was responsible for the export business. Between February 2010 and
July 2013, Mr. Li was a manager at the market division of the sales of
products branch division of TTG, where he was responsible for the sales
of products, market development and logistics. Between July 2013 and
February 2014, Mr. Li worked as a deputy manager at the general division
of TTG, where he hosted the overall work of the division. Since February
2014, Mr. Li has been promoted as a manager at the general division
of TTG, where he is responsible for corporate operation management,
administration, party-community networking, human resource, the Board,
legal affairs, tendering management, digitalisation, etc.

Further to Mr. Li’'s profession experience, he received the title of senior
engineer of metallurgical equipment in November 2017 from Hebei
provincial title reform leading group office (At & B 8 ek S48 &/ NH P D

=
=).

Mr. Li
manufacturing from Hebei Science and Technology College (a/ 1L ¥2 T £

acquired his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical design and
Bt) (currently known as North China University of Science and Technology

(LB T AE)) in July 1997 in China.

Mr. Li Xiaojun (Z2EEE), aged 52, joined the Group in March 2007,
and was appointed as the equipment safety and quality control director
of the Company on 13 December 2019, and is mainly responsible for
the formulation of equipment operation specifications and standards,
inspecting and supporting the safe operation of equipment of various
affiliated companies.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Before joining the Group, between July 1992 and March 2003, Mr. Li
served various positions at different divisions of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (B4 & M) . Between March 2007 and August 2007, Mr. Li
worked as a salesman at the sales of products branch division of TTG,
where he was responsible for the sale of products. Between August
2007 and January 2008, he was a deputy manager of the Huludao
project of TTG, where he was responsible for the development of
Huludao’s new projects. Between January 2008 and February 2011, Mr. Li
worked as a deputy manager at the sales of products branch division
of TTG, respectively, where he was responsible for sales management
system. Between February 2011 and July 2013, Mr. Li worked as a
deputy manager and manager at the general division of TTG, and was
concurrently serving as the relevant party branch secretary, where his
then work responsibilities included branding, organising conventions and
events to boost the image of TTG. Between July 2013 and October
2018, Mr. Li was a manager and party secretary at the sales of products
branch division of TTG, where he was responsible for strengthening
market cultivation, establishing positive competition system and boosting
business development. Since October 2018, he has been a manager and
party secretary of TTG Ironmaking Branch, where he is responsible for
production, operation and product supply of the Ironmaking Branch.

Mr. Li received the title of metallurgical equipment engineer in December
2005 from Hebei provincial title reform leading group office (i 1t & B 1
WERENEAPRE).

Mr. Li received his associate degree in industrial analysis from Tangshan
Institute of Engineering and Technology (J& [ T2 £ i 2 8%) (currently
known as North China University of Science and Technology (ZE4LIE T K
E)in July 1992 in China.

Mr. Li then received his bachelor of degree in management via distance

learning from University of International business and Economics (¥4 &
#E 5 KZ)in China in June 2013.
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Mr. Hui Guangyu (B ¥} F), aged 53, joined the Group in May 2007,
and was appointed as the public relationship director of the Company on
13 December 2019, and is mainly responsible for the communications
between shareholders, public investors, institutional investors and potential
investors. Before joining the Group, from September 1994 to October
2003, Mr. Hui was a raw materials technician at a factory of the HBIS
Group engaged in processing of raw materials, where he was responsible
Between October 2003
and May 2007, Mr. Hui served as a safety officer at a supply site of

for safety and environmental management.
HBIS Company, where he was responsible for safety management and
development of management system.

Mr. Hui joined the Group in May 2007. Between May 2007 and September
2009, he worked as a safety officer at the safety division of TTG, where
he was responsible for safety and environmental protection management of
the company. Between September 2009 and November 2012, Mr. Hui was
the division head at the general division of TTG, where he was responsible
for corporate management. Between November 2012 and December
2012, Mr. Hui was a deputy manager at the safety division of TTG, where
he provided support to the overall work of the division. Subsequently,
between December 2012 and January 2016, he was promoted as a
manager of the safety division of TTG, where he was responsible for safety,
environmental protection and fire safety management of the company.
Between January 2016 and November 2018, Mr. Hui was a manager at
the production and facility division of TTG, where he was responsible for
coordination and organisation of production, management of maintenance
and repair of equipment and procurement of resources. Since October
2018, Mr. Hui has been a manager at the sales of products branch division
of TTG, where he has been responsible for pre-listing work of the company
and other corporate activities.

Further to his professional experience, Mr. Hui received the title of senior
engineer in environment engineering in November 2016 from Hebei
provincial title reform leading group office GAl4t & BB ek E 8 &/ NH B A

[~—]
=),

Mr. Hui received his first bachelor’'s degree in environmental engineering
from Chongqing University (E B A2) in China in June 1994. Mr. Hui
then received his second bachelor’s degree in metallurgical engineering
via correspondence study from the Northeastern University (B4t AE2) in
China in January 2009.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The Company’s vision is to serve the society, reward the Shareholders
and advance employees interests. Upholding the philosophy of “unity,
integrity, diligence and innovation”, the Group fully implements the “delicacy
management” model, integrates international and domestic resources,
strengthens environmental protection, develops circular economy and
strives for user satisfaction and success. The Group also adheres to the
concept of “providing users with high-quality products, comprehensive
technical supports and hassle-free after-sales services so as to become
their preferred supplier as well as their trusted service provider and
partner” in respect of the Group’s services and strives to build an
internationally competitive, high-quality and specialised gas production
base with first-class skills and technology, first-class products variety and
quality, first-class ecological environment and providing first-class service

to users.

The Board provides guidance to management by defining the purpose,
values and strategic direction of the Group, and plays an important role
in establishing and instilling a culture that reinforces the values of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly. The Group’s employee handbook
ensures that the corporate culture and expected behaviours are clearly
communicated to everyone in the Group. Appropriate policies and
procedures are in place to promote and reinforce the need for employees
and others who deal with the Group to act with honesty and integrity and
to raise concerns about actual or suspected cases of impropriety. The
Group offers competitive remuneration and benefits designed to attract,
motivate and retain talented people at all levels. Having regard to the
corporate culture reflected in the policies and practices of the Group, the
Board is satisfied that the purpose, values and strategic directions of the
Group are aligned with its culture.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal control
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability. The
Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
with a view to safeguarding the interests of Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the CG Code throughout the Reporting Period. The Company will continue
to regularly review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code, and maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”).

Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all the Directors have
confirmed that the required standards of the Model Code had been
complied with throughout the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and makes decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board shall regularly review the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director
is spending sufficient time performing them.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



EEEHEN
ARFEEFSHAEBRETINES:

HITEE
RARRITIEE(EE)
BEBREE

FHITEF
5k SR ST A
hRAL L

BIFPTEE
REEEE
BRERE
FELZL

EENERENIERNBEARFRF25E34
BERZEERRREEEREFE]—8 -

RFEHNEZTEBRITEENRRE L L
FERFEEBR L AEER2024F4 A22BEE
ETR A SE3.0DIEKFTIM M ERER - K
BIXRERFEERILEYER  BEBRMR
BEEARARREZNERS -

ITEREFHTE

RBRES  kHEERRRIGCERBITE
E2BE - th kA B2022F5 A3HEE
ZERARDNB X - HE2024F4H22R
IF e REJIA A B2024F4 22 BB E L
EARRREE - B EFLEEBE2022%3 A
SIHEEZTAARREREHNTE BT
HEATEZBE RECEEATAN
FAMEXEC21E  TFEEREHITEN
BAmS oW HTRALEIT

EFREFARETESYOEFLES
EHY MOKARAAREREEEY
$TEREE -

BEARRIAM EFEXEZEFRIE
TFEEFANTEZCE L ETMEE 8
EH® X% KBRHEMEKR HEN
BRI ©

TRERBSE

Corporate Governance Report

Board Composition
The Board of the Company currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Song Changjiang (Chairman)
Mr. Sun Changhuan

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Wenli
Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Siu Chi Hung

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 25 to 34 of this annual report.

Mr. Song Changjiang and Mr. Sun Changhuan, who were appointed as an
executive Director during the Reporting Period, had obtained legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 22 April 2024. Both Mr.
Song Changjiang and Mr. Sun Changhuan confirmed that they understood
their obligations as directors of the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

During the Reporting Period, the role of the Chairman was performed by
Mr. Yao Li and Mr. Song Changjiang. Mr. Yao Li was appointed as the
Chairman of the Company from 3 May 2022 until 22 April 2024. Mr. Song
Changjiang was appointed as the Chairman of the Company since 22
April 2024. The office of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company was
performed by Mr. Li Libing who has been appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer since 31 March 2022. In accordance with the code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
are separate and performed by the different persons.

The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functions of the Board
and providing leadership for the Board while the Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for managing the businesses and operations of the Group.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)),
between Board members and in particular, between the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of
whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

The members of the Board have skills and experience appropriate for
the business requirements and objectives of the Group. Each executive
Director is responsible for different business and functional division of
the Group in accordance with his/her expertise. The independent non-
executive Directors bring different business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgment to the Board and they are
invited to serve on the Board committees. Through participation in
Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflicts of interests, the independent non-executive Directors have made
contributions to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of both the
Group and the Shareholders.

The Group has established mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are given regular updates such
as monthly reports. The senior managements are invited to participate in
Board meetings to provide business update to facilitate the independent
non-executive Directors in making informed decisions. The independent
non-executive Directors have access to the Group’s senior management
at all times on any queries they may have. In addition, the Company
engages legal advisors in Hong Kong to advise the Board on an
ongoing basis in respect of the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and upon
the request of the Board, engages a valuer to provide advice to the
Board in relation to valuations of the assets and account receivable and
engages a financial advisor to provide financial advice to the Board on
any business transactions. A private meeting between the Chairman and
the independent non-executive directors takes place at least once each
year, to provide a channel for independent views to be communicated to
the Chairman directly.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



EEgmf DR NERERRE R
WRERNABDEREHSE  AIRRESS
ESBYMEBRERER mMABBESIMD
REBK -

EEZARER
FHNTEEREBIFATERNEE
EHA=F  ENESHERETTEE -

FMEESHEARNRRBFASHFERMT
WAl EAE - BIBARRIAGSEZMA
(IZR2#@8 ) REERREFRgL =
PZ—ERHNEE(NNESAHILIE=@Q)
WEE AIBARREELERN IR =02—
WESAZVYEARFERT  HEBRESAE
OB =FRARRBAFAERE—KR-E
BRARITHE  FMEEFESZENER
RETETHRNESTHEEZEHEZTED
BEBRERAEARILE WARZATLER
HE - MEMNEEESZENABRKES
EMEFECHEEARR TERRAEAFK
gRAIE ERBEEREEEMT-

EEENE
&k
%%A

EENERXR BEKE

BN HAAT LR
$27m$ﬁ

BB ERBLEEHLER EFEEE
HEBEZEEREAENIEEER &
TW$'§IE‘J%@&EH%2%EE W HEREE

HY

EMABPEEE M EREIRE -

TRERBSE

Corporate Governance Report

The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms and considered that the Company has sufficient mechanisms
to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board and
these mechanisms remain effective.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to

renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meetings. Under the Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years. The Articles
also provides that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of members after
his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of

the Board and Management

The Board shall assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to the management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All' Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) and may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

The Board is responsible for deciding all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the

management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings
with senior management of the Company.

The Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for the Directors would be arranged and reading
material on relevant topics would be provided to the Directors where
appropriate.

All the Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had organised training sessions
conducted by the qualified professionals for all the Directors. The training
sessions covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, corporate governance and regulatory updates. In
addition, relevant reading materials including compliance manual/legal and
regulatory updates/seminar handouts had been provided to the Directors
for their reference and studying.
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The training records of the Directors for the Reporting Period are
summarised as follows:

55 SR

Type of
Directors Training "o
HITESE

Executive Directors

kDA (R2024F4 F22 HEF (T & F)

Mr. Yao Li (Resigned as Director on 22 April 2024)

SEH LT (Ro024F4F220HEF (F £ F)

Ms. Gao Guimin (Resigned as Director on 22 April 2024)
RRIIEHE(R2024F4 22 EZ (T BEF)
Mr. Song Changjiang (Appointed as Director on 22 April 2024)
BREMRIEHE(R2024F4F22A EZ (T BEF)
Mr. Sun Changhuan (Appointed as Director on 22 April 2024)

HPITEE

Non-Executive Directors

5% SCH) 9 A

Mr. Zhang Wenli

AN A (R2024F8A19A T EF)

A/B

A/B

A/B

A/B

Mr. Lai Yui (Resigned as Director on 19 August 2024)

MmN+
Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

BUHHITESE

Independent Non-Executive Directors
mEEE

Mr. Siu Chi Hung

HIRERE

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

FELL

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

A/B

A/B

A/B

A/B

Byat -

ElEE

A 2MBHRE BEETRAENE

CBHELARE

it &

) W

B: BIEARRART B RGBT FERRAAREE
T4

o RER

Note:

Types of Training

A:

Attending training sessions, seminars,

conferences and workshops

including but not limited to, briefings,

Reading relevant news alerts,
publications

newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant

Not applicable
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, the Audit

Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,

namely,
Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee on 17 June 2020 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Siu Chi Hung,
Mr. Zhang Wenli and Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. Apart from Mr. Zhang Wenli,
who is a non-executive Director, the other two members of the Audit
Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee
is chaired by Mr. Siu Chi Hung, who holds the appropriate professional
qualification. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board by providing an independent view on the effectiveness of the
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems,
to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the Group’s policies
and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
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Four Audit Committee meetings were held during the Reporting Period
to review, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023, the annual
financial results and reports, in respect of the six months ended 30
June 2024, the interim results and reports; and significant issues on the
financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of works
and, connected transactions and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee on 17 June
2020 with written terms of reference and then has adopted a revised
terms of reference on 29 December 2022 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of
the Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Xiao Huan Wei, Mr. Sun
Changhuan and Mr. Siu Chi Hung. Apart from Mr. Sun Changhuan, who
is an executive Director, the other two members of the Remuneration
Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee include (but without limitation): (i) making
recommendations to the Board regarding the Group’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policies; (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management; and (jii)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives.

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members is based on their experience, level of responsibility and general
market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments
are linked to the profit performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management members.
The Company’s remuneration policy is subject to review by and the
recommendations of the Remuneration Committee.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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There was no change in the policy and structure of the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management of the Company, two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held during the Reporting Period to review and
make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group
by band for the Reporting Period is set out below:

¥ GBI

Remuneration (HKD)

AE

No. of person

100,000—500,000
1,500,001 2,000,000

REZES®

RRBERIE EMRAEI27AKR K EE
A ST B.3ER YR E 7202046 H17 H X
VIREEZEEE Wi REEZEBESE -
REZBEH4BKEBHERK IRRIGE
(EB) - BRELE BEHLERTES
ZE e BARRILEEERBHITESI IR
LEEEMHEBR-RNERBIIFNITE
E-REZBEEIFARRILAE - 185
ZEENTEREANESTRRAEEE
WARMESEREER  UEHESS
ZtBRE(EESESTILEE] -

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee on 17 June
2020 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A of
the Listing Rules and paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of four members, namely Mr. Song Changjiang
(Chairman), Mr. Xiao Huan Wei, Mr. Siu Chi Hung and Ms. Li Chun Elsy.
Apart from Mr. Song Changjiang, who is an executive Director, the other
three members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-
executive Directors. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr.
Song Changjiang. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of the Directors and senior management, as well as to review the board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”).
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend
them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant
criteria as set out in the director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) that are necessary to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

Two Nomination Committee meetings were held during the Reporting
Period to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to consider
the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at the annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 17 June 2020
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage, and attracting, retaining
and motivating employees from the widest possible pool of available talent.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the composition of the Board and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a
balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity at all
levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited
to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity and length of services.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board members are composed of 5 male and 2 female Directors. The
current male and female representation at Board level is about 71.43%
and 28.57%, respectively. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
gender diversity and is of the view that the current male to female ratio
of the Directors are appropriate. The Nomination Committee will continue
to ensure that diversity of gender in the composition of the Board is
achieved. The Company will ensure that sufficient resources are available
for providing trainings and career development to develop a pipeline of
potential successors of the Board and maintain gender diversity.

All workforce of the Company is equal regardless of their positions. The
basic principles of human resource management are impartiality, fairness
and openness.

The Company has taken, and continues to take, steps to promote diversity
at all levels of our workforce and has policies on equal opportunities. We
provide equal opportunity to all employees regardless of gender, age,
cultural and education background, ethnicity, and other aspects of diversity
and are against any forms of discrimination. As of 31 December 2024,
the Group’s total workforce is comprised of approximately 93% male and
7% female employees. Since the job stability of the Group is relatively
high, coupled with the fact that the retirement age of female employees
is lower than that of male employees, the proportion of female employees
is relatively low.

Given the nature of the Group’s business is production of industrial gas, the
Group has not specified any plans or measurable objectives for achieving
gender diversity at present. The Group will continue to focus on identifying
the right person for the right role whilst taking into account diversity in a
range of areas, including gender. However, the Group will consider and
review its diversity policy and set measurable objectives where necessary.

Details of gender diversity at Board and workforce levels (including senior
management of the Group) are disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.
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The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the corporate
governance report of the Company, on the process it has used in relation
to Board appointments. Such report will include a summary of the Board
Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy and progress made towards achieving the measurable
objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Director Nomination Policy
The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of
the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

° Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
and independence of the proposed independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors
at general meetings. During the Reporting Period, save for the resignation
of Mr. Yao Li and Ms. Gao Guimin as executive Directors, Mr. Lai Yui
as non-executive Director and appointment of Mr. Song Changjiang and
Mr. Sun Changhuan as executive Directors, there was no change in the
composition of the Board.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for

Election as a Director of the Company

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
is as set out in the “Procedure for Shareholders to Propose a person
for Election as a Director of the Company” disclosed on the Company’s
website.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and written
employee guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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EEHERTH® ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS
TERHINESESEFENBRERALEITHNESE  The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
EREECLECEHULARAIREAN  committees meetings and the general meetings of the Company held

= HRD B during the Reporting Period are set out in the table below:
HERE ERRY
Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

BRRAE
BEEng Exg ENZEE FMzEEE REZEE® (%)

General

Audit Remuneration Nomination Meetings

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee (if any)
RRILEE(R202454 5220 A B Z fF) 4/4 17
Mr. Song Changjiang (Appointed on 22 April 2024)
BERIEE (R20245F4 /220 A B Z fF) 4/4 17
Mr. Sun Changhuan (Appointed on 22 April 2024)
8k 1 5 (R2024F 4 22 A B 1F) 2/2 2/2 -
Mr. Yao Li (Resigned on 22 April 2024)
BER LT (Ro024F4 722 A& T) 2/2 2/2 -
Ms. Gao Guimin (Resigned on 22 April 2024)
XML& 1/6 1/2 -
Mr. Zhang Wenli
RENL A (R2024F8 F19H B F) 2/2 0/1
Mr. Lai Yui (Resigned on 19 August 2024)
mRAL L 6/6 il
Ms. Ng Shuk Ming
REELE 6/6 2/2 2/2 2/2 il
Mr. Siu Chi Hung
HRBEE 6/6 2/2 2/2 2/2 il
Mr. Xiao Huan Wei
FELL 6/6 2/2 il

Ms. Li Chun Elsy
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviews their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG risks) it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board conducts review of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems at least once a year.

The Company adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

° Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

° Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.
Consider the risk ensure effective

o Management: responses,

communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

The Company is primarily exposed to the following risks: (i) operational
risks, such as relationship with members of the HBIS, ability to manage
expansion and relocation of certain machinery and equipment, production
control, product quality control and customer services; (i) regulatory risks,
such as safety, environmental protection and maintenance of required
licenses, permits and certificates; and (iii) financial risks, such as interest
rate risk, credit risk and capital management.
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The Board is responsible for establishing the internal control system
and reviewing its effectiveness. In accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations in the PRC, the Group has established procedures for
developing and maintaining internal control systems. Such systems cover
corporate governance, operations, management, legal matters, finance
and auditing, as appropriate for the needs of the Group. The Directors
and management closely monitor the implementation and assess the
effectiveness of these guidelines and measures which are crucial to the

business sustainability.

The following sets out the key measures adopted by the Group under its
risk management and internal control systems:

° The Company has engaged an internal control consultant to appraise
the internal control systems and identify risk areas presented to the
operations and control environment of the Group. As the business
continues to expand, the Company will refine and enhance the
internal control systems to respond to the evolving requirements of
the expanded operations as appropriate. The Company will continue
to review the internal control systems to ensure compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

° The compliance matters are directly reported to the Board which is
led by the chairman of the Board.

° The Company has formulated a comprehensive internal control policy
which covers various major areas of the operations including capital
management system, contract approval process and management,
conflict of interest declaration notice, chop management system.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company conducted a comprehensive review of the Group’s risk
management and internal control system through its internal control
consultant, covering the Reporting Period. The scope of review is as
follows:

- Accounts receivable collection and management

Related party transaction procedure management

- Information technology system risk management

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems for
the Reporting Period.

The audit department is responsible for performing independent review
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The audit department examined key issues in relation to
the accounting practices and all material controls and provided its findings
and recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial controls,
risk management and internal control system, for the Reporting Period,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.
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The Board is of the view that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate. The Board will continue to
assess the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control
systems by considering reviews and recommendations made by the senior
management, internal control consultant and Audit Committee.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Group conducts its affairs with
close attention to the inside information provisions under the SFO and the
Listing Rules. The Directors and senior management are responsible for
determining whether any particular information is inside information and
overseeing and coordinating disclosure of inside information of the Group.
They are also responsible for taking reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group from time to time and that disclosures are made
and/or announcements are published on a timely basis in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations, and before such information is
fully disclosed to the public, they shall ensure the same is kept strictly
confidential. The Directors are also committed to ensuring that information
contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to a material
fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view
of presenting information in a clear and balanced way.

Whistleblowing is an important part of an effective internal control and
risk management system. It is a useful means of uncovering fraud,
misconduct or significant risks within the Group. The Company expects
and encourages employees of the Group and related parties who deal
with the Group such as consultants, contractors, suppliers or customers
to report to the Company their concern, allegation or any information that
fraud, corruption or any other misconduct is occurring or has occurred
in the Group. In this regard, the Company has adopted a whistle-blowing
policy, which is posted on the website of the Company, with an aim
to provide guidance and reporting channels to whistle-blowers on any
suspected fraud, malpractice or inappropriate behaviour within the Group
(the “Reportable Conduct”). Full support will be given to whistle-blowers
who in good faith report any genuinely suspected Reportable Conduct.
During the Reporting Period, the Group received no complaints or legal
cases alleging any form of corruption.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Anti-Fraud Management Policy

The Company has adopted an Anti-Fraud Management Policy which
sets out the Company’s policy and systems that promote and support
compliance with applicable antibribery and corruption laws and
regulations, and enhances the provisions relating to bribery and corruption

in the Company’s Corporate Code of Conduct.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the Reporting Period amounted
to RMB2,000,000 and RMB900,000 respectively. An analysis of the
remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the Reporting Period is set out
below:

Bk 7% 38 7l e ENER
Service Category Fees Paid/Payable
AR¥T
RMB
FHRT 2,000,000
Audit Services
FEB AT AR5 900,000
Non-audit Services
2,900,000
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Hon Ming Sang, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company has been
appointed as the Company Secretary on 31 October 2022.

The Company Secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
by taking no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during
the Reporting Period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various communication
channels.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should
be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at
general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward

Proposal at General Meeting

Article 58 of the Articles provides that the Board may whenever it thinks fit
call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the Company:

Address: Unit 2704A, 27th Floor, Nine Queen’s Road Central
9 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
Investor Relations Department

Email: ir@cgiihldgs.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours
to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular,
through annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the annual
general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to ensure
that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The
Company shall maintain regular dialogue with Shareholders and will review
the shareholders’ communication policy (available on the Company’s
website) at least annually to ensure its effectiveness.

1. GENERAL POLICY
1.1 In accordance with the Articles and the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules, this policy aims to ensure that the
Company’s Shareholders and other stakeholders at large
are provided with ready, equal, regular and timely access to
material information about the Company.

1.2 The Company aims to pursue the fundamental principles of
making fair disclosure of information to Shareholders to enable
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

1.3 The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue

with Shareholders and other stakeholders, and will regularly
review this policy to ensure its effectiveness.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company maintains a policy of frank communication, and
will deliver information to Shareholders and other stakeholders
through various channels:

(@ the Company’s financial reports (including interim and
annual reports);

(b)  annual general meetings and other extraordinary general
meetings that may be convened; and

() making available on the Company’s website all the
disclosed information submitted to the Stock Exchange,
the Company’s corporate communications and other
Company’s corporate publications.

COMMUNICATION CHANNELS
Shareholders’ general meetings

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the general
meetings.

There shall
Shareholders’ participation in annual general meetings.

be appropriate arrangements to encourage

The Company shall monitor and regularly review procedures
for general meetings and, if necessary, changes will be made
to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.

Members of the Board (especially the chairman of each Board
committee or his/her delegate), appropriate administration and
management executives and external auditor will attend annual
general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.
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2.5

According to the relevant provisions of the Articles, notices
of an annual general meeting shall be despatched to
Shareholders no less than 21 clear days, while notices of all
other general meetings (including an extraordinary general
meeting) shall be despatched no less than 14 clear days
and no less than ten clear business days. Relevant circulars
and meeting materials shall be delivered to Shareholders in
advance in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Shareholders’ enquiries

2.6

2.7

If Shareholders have any questions regarding their
shareholding or corporate communications, Shareholders
should liaise with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar.

Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time
request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publicly available. The Company has
a designated email address at ir@cgiihldgs.com in which
Shareholders may make any query.

Company’s website

2.8

2.9

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the
Company’s website at www.cgiihldgs.com. Information on the
Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.

Information submitted by the Company to the Stock Exchange
is posted on the Company’s website immediately thereafter.
Such information includes financial statements, results
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
relevant explanatory documents, etc.
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Ongoing communication with Shareholders

2.10 In order to facilitate communication between the Company
and its Shareholders, the Company organises various activities
regularly:

(@ inviting Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
results announcement briefings and roadshows; and

(b)  participating in investors summits or annual conferences
held by relevant organisations.

The Company aims to provide corporate communication in
plain language and in both English and Chinese versions to
facilitate Shareholders’ understanding.

3. SHAREHOLDER PRIVACY

3.1 recognises the importance of protecting
Shareholders’ privacy and will not disclose Shareholders’

The Company
information without their prior consent, unless required by
applicable laws and regulations.

The Board had reviewed the implementation of the shareholders’
communication policy and considered that the relevant policy is effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the Articles, the Company may announce and declare dividends
to Shareholders in any currency in general meeting, but no declared
dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The
Articles provides that dividends may be declared and paid out of the
profits of the Company, realised or unrealised, or out of any reserve set
aside from profits which the Board may determine to be no longer needed.
With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends may also be paid
out of share premium account or any other fund or account which can
be applied for this purpose as permitted by the Companies Act.
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The Company is a holding company incorporated under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. Hence, the payment and amount of any future
dividends will also depend on the availability of dividends received from
the subsidiaries. The PRC law requires that dividends be paid only on
the basis of profit for the year calculated in accordance with the PRC
accounting standards, which differs in many respects from accounting
standards generally accepted in other jurisdictions, including International
Financial Reporting Standards. The PRC law also requires foreign-invested
enterprises to set aside at least 10% of their after-tax profits, if any, as
their statutory reserves, which may not be distributed as cash dividends.
Distributions by the Company and its subsidiaries may also be subject
to any restrictive covenants relating to banking facilities, convertible bond
instruments or other agreements that may be entered into by the Company
or its subsidiaries in the future.

The amount of any dividend actually distributed to the Shareholders
will depend on the earnings and financial position of the Company, its
operating requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions
deemed relevant by the Directors, subject to the approval of the
Shareholders. The Board shall have the absolute discretion to recommend

any dividend.

Having due regard to the long-term interests of the Shareholders and
the Company, the Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Reporting Period. As at the date of this annual report, no
arrangement has been entered into to enable the Shareholders to waive
or agree to waive any dividends (including future dividends).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

The Company’s Second Amended and Restated Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association as adopted by special resolution
at the 2023 AGM is available on the websites of the Company and Stock
Exchange. No further changes have been made to the Company’s Second
Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association during
the Reporting Period.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 4 August
2006 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman
Companies Act (as revised). The Shares were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on 29 December 2020 (the “Listing”). The
global offering comprised the Hong Kong public offering of 30,000,000
Shares and the international offering of 270,000,000 Shares (the “Global
Offering”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is an industrial gas supplier operating in Hebei Province of
the PRC. It mainly focuses on the supply of pipeline industrial gas and
liquefied industrial gas and it also operates a relatively small-scale LNG-
related business which includes the supply of LNG and provision of gas
transmission service. The Group’s industrial gas products include oxygen,
nitrogen, argon, hydrogen and carbon dioxide. Industrial gas is widely
used globally in a diverse range of industries. Particularly, industrial gas
products are important raw materials for the production of iron and steel.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under note 33 to the consolidated financial statements on page 193 of
this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating
profit for the year by principal activities is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 153 to 155 of this annual
report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the Reporting Period, which
includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the Reporting Period, and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, could be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The following are the
principal risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

° our relationship with members of the HBIS Group is crucial to our
business operation. Our business, financial condition and results of
operation may be adversely affected if there is any change to the
current arrangements between members of the HBIS Group and us.

° our customers may prematurely terminate or default under our
industrial gas supply contracts.

o our business operations and financial performance may be adversely
affected if there is any change to the operation and/or business
development plans of members of the HBIS Group who are our
customers.

o we are subject to risk due to our expansion and relocation of
equipment associated with the development of the Zhongai
Investment (Tangshan) plant, which was our only production plant
under development as at the date of this report.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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° we expect to incur substantial depreciation expenses relating to the
construction of the Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan) plant, which may
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial
condition.

° our business and results of operations may be subject to the
changes in the market conditions of the iron and steel industry.

For detailed disclosure about the principal risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group, please refer to the “Risk Factors” section in the Prospectus.

The list above is not exhaustive and there may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown above which are not known to
the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

The raw material used in the production process of the Group’s industrial
gas products is primarily air which we obtain at zero cost. During the
Reporting Period, consumption of utilities is the largest component of the
Group’s cost of revenue. During the Reporting Period, the Group procured
electricity, together with primarily water, heating and steam, mainly from
the Group’s pipeline industrial gas customers HBIS Tangshan Branch (Ji]
8 = 14 5 2 A1) , Tangshan Stainless Steel and Tangshan Plate based on
certain utility purchase contracts. The Group entered into long-term utility
purchase contracts with a term of 15 or 30 years with them. The Group
also entered into a utilities purchase contract with HBIS Laosteel which is
a new customer of Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan). It is an industry norm
for the on-site customers to provide utilities to their pipeline industrial gas
supplier.
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Concentration of Customers and Suppliers

As at the date of this annual report, the Group experienced concentration
of our customers and suppliers, primarily due to the Group’s relationship
with members of the HBIS Group and our business model. Considering
that (i) such concentration is common for industrial gas suppliers in the
PRC which primarily engage in supply of pipeline industrial gas; (i) the
Group’s relationship with members of the HBIS Group; and (i) the historical
background of our establishment as well as the Group’s stability for the
past 16 years, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s concentration
of customers and suppliers would not impact on the operation of the
Group.

Overlapping Suppliers and Customers

The Group’s pipeline industrial gas customers are also our suppliers of
utilities. The sharing of utility distribution networks with the Group’s on-site
customers can save us the cost of establishing separate water pipeline
and power cable networks. Setting up production plants in close proximity
to the sites of the Group’s customers can also save delivery costs for
customers as pipeline delivery is much cheaper than road tanker delivery
in terms of large volume of constant gas supply. While the Group’s pipeline
industrial gas customers contributed significantly to the revenue during
the Reporting Period, the Group’s industrial gas products were essential
as key raw materials for their iron and steel production and the Group’s
pipeline industrial gas customers were incentivised to provide the Group
with stable and reliable utility supply.

For further details of the Group’s major customers and suppliers, please
refer to the section headed “Major Customers and Suppliers” in this
directors’ report.
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Relationship with Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The Group has
a workers’ union in accordance with PRC laws and regulations. The Group
did not experience any material labour dispute and we believe that the
Group has maintained a good working relationship with its staff members.
The Group places high emphasis on the training and development of our
staff. The Group invests in continuing education and training programs
for our management and other staff members to update their skills and
knowledge periodically. The Group provides training for our staff members
with respect to our operation, technical knowledge and work safety
standards and environmental protection.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the Reporting
Period is as follows:

HEAEEAENEDL
Percentage of the Group’s total

HEH RIEBR

Sales Purchases
BRREF 81%
The largest customer
AARPAE 93%
Five largest customers in aggregate
RRHEER 69%
The largest supplier
TR EEE ST 87%

Five largest suppliers in aggregate
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During the Reporting Period, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
(of which the HBIS Group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries only) is
considered as one single customer) together accounted for approximately
93% of the total revenue. During the Reporting Period, sales to the HBIS
Group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries) which in aggregate was the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 81% of the total
revenue, and sales to the HBIS Group (including HBIS, its subsidiaries and
associates) accounted for approximately 82% of the total revenue. HBIS
is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”). For more information, please refer to the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in this directors’ report.

During the Reporting Period, purchase from the Group’s five largest
suppliers (of which the HBIS Group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries
only) is considered as one single supplier) together accounted for
approximately 87% of the total cost of revenue. During the Reporting
Period, purchase from the HBIS Group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries
only) which in aggregate was the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 69% of the total cost of revenue, and purchase from the
HBIS Group (including HBIS, its subsidiaries and associates) accounted
for approximately 82% of the total cost of revenues for the same periods.
HBIS is one of the Controlling Shareholders. For more information, please
refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this directors’

report.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Reporting Period have the
Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidation results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out on pages 116 to 220 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (the year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not made any charitable
donations.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 187 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s
distribution, factoring in the share premium and accumulated losses of the

reserves available for
Company, amounted to approximately RMB1,091 million.

Under the Cayman Companies Act (as revised), the share premium of
the Company can be distributed as dividend on the condition that the
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be paid. Additionally, the distribution of share premium as
a dividend must be approved by an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 191 to 192 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Board during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report consists of the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Song Changjiang (Chairman)

(appointed on 22 April 2024)
Mr. Sun Changhuan (appointed on 22 April 2024)
Mr. Yao Li (Chairman) (resigned on 22 April 2024)
Ms. Gao Guimin (resigned on 22 April 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Wenli

Mr. Lai Yui (resigned on 19 August 2024)
Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Siu Chi Hung

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. In addition, in accordance with article 84(2) of the Articles, a
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act
as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors
to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire
and not to offer himself for re-election. The non-executive Director, Ms.
Ng Shuk Ming, Mr. Zhang Wenli and independent non-executive Director,
Ms. Li Chun Elsy shall retire from office by rotation in accordance with
article 84(1) of the Articles at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 27 to
36 in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” to this annual report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Changes in Directors’ biographical details since the date of the interim
report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2024 which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
are set out as follows:

Details of change

HWEAEN2025F3AHERERBMRITRMOER QR BN KR 6196) 2B
FEMITESE -

Mr. Siu was appointed as the independent non-executive director of Bank of Zhengzhou

Co., Ltd. (HKEx Stock Code: 6196) with effect from 3 March 2025.

EENHEFXRBNESR

RBEHR - BEERARF R, HENE
REMERI BEESFHHEZANET
BEAERZER LWRARERIMEE A
HATRERAREXBE BB F XS T
BT -

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group, other than being a director of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company, under which they agreed to act as executive Directors for
a term of three years commencing from 22 April 2024, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company on 29
December 2023 for term of three years, which may be terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either of the Director
or the Company. Mr. Zhang Wenli, who was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 20 January 2023, has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either of the Director or
the Company. Under the respective appointment letters, each of the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is entitled to
a fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the Directors
has entered into any service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (excluding contracts expiring or determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation).
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EMOLUMENT OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 13(a) and 13(b) to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 159 to 163 of this annual
report.

Certain Directors had waived their Directors’ fee during the Reporting
Period. No emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office for the Reporting Period.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments had been made or were
payable, for the Reporting Period, by the Group to or on behalf of any of
the Directors.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company has any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which will have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which will
be required, under section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to in that section, or under the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the share capital or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, other than the Share Option Scheme as
set out in the section under “Share Option Scheme” and note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 220 of this annual report, the
Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme conditionally by the
written resolutions of its then shareholders on 17 June 2020 (the “Date
of Adoption”) and such scheme is effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 29 December 2020. The remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately six years and nine months. The Share
Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in accordance with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarised as follows:
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The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate Eligible Persons
(as defined below) to optimise their future contributions to the Group and/
or to reward them for their past contributions, to attract and retain or
otherwise maintain on-going relationships with Eligible Persons who are
significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
performance, growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the case
of Executives (as defined below), to enable the Group to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past
contributions.

The Board may, at its sole discretion, invite any director of, manager of,
or other employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar
position in, any member of the Group (an “Employee”), any proposed
Employee, any full-time or part-time Employee, or a person for the time
being seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of the Group
(an “Executive”), a director or proposed director (including an independent
non-executive director) of any member of the Group, a general staff of
any member of the Group, a consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any member of the
Group, a person or entity that provides advisory, consultancy, professional
or other services to any member of the Group, or a close associate (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of any of the foregoing persons (together,
the “Eligible Persons” and each an “Eligible Person”).

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme (and under any other share option schemes of
the Company) shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue at any time.
The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme (and under
any other share option schemes) shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date (i.e. not exceeding 120,000,000
Shares) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the share options granted to any one Eligible Person (including exercised
and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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A share option may be exercised at any time during the option period to
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than 10 years from the date of grant. An offer of
the grant of a share option shall be deemed to have been accepted when
the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the share option duly signed
by the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within the period specified in the letter containing the offer of
the grant of the share option. Once such acceptance is made, the share
option shall be deemed to have been granted and to have taken effect
from the offer date.

The subscription price in respect of any particular share option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the
time of grant of the relevant share option (and shall be stated in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the share option), but the subscription
price shall be the highest of: (a) the nominal value of Share; (b) the closing
price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date; and (c) the average of the closing prices of Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date. The subscription price shall
also be subject to adjustment in accordance with the reorganisation of
capital structure.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 120,000,000, representing
10% of the issued shares of the Company.

No options has been granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme since the Date of Adoption. The Company did not have any
outstanding share options as at 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report.

At the beginning and at the end of the Company’s financial year, the total
number of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was
120,000,000 shares representing 10% of the issued Shares.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2024, the persons (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
Shares or underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

RR&M®

Name of Shareholder

EARR
BRERH ERITREAN
BEinE RH#E R

Approximate

Number of percentage of the

Shares Company’s issued

Nature of Interest interested share capital

EEEMERERLAR(EREERAN)
Huitang Zhihe (Hong Kong) Co., Limited

(EEEA(AE)BMB L) (‘HK Huitang Zhihe’)?

TEEESNREERAA(LEERBN])
Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment Co., Ltd.

ERBEA 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Beneficial owner

RErEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Interest in a controlled corporation

(LBEEFMFEEERAA) (“SH Huitang Zhihe’)?

7 380 [ 17 @

HBIS Company @
WEHEEEFREFAR(CTEEE])
Handan Iron and Steel Group Co., Ltd.

(M BME £ EHREL2F) (‘HBIS Hansteel’)?

B
HBIS®
hERBREBERAF(CG)®
China Gas Investors Ltd. (“CGI")®
Huang He Investment Limited ([Huang He]) ©
Huang He Investment Limited (‘Huang He")®
China Infrastructure Partners, L.P.
([China Infrastructure]) ©
China Infrastructure Partners, L.P.
(“China Infrastructure”)®

RELEEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Interest in a controlled corporation
XEEEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%

Interest in a controlled corporation

RErEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Interest in a controlled corporation
EREBA 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Beneficial owner
REEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Interest in a controlled corporation
XEEEER

468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Interest in a controlled corporation
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BEAQH

EEREN ERITRAMN

RRER BaEME RO#E BHE

Approximate

Number of percentage of the

Shares Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest interested share capital

CITP GP I Ltd. ([CITP GPJ)® REEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
CITP GP I Ltd. (“CITP GP")® Interest in a controlled corporation

PREARKRERRLAAC REEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
BOCI Investment Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation

PREBRERERATO REEEES 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
BOC International Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation

REFTROBRAE REEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Bank of China Limited © Interest in a controlled corporation

Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. @ RErEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd. @ REEEERE 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. @ XHREERERE 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. @ XEEERE 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited © REEEERE 468,096,000(L) 39.01%

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited ©

Interest in a controlled corporation

B

(1)

@

LIRKRZBRRRBEOFAENGTAR

EXBEBNELEEEBNE2ERS ML
BEERMEAMHRG S EES - MRS
FR A 12 80 88 5% (B 5 PR ) ([T 6 A 8 1) - A 8
HRSE RO SR E S o B B B R B B 04.17%
39.73% % 18.32% Wz + M al ol 8 - AT £ HE 5
Ko o] 856 75 8 e V) 30 £ B 9 Bl B 100% + 100%
$:92.99% %z - At - AHEEBEBENEA
AlA M B R A AR £062.22% R # o 1R 1%
FHERBEKRG - EBEEEM AMAS
AR T EBSARRAREEREE
MFENERHB RN EFEE

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO.

The letter “L” denotes the Shareholder’s long position in the Shares.

HK Huitang Zhihe is wholly-owned by SH Huitang Zhihe which in turn is wholly-owned
by HBIS Company, which in turn is directly and indirectly owned by Chengde Iron and
Steel Group Co., Ltd. (F&EiH#E %K EBRAR]) (‘HBIS Chengsteel’), HBIS Hansteel
and HBIS Tangsteel as to approximately 4.17%, 39.73% and 18.32%, respectively,
and HBIS Chengsteel, HBIS Hansteel and HBIS Tangsteel are owned by HBIS as to
100%, 100% and 92.99%, respectively. As such, HBIS through its subsidiaries together
indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in HBIS Company. By virtue of
the SFO, each of SH Huitang Zhihe, HBIS Company, HBIS Hansteel and HBIS was
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by HK Huitang Zhihe.

LTD.
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CGl is majority-owned by Huang He which is wholly-owned by China Infrastructure,
whose general partner is CITP GP, which is held as to:

(i) 60% by BOCI Investment Limited, which is wholly-owned by BOC International
Holdings Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Bank of China Limited whose
shares are listed and traded on the Main Board (stock code: 3988) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601988); and

(if) 40% by Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd., which is wholly-owned by Anderson
Investments Pte. Ltd., which is in turn wholly-owned by Thomson Capital Pte.
Ltd.. Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. is wholly-owned by Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd.,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited.

As at the date of this report, (a) each of the 4 shareholders of OxyChina charged all
of the shares registered in their respective own name in OxyChina; and (b) OxyChina
charged all of its shares in CGlI registered in its name in favour of Eastern Sky Limited
as security agent nominated by Huang He pursuant to the charges dated 25 July 2011.
For details, please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure — Overview” in the Prospectus.

By virtue of the SFO, each of Huang He, China Infrastructure, CITP GP, BOCI
Investment Limited, BOC International Holdings Limited, Bank of China Limited,
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd., Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., Thomson Capital Pte.
Ltd., Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. and Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited was deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares held by CGI.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had
not been notified by any person (other than Directors or chief executives
of the Company) that they had interests or short positions in Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the
Company has maintained during the year under review the amount of
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

Article 164(1) of the Articles provides that the Directors, among others, at
any time, whether at present or in the past, and the liquidator or trustees
(if any) acting or who have acted in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company and everyone of them, and everyone of their heirs, executors
and administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their
or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts; and none of them shall be answerable for the acts,
receipts, neglects or defaults of the other or others of them or for joining in
any receipts for the sake of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons
with whom any moneys or effects belonging to the Company shall or may
be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency
of any security upon which any moneys of or belonging to the Company
shall be placed out on or invested, or for any other loss, misfortune or
damage which may happen in the execution of their respective offices
or trusts, or in relation thereto; PROVIDED THAT this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for the Directors
and senior management.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions”
in this directors’ report and in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
and contract of significance to the business of the Group which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or
any entity connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the Reporting Period.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings of
approximately RMB460.00 million. Details of the borrowings are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report and note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 11 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 168 to 171 of this annual report.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 324 employees
December 2023. Total
expenditures during the Reporting Period amounted to approximately

as compared to 3283 as at 31 employee
RMB52.64 million as compared to approximately RMB55.37 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group operates a defined
contribution retirement scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all
qualified employees. Employees of the Group’s factories in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management members
is based on their experience, level of responsibility and general market
conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments are linked
to the profit performance of the Group and the individual performance
of the Directors and senior management members. The Company’s
remuneration policy is subject to review by and the recommendations of
the Remuneration Committee. To attract and retain the suitable personnel
for the development of the Group, the Group has adopted the Share Option
Scheme since June 2020. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, share
options may be granted to eligible employees of the Group as a long-term
incentive.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the year or at any time during the Reporting
Period.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has engaged certain employees in its office in Hong Kong for
the Reporting Period and each of such employees has participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government.
The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note 4(m)
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material non-compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations in relation to its business including health and safety, workplace
conditions, employment and the environment. The Group has implemented
environmental protection measures and has also encouraged staff to be
environmental friendly at work by consuming the electricity and paper
according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and
minimize unnecessary waste. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental, social
and governance report of the Company for the Reporting Period to be
published together with this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in
this directors’ report and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 194 to 206 of this annual report, no contract of significance
was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting
Period or subsisted at the end of the year, and no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during
the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the year.

NON-COMPETITION ARRANGEMENTS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, HBIS has executed a Non-Competition
Undertaking to the effect that it will not, and will procure its subsidiaries
not to, among others, engaged in any activities which are or may be in
competition, either directly or indirectly, with those of the Group.

HBIS has confirmed and undertaken in the Non-Competition Undertaking
that the Industrial Gas Assets are primarily ancillary facilities for the
iron and steel production of HBIS and its subsidiaries and the industrial
gas produced with such Industrial Gas Assets is primarily distributed to
subsidiaries of HBIS through pipelines for their own use.

HBIS and its
subsidiaries have not engaged in any activities which are in competition,

As confirmed in the Non-Competition Undertaking,
either directly or indirectly, with those of the Group. HBIS and its
subsidiaries also undertake not to, either directly or indirectly, engage in
any activities which are or may be in competition with the business of the
Group in the future.

Upon Listing, in the event that the Group makes a request to acquire, or
HBIS intends to dispose of or any third party offers to HBIS to acquire the
Industrial Gas Assets, either in whole or in part, the Group shall have the
right of first refusal to acquire the Industrial Gas Assets on a preferential
basis at a fair consideration to be evaluated by an appraiser.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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In the event that any adjustments of national policy(ies) or other force
majeure event(s) lead(s) to inevitable competition between the businesses
of the Group and those of HBIS and its subsidiaries in the future (the
“Potential Competing Businesses”), HBIS and its subsidiaries shall
forthwith adopt measures in a timely manner to transfer the Potential
Competing Businesses to the Group on a preferential basis under the

same conditions or cease such Potential Competing Businesses.

HBIS has further undertaken that it shall fully respect the Group as an
independent legal person and ensure our independent operation and the
Group’s autonomy in decision-making.

As confirmed by HBIS,
Undertaking for disclosure in this annual report during the Reporting

it had complied with the Non-competition

Period. HBIS did not transfer and no third party had offered to acquire
any Industrial Gas Assets during the Reporting Period and no Potential
Competing Business was identified by HBIS during the same period. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the implementation
of the Non-Competition Undertaking and are of the view that the Non-
Competition Undertakings has been complied with by HBIS for the
Reporting Period.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the
Reporting Period.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan or
provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors,
senior management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective connected persons.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

Continuing connected transactions for the Reporting

Period

As each of HBIS Company and HBIS is a Controlling Shareholder,
members of the HBIS Group are the connected persons of the Company.
Therefore, the following transactions constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the Reporting Period, which are subject to
the reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules:

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

(1) Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a gas products
and related services framework agreement (the “Master Gas Products
and Related Services Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Company
agreed to supply gas products (including pipeline and liquefied industrial
gas and other gas products as agreed by the Company and members of
the HBIS Group from time to time) and provide related services (including
provision of gas transmission and storage tanks rental services) to
members of the HBIS Group mainly for their production of iron and steel
products (the “Gas Products and Related Services Transactions”) for
a term commencing from the Listing Date and ending on 31 December
2022, which would be automatically renewed for a successive period of
three years thereafter subject to review and approval by the independent
Shareholders after the expiration of the three-year term and the compliance
with the Listing Rules. The renewal of the Master Gas Products and
Related Services Agreement for a successive term of three years was
approved by the independent Shareholders’ on 29 December 2022.
The Group may from time to time enter into operational agreement(s)
with members of the HBIS Group in relation to any Gas Products and
Related Services Transaction(s) upon, and subject to, the terms and
conditions of the Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
(the “Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements”).
Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to procure their respective
members to comply with the terms of the Master Gas Products and
Related Services Agreement.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



EEE®RE

Directors’ Report

TREHTIN2024F12 A1 BN T BIR AL
BREEMNMEBERSGHE:

The following table sets out the major existing Operational Gas Products

and Related Services Agreements as at 31 December 2024:

EIESy ] HAKBEMER REME HR
Relationship with
Counterparty the Group Nature of the transaction Term
EE A NCICE R A 38 % 17 & HEIXRE BEETEAEESR A 2007F3RAZ
VNS REIRARBLER RRERER 20373 A
HBIS Tangshan Branch Branch of HBIS Supply of industrial gas, including but not ~ March 2007 to March
(Note 1) Company limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen, and 2037
hydrogen and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and
argon
JE LA 8 (BT EE2) EE: == o) HEIXRE BRETRREEEARK 2007F3HZE
ag==pNG ARNRBRIELER ARKEAR 203743 A

Tangshan Stainless Steel
(Note 2)

Subsidiary of HBIS
Tangsteel

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen and nitrogen, and
liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon

March 2007 to March
2037

E L R (1) ] 500 s A7 B HETXRE BRETRRNEBER A 2015F1AE
oy FNG] RESRARBLEEAR BRREAR 2029%121 >
THE-FERE
203349 A

Tangshan Plate (Note 1)

Subsidiary of HBIS
Company

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen and
hydrogen and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and
argon

January 2015 to
December 2029 and
further extended to
September 2033

40 46 = (Pl &£ 4) EETESEN:Y HETXRE BRETRNEEER A 20209107 E2035%10A
oy FNG] RoBARNLTRARBCERRAR

HBIS Laosteel (Note 4)

Subsidiary of HBIS

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen, argon
and hydrogen and liquefied oxygen and
nitrogen

October 2020 to
October 2035
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Notes:

1. HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder indirectly holding 35.99% of the issued
share capital of the Company and therefore is a connected person of the Company.
HBIS Tangshan Branch is a branch company of HBIS Company and Tangshan Plate is
a subsidiary of HBIS Company and therefore are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

2. HBIS, through its subsidiaries, indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in
HBIS Company. HBIS Company indirectly holds 35.99% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Each of HBIS and HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Tangshan Stainless Steel
is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of HBIS.
Accordingly, Tangshan Stainless Steel is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

3. Tangshan High-Strength is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel. Accordingly, Tangshan
High-Strength is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

4. HBIS Laosteel is a subsidiary of HBIS Company. Accordingly, HBIS Laosteel is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Despite that the Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
has an initial term of three years, the majority of the major existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements were
entered into on a long-term basis as set out above. The Directors
believe that the long-term industrial gas supply arrangement can protect
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders by minimising the
Company’s investment and capital risk in incurring a large amount of
capital expenditure in the construction of the production facilities before
generating any revenue. The Directors are of the view that the long-
term industrial gas supply arrangement is necessary for the efficient and
continuing operation of the Company and that the long-term industrial gas
supply arrangement is an established feature of the Company’s business
model for the on-site industrial gas supply operation and is consistent with
the industry norm. For further details of the terms of the major existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements, please
refer to the sections headed “Business — Our business — Customers —
Pipeline industrial gas customers”, “Customers — Liquefied industrial gas
customers” and “Customers — LNG-related business customers” in the
Prospectus.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



REEEmIBARGHEZBRNIL
SR A R dn S AR B RIS 15 0 15
TR o 148 R B 2 o SR AR BB AR 755 169 o
REELFREMEBYIBRRTERSTE
AHFE LR ARARBHRELERE
o MR RIS e B8 T B B L AR B
SEFEHRe(HEA) -

¢ % R
0o
i
51,

rﬂ

0l

E1EFES]
ERIXRBEMNEBRABARENE
A#REREERBEERMBBRSHZ
AEFIANAT ARG ETANRE - &8
EEIXERBEMNEENCHEBITNR
NEEEBIRKAMKEEETE - EPET
MNEZERA DREEBERRBNEEE
) BEITEARITREMERA - £58
BRIEITERENEERFEREEREHE
AB2RBLE= FHERERSEM
BIETHERBREERFUWRNEETE
REBKA(BIBEERGKA(EA)ET -
REHIAERDRREEEERBAEELZ
ERKNARAXE - §ALEENATH
Wéﬁﬁlmifﬁﬁaméﬁﬁ%é(wkﬁﬁ)m
BHEALERBEREARSHBRER
HESHET -

EEAKEIW%%&E%%M%@ - INAERE
EHRBEERBEMMABERSHZE DR
BEAXRHER-EBHEABKS - UEE
%a&@) N SR B SRR S A B SR I Y AR A
P B RR]Z E R 78 i O R i B R R
EREEE TR EREE -

EEgHRE

Directors’ Report

Each of the Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements
is and will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Gas
Products and Related Services Agreement. Upon expiration of the Master
Gas Products and Related Services Agreement and the annual caps and
in the event that the approval from the independent shareholders for its
renewal or new annual caps is not granted, the Company will re-comply
with the relevant Listing Rules or apply for waivers in respect of each of
the Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements, where
applicable.

Pricing guidelines

The unit price for each type of industrial gas products and the fees for
related services are set out in the relevant Operational Gas Products and
Related Services Agreement subject to adjustment by parties entering into
a supplemental agreement. The unit price for each type of the pipeline
industrial gas products is determined on cost plus basis after arm’s length
negotiations between the relevant parties, taking into account major costs,
including electricity expenses (with reference to the government-prescribed
price), depreciation of our equipment and the administrative and finance
cost. The unit price of each type of liquefied industrial gas and fees for
storage tanks rental services will be determined with reference to the
relevant market price charged by independent third party providers for
the same or similar type of liquefied industrial gas and rental services
and actual cost which includes the transportation cost, where applicable.
The fees for gas transmission are based on actual costs and expenses
incurred in providing such service. Monthly settlement is made on the basis
of the actual supply volume by each of the relevant member of the HBIS
Group under the relevant Operational Gas Products and Related Services
Agreement where applicable.

As the Group’s business is electricity intensive, where relevant, the existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements provide for
a price adjustment mechanism with a pre-determined formula to factor in
the fluctuation in electricity price and supplemental agreements between
the Group and relevant member of the HBIS Group have been or will be
made to reflect the price adjustment under such mechanism.
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Payment term:

In accordance with the terms of the Operational Gas Products and Related
Services Agreements which will be payable within seven days from the
HBIS Group’s receipt of the invoice issued by the Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Gas Products
and Related Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Gas
Products and Related Services Agreement is more than 5%, the Gas
Products and Related Services Transactions contemplated under the
Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement shall be subject
to annual review, reporting, announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

(2) Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement
Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a utilities and
related services framework agreement (the “Master Utilities and Related
Services Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to procure
from members of the HBIS Group utilities including, among others,
water, electricity, steam and coke oven gas (“COG”), related equipment
(including electrical cabinet and cables) and services (including sewage
treatment services) (the “Utilities and Related Services”) (the “Utilities
and Related Services Transactions”) for a term commencing from
the Listing Date and ending on 31 December 2022, which would be
automatically renewed for a successive period of three years thereafter
subject to review and approval by the independent Shareholders after
the expiration of the three-year term and the compliance with the Listing
Rules. The renewal of the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement
for a successive term of three years was approved by the independent
Shareholders’ on 29 December 2022. The Group may from time to time
enter into operational agreement(s) with members of the HBIS Group in
relation to any Utilities and Related Services Transaction(s) upon, and
subject to, the terms and conditions of the Master Utilities and Related
Services Agreement (the “Operational Utilities and Related Services
Agreements”). Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to procure their
respective members to comply with the terms of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement.
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ERL IR AR A AR 75 15 5 Related Services Agreements as at 31 December 2024:
EIE Sy HAKBHER RHME H R
Relationship with
Counterparty the Group Nature of the transaction Term
EEEAIEWNSIC R A 38 i% 17 B 9 A &) KEARER BREEN K FAREE 2007F3HZE2037F3A
KR
HBIS Tangshan Branch Branch of HBIS Procurement of utilities, including electricity, March 2007 to March
(Note 1) Company water, steam and COG 2037
B LA 8 8 (BT 5 2) AHEMONEAR RBRARR BEEH KREA 200743 A E203743 A
Tangshan Stainless Steel Subsidiary of HBIS Procurement of utilities, including electricity, March 2007 to March
(Note 2) Tangsteel water and steam 2037
L R AR () AHBROENEBAR RKBRBER BFEH KREA 201591 A £2029412
A T#E—-FREKE2033
F9A
Tangshan Plate (Note 1) Subsidiary of HBIS Procurement of utilities, including electricity, January 2015 to
Company water and steam December 2029 and

further extended to
September 2033

80 4 = (M 333) Rk ESE VNS REQRGR  FEN K FIREE 2020F10AE2035F10
HBIS Laosteel (Note 3) Subsidiary of HBIS Procurement of utilities, including electricity, October 2020 to
water, steam and COG October 2035
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Notes:

1. HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder indirectly holding 35.99% of the issued
share capital of the Company and therefore is a connected person of the Company.
HBIS Tangshan Branch is a branch company of HBIS Company and Tangshan Plate is
a subsidiary of HBIS Company and therefore are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

2. HBIS, through its subsidiaries, indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in
HBIS Company. HBIS Company indirectly holds 35.99% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Each of HBIS and HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Tangshan Stainless Steel
is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of HBIS.
Accordingly, Tangshan Stainless Steel is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

3. HBIS Laosteel is a subsidiary of HBIS Company. Accordingly, HBIS Laosteel is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Despite that the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement has
an initial term of three years, the major existing Operational Utilities and
Related Services Agreements were entered into on a long-term basis as
set out above. The terms including the renewal arrangements of the major
existing Operational Utilities and Related Services Agreements are in line
with the terms of the major existing Operational Gas Products and Related
Services Agreements with the respective members of the HBIS Group.
For further details of the terms of the major existing Operational Ultilities
and Related Services Agreements, please refer to the section headed
“Business — Our business — Raw materials, utilities and suppliers” in the
Prospectus.

Each of the Operational Utilities and Related Services Agreements is and
will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement. Upon expiration of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement and the annual caps and in the event that
the approval from the independent shareholders for its renewal or new
annual caps is not granted, the Company will re-comply with the relevant
Listing Rules or apply for waivers in respect of each of the Operational
Utilities and Related Services Agreements, where applicable.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Pricing guidelines
The pricing of each of the Utilities and Related Services provided under

the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement shall be determined

with reference to the following principles in ascending order:

(i)

(ih

(i)

government-prescribed price: if at any time, the government-
prescribed price is applicable to any particular type of the Utilities
and Related Services, such type of Ultilities and Related Services
shall be provided at the applicable government-prescribed price,
whether national or local, such as the electricity price prescribed by
the Development and Reform Commission of Hebei Province and
water price prescribed by the Development and Reform Commission

of Tangshan;

government-guided price: if at any time, the government-guided
price is applicable to any particular type of the Utilities and Related
Services, such type of Utilities and Related Services shall be
provided within the range of such government-guided price, whether
national or local;

tendering process (where applicable): where the above two price
standards are not available for a particular type of the Utilities and
Related Services and any of the Ultilities and Related Services
Transactions is subject to tendering process in accordance with the
relevant internal policies and procedures of members of the Group,
the price of such type of the Utilities and Related Services shall be
determined by tendering process in accordance with the relevant
internal policies and procedures of members of the Group; and
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(iv)  market price: where the above price standards are not available for
a particular type of the Utilities and Related Services, the price of
such type of Utilities and Related Services shall be determined with
reference to the market price. In determining the market price, both
parties shall take into consideration the following key factors:

(@ the prevailing market prices charged by independent third
parties for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and
Related Services in the region where the type of the Ultilities
and Related Services is provided by relevant members of the
HBIS Group;

(b)  the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group
for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and Related
Services to the Independent Third Parties; and

(c) the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group
for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and Related
Services to other members of the HBIS Group.

Payment term:

In accordance with the terms of the Operational Utilities and Related
Services Agreements which will be payable within seven days from the
Group’s receipt of the invoice issued by the HBIS Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Utilities and
Related Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement is more than 5%, the Utilities and Related
Transactions contemplated under the Master Utilities and Related Services
Agreement constitute non-exempted continuing connected transactions
and are subject to annual review, reporting, announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(1) Master Lease Agreement

Description and Principal Terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a lease framework
agreement (the “Master Lease Agreement’), pursuant to which,
members of the HBIS Group shall lease to the Group the land use rights of
certain parcels of land and certain buildings and common facilities thereon
or in the proximity to the production sites of certain members of the HBIS
Group for the operation of the Group’s industrial gas production facilities
(the “Lease Transactions”) for a term commencing from the Listing Date
and ending on 31 December 2022, which would be automatically renewed
for a successive period of three years thereafter subject to compliance
with the Listing Rules. The Master Lease Agreement has been renewed
prior to the expiry date for a successive period of three years. The Group
may from time to time enter into separate operational agreement(s) with
members of the HBIS Group in relation to any Lease Transaction(s) under
the Master Lease Agreement (the “Operational Lease Agreements”)
and therefore the Lease Transactions under the Master Lease Agreement
will be treated as continuing connected transactions of the Company. The
Operational Lease Agreements will be subject to the terms and conditions
of the Master Lease Agreement. Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to
procure their respective members to comply with the terms of the Master
Lease Agreement.

Pricing guidelines

Each of the Operational Lease Agreements will set out the annual fees
payable by the Group to the relevant members of the HBIS Group in
respect of the lease of relevant land use rights and use of the relevant
buildings with reference to the respective prevailing market rates per
square meter of the surrounding comparable premises in the vicinity of
such lands and buildings, taking into account their respective sizes.
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Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Lease
Transactions contemplated under the Master Lease Agreement is more
than 0.1% and all the applicable percentage ratios are less than 5%, the
Lease Transactions contemplated under the Master Lease Agreement are
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(2) Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement
Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a miscellaneous
services framework agreement (the “Master Miscellaneous Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to outsource certain
services (the “Miscellaneous Services”) including, among others, the
maintenance of utilities facilities, canteen, healthcare, parking for the staff
and visiting personnel, transportation of hazardous chemicals, labour
despatch, project design and mapping, the maintenance of vehicles and
greenery services (the “Miscellaneous Services Transactions”) to the
HBIS Group for a term commencing from the Listing Date and ending
on 31 December 2022, which would be automatically renewed for a
successive period of three years thereafter subject to compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement has been
renewed prior to the expiry date for a successive period of three years.
The Company shall have the right to terminate at any time by giving to
HBIS not less than thirty (30) business days’ prior written notice. The
Group may from time to time enter into operational agreement(s) with the
members of the HBIS Group in relation to any Miscellaneous Services
Transaction(s) upon, and subject to, the terms and conditions of the Master
Miscellaneous Services Agreement (the “Operational Miscellaneous
Services Agreements”). Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to
procure their respective members to comply with the terms of the Master

Miscellaneous Services Agreement.
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Pricing guidelines

The pricing of each of the Miscellaneous Services provided under the
Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement shall be determined with
reference to the following principles in ascending order:

(i) tendering process (where applicable): where any of the Miscellaneous
Services Transactions is subject to tendering process in accordance
with relevant internal policies and procedures of members of the
Group, the price of such type of Miscellaneous Services shall be
determined by tendering process in accordance with relevant internal
policies and procedures of members of the Group; and

(i) market price: where the above price standard is not available for a
particular type of Miscellaneous Services, the price of such type of
Miscellaneous Services shall be determined with reference to the
market price. In determining the market price, both parties shall take
into consideration the following key factors:

(@ the prevailing market prices charged by independent third
parties for providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous
Services in the region where the type of Miscellaneous
Services is provided by relevant members of the HBIS Group;

(b)  the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group for
providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous Services
to Independent Third Parties; and

(c) the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group for
providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous Services
to other members of the HBIS Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Miscellaneous
Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Miscellaneous
Services Agreement is more than 0.1% and all the applicable percentage
ratios are less than 5%, the Miscellaneous Services Transactions
contemplated under the Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement are
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(3) TECHNICAL SUPPORT AND MANAGEMENT
SERVICES AGREEMENT
Description and principal terms
On 22 November 2023, TTG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Tangshan Iron and Steel Group High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd.
(the “Tangshan Car Plate”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of HBIS, entered into the service agreement (the “Technical Support
and Management Service Agreement”), pursuant to which TTG shall
provide technical support and management services for the Tangshan Car
Plate Gas Plant. These services shall include managing the organisation
and planning, equipment inspections, equipment maintenance, daily
maintenance, safety, labour and personnel etc. in respect of the production
and supply of the industrial gas products. TTG shall also be responsible
for providing the personnel for the operation of the Tangshan Car Plate
Gas Plant. The costs of the required production materials, spare parts,
equipment and materials; and the salaries, management and training of
the personnel shall be borne by TTG.

Term

The term of the Technical Support and Management Service Agreement
shall commence from 22 November 2023 and end on 31 December
2025 (the “Term”). Upon expiry of the Term, the Technical Support and
Management Service Agreement may be renewed automatically by the
parties on the same terms and conditions, subject to the compliance of
the Listing Rules.

Service fees

Tangshan Car Plate shall pay TTG the service fees on a monthly basis
during the Term. The service fees shall be calculated based on (i) the
agreed unit prices of the respective industrial gas products as set out in
the Technical Support and Management Service Agreement; and (i) the
actual volume of the respective industrial gas products supplied from the
Tangshan Car Plate Gas Plant to Tangshan Car Plate for the relevant period
during the Term.
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The unit prices are:

(i) RMB3.39 (equivalent to approximately HK$3.76) per cubic metre of
hydrogen; and

(iy  RMBO0.077 (equivalent to approximately HK$0.085) per cubic metre
of nitrogen.

Termination

The Technical Support and Management Service Agreement may be
terminated prior to the expiration of the Term upon mutual agreement in
writing by both parties or in certain circumstances by a party, including
upon material default by the counterparty under the occurrence of the
following events:

(i) if the production of Tangshan Car Plate is affected or its equipment
is severely damaged or casualties are caused due to the violation
of TTG, Tangshan Car Plate has the right to terminate the Technical
Support and Management Service Agreement;

(if) if difficulties are caused to the production organisation and planning
of TTG due to the violation of Tangshan Car Plate, and such
difficulties cannot be resolved through negotiation, TTG has the
right to terminate the Technical Support and Management Service
Agreement; and

(i) if the payment of the service fees by Tangshan Car Plate is (i)
overdue for more than 15 business days; and (ii) remains unpaid for
five business days after the issuance of an overdue payment notice
by TTG, TTG has the right to terminate the Technical Support and
Management Service Agreement.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since the highest applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual
caps for the Technical Support and Management Services Agreement
is less than 5%, the transactions contemplated under the Services
Agreement are subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempt from circular and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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REZTERFE LR Transaction amounts and annual caps
TEDREEFEEHETIRIEDBHE RN The following sets forth the annual caps and actual transaction amounts
ERESHINHEMRNFEE LR LRERLZ  for the non-exempt continuing connected transactions and partially exempt
S EEHINMNT continuing connected transactions for the Reporting Period:

REZE2024F REZE2024%F
12A31BLFE 12A31BLEE
NEELR NERIXZEHE

Actual

transaction

Annual cap amount
for the for the

year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2024

ARBEERT AR®AEER
RMB’ million RMB’ million

TERRFERERS Non-exempt continuing connected
transactions

mEEEMK Master Gas Products and Related Services

18 B8 AR 75 13 Agreement 1,621.0 1,058.7
HELIR AR RS 1 5 Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement 1,343.0 812.4
ENRDEHREN Partially exempt continuing connected

BERERS transactions
WBEE W Master Lease Agreement 22.0 8.7
BEBERG WS Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement 15.0 =

Rt LEER&WH#E  Technical Support and Management Service
Agreement 16.7 12.6

FRERBEERLABRSEHE - ££85)R  For further details regarding the Master Gas Products and Related Services
MIBEREE @ EWE @M ER  Agreement, the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement, the
Bz hEMYEREEREHBZEOE—  Master Lease Agreement, the Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement,
FEE  B2HO)BIRER[FERERS]  and the Technical Support and Management Service Agreement, please
— & (i) AR F A A2022F11 H15H/ A refer to (i) the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of

2 (i) A~ 7 B B 2202212 B12H B & the Prospectus; (i) the Company’s announcement dated 15 November
B K (v) AN ABIBERA2023F 11 A22HK A 2022; (i) the Company’s circular dated 12 December 2022; and (iv) the
& e Company’s announcement dated 22 November 2023.
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Directors’ Report

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive

Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the transactions under each of the
Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement, the Master
Utilities and Related Services Agreement, the Master Lease Agreement,
the Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement and the Technical Support
and Management Service Agreement (the “Master Agreements”), and
confirmed that the transactions under the Master Agreements have been

entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent

Auditor

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Group has
engaged its auditor to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing
its findings and conclusions in respect of the aforesaid continuing

connected transactions conducted by the Group for the Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 194 to 206 of this annual report.
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The related party transactions set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 194 to 206 of this annual report include
related party transactions disclosed under accounting standards and
related party transactions which also constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of Directors
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions
in respect of the remuneration of key management personnel (other than
Directors and chief executives) of the Company did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors believe, all other related party

Unless otherwise

transactions set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 194 to 206 of this annual report do not fall within the definition
of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (as the case may be). The Company
confirmed that it was in compliance with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the Reporting Period or a waiver from
such provisions has been obtained from the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises one non-executive Director and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Wenli, Mr.
Siu Chi Hung and Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. The Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management of the Company the audited Consolidated Financial
Statements for the Reporting Period.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the Reporting Period have been
audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
re-appointment at the annual general meeting. Having been approved by
the Board upon the Audit Committee’s recommendation, a resolution for
the re-appointment of BDO Limited as the independent auditor for the
ensuing year will be put to the annual general meeting for Shareholder’s
approval.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, save as disclosed
below, the Group is in compliance in all material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group.

The non-fully compliance with the PRC laws and regulations during the
Reporting Period and the relevant internal control measures for continued
compliance are summarised below. Details of the situation regarding the
Group’s properties with defective titles are set out in the section headed
“Business — Our Properties — Properties with Defective Titles” in the
Prospectus. Unless otherwise defined in this annual report, capitalised
terms used below shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
Prospectus.
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Absence of the land use right certificate to be obtained for
other occupied land of the Group as well as title defects
relating to the buildings and structures constructed by the
Group on its land with land use right certificates and its
other occupied land with the land use right certificates to be
obtained

TTG Yutian Branch did not hold the land use right certificates
for part of Yutian plant, and failed to obtain the subsequent
necessary construction permits or to submit the requisite completion
and acceptance filing materials for the buildings and structures
constructed on such properties

As Yutian county government did not have any land use quota,
land certificate cannot be executed temporarily, and thus land use
planning permit, construction project planning permit and other
permits were unable to be executed.

Title defects relating to the Group’s leased land and the
buildings and structures constructed by the Group on such
leased land

Due to the cessation of the operation of the TTG former headquarters
plant and the TTG former Ironmaking Branch as a result of the
exit and relocation agreement, which will no longer be used for
production purposes, the land lease registration relating to the two
leased land as mentioned above as well as the construction permits
and procedures required for the construction of certain buildings
and structures on such lands are no longer required. Due to the
planned relocation of the TTG former Stainless Steel Branch, which is
currently in a state of suspension of production, the lease registration
relating to the land leased for the plant and the construction permits
and procedures required for the construction of certain buildings
and structures on it have been suspended. As the Group was not
the owner of the land, the Group failed to obtain/complete the
construction permits and procedures required for the construction of
certain buildings and structures on the leased land at TTG Laoting
Branch and CNG and LNG gas station. In addition, the lessors failed
to obtain the construction land use planning permits (2 5% A i #3
Z|FF Al %) for such leased land. The Group also failed to complete
the registrations of the leased land of TTG Laoting Branch and CNG
and LNG gas station and obtain certificates of other rights over
land (£ b fth TH #E F| ZEBHE) to be issued after completion of such
registrations. However, the lessors of the parcels of leased land at
TTG Laoting Branch plant and CNG and LNG is gas station agreed
to indemnify for the losses incurred if the Group is unable to continue
to use the leased land.
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Save for the production facilities at the TTG former headquarters
plant, the TTG former Ironmaking Branch plant which was no
longer in use for production purposes following the cessation of
the operation due to the exit and relocation agreement, and the
TTG former Stainless Steel Branch plant which was planned to
be relocated and discontinued, the government has been slow in
approving the construction planning permit and other permits of the
leased land of the TTG Laoting Branch and the natural gas filling
station. The Company has conducted close coordination with the
land lessor to speed up adjustment for application documents, and
endeavoured to procure the lessor’s completion of approval for the
construction land planning permit as soon as possible.

Title defects relating to the leased buildings and structures
of the Group

Due to the implementation of the exit and relocation agreement
entered into between HBIS Company and the People’s Government
of Tangshan on 19 August 2020, the leased buildings and structures
of the TTG headquarters plant and the TTG Ironmaking Branch
were no longer in use for production purposes, and the leasing
registration was no longer required. Due to the planned relocation
of the TTG former Stainless Steel Branch, which is currently in a
state of suspension of production, the lease registration of leased
buildings and structures has been suspended, pending relocation.

As of the date of this annual report, the Group is not aware of any
actual or anticipated action, claim or investigation by any government
agency or third party against the Group in relation to the above
matters. The Group will continue to monitor the situation, and
the situation update will be disclosed in the annual reports of the
Company until the Group’s complete rectification of such title defects
has been fully disclosed therein.
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HEEH SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
RBEBHERBEAFTHREBR - EEWT  The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure
MEBECBEATMEAETHENERESE - that have been taken place subsequent to the Reporting Period and up

to the date of this report.

REEES On behalf of the Board
RRIEE Mr. Song Changjiang
EEEXH Chairman of the Board
Bl - 202593 A25H Tangshan, 25 March 2025
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239

25" Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong
EEE - +852 2218 8288 &5E

85 : +852 2815 2239 FEEEF U115
www.bdo.com.hk KZAH2548

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT
HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 116 to 220,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting

policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IFRS Accounting Standards”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”) issued by HKICPA, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

Refer to summary of material accounting policies in Note 4(d), critical
accounting estimates and judgements in Note 5(c) and disclosure of
property, plant and equipment in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
as at 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB1,510,162,921 (2023:
RMB1,527,518,212). The Group recognised a written off for the property,
plant and equipment was RMB37,891,436 during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB19,309,391).

We identified impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the Group’s consolidated
financial position and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the value in use based on future cash
flow of each asset group and the discount rate of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment at the end of the year.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Management performed an impairment assessment when indicators of
impairment were identified. Management determined the recoverable
amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment based on the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. When performing an
impairment assessment, management makes assumptions and estimates
on future operating profit, growth rate and discount rate to calculate
expected value in use and compared the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment, to determine the impairment loss which should be
recognised for the year, if any.

Our procedures on the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment included:

° Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls
relating to the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment.

° Understanding of management’s basis and assessment in relation
to the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment.

° Assessing the reasonableness of management’s assumptions and
judgements in relation to the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit

or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yau Shuk Yuen Amy
Practising Certificate Number PO6095

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

H £2024F12H318 L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

20245 2023F
2024 2023
0k AR%TR ARBT
Notes RMB RMB
1 &= Revenue 7 1,313,611,769 1,491,153,088
U 2 B AR Cost of revenue (998,364,935) (1,159,051,046)
EF Gross profit 315,246,834 332,102,942
HEREHAZT Selling and marketing expenses (2,318,990 (1,893,235)
THAX Administrative expenses (47,280,293) (54,391,469)
BORKTENGEEBBRE Credit loss allowance for trade receivables (3,078,422) (15,363,770)
MM Research and development expenses (66,252,240) (73,603,329)
HA A Other income 8 9,639,108 5,380,401
Hib gz B8 — 3% Other gains/losses, net 9 (28,026,097) (17,751,284)
KRN Operating profit 177,929,900 174,480,256
R — 55 Finance costs, net 10 (18,476,621) (21,715,449)
B BT 45 %t A g A Profit before income tax 11 159,453,279 152,764,807
FrEfAs Income tax expense 14 (29,406,635) (24,688,546)
RARABEBEAELEERNRR Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company 130,046,644 128,076,261
Hthma W o kRBIE Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Bt E 7 HZEmER . ltem that may be subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss:
R Currency translation differences 427,312 (479,050)
FREENSLE Total comprehensive income for the year 130,473,956 127,597,211
FRATBREARLGEREZAE Total comprehensive income attributable
to owners of the Company 130,473,956 127,597,211
SREFN-EXREE Earnings per Share - Basic and diluted 16 0.11 0.11
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
7A2024F12H31H As at 31 December 2024

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
k23 ARET AREETT
Notes RMB RMB
*(RBEE Non-current assets
ME BERZE Property, plant and equipment 17 1,510,162,921 1,527,518,212
FREEE Right-of-use assets 18 41,458,795 43,587,482
ERERIAREE Deferred tax assets 29 4,161,589 4,956,487
HE®R: Rental deposit 22 - 173,994
HinEE Other assets 19 48,051,100 43,865,825
1,603,834,405 1,620,102,000
RBEE Current assets
TE Inventories 20 6,510,260 9,709,236
B 5 WA Trade receivables 21 532,766,201 543,918,046
BAFIE - Ze REMERRE Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 22 20,626,434 16,955,555
BAREEFALMERANE Financial assets at fair value through other
(BDABEFAHMES comprehensive income (‘FVOCI")
hENeREE 24 95,526,694 79,658,832
RekHeEEY Cash and cash equivalents 23 183,884,753 202,617,643
839,314,342 852,859,312
REAE Current liabilities
B R H MR Trade and other payables 26 266,486,074 371,046,210
aHaE Contract liabilities 7 15,626,541 6,225,082
fig 3 Borrowings 27 260,203,876 287,000,000
HEaE Lease liabilities 28 2,127,918 2,128,151
RT3 B Income tax payable 2,234,098 1,838,049
546,678,507 668,237,492
RBEEEE Net current assets 292,635,835 184,621,820
EEHAERTBEE Total assets less current liabilities 1,896,470,240 1,804,723,820
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A2024%12H318 As at 31 December 2024

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
k23 ARETRT AREET
Notes RMB RMB
E(¥RBER Non-current liabilities
L Borrowings 27 200,108,017 246,000,000
HEGRE Lease liabilities 28 1,254,710 2,659,874
EREFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 29 51,203,287 42,633,676
252,566,014 291,293,550
EERE NET ASSETS 1,643,904,226 1,513,430,270
EXRRE Capital and reserves
RARBEBAEGES Equity attributable to owners of the
Company
B A Share capital 30 836,016 836,016
Hiof#E Other reserves 31 1,360,695,924 1,345,135,711
REZF| Retained earnings 282,372,286 167,458,543
HERmE TOTAL EQUITY 1,643,904,226 1,513,430,270

AP BRERDZEZSH2025F3HA258  The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
BHERBEENNERBATATIRRBES: issued by Board of Directors on 25 March 2025 and are signed on its

behalf by:
REIL BE B
Song Changjiang Sun Changhuan
EFE EZE
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B £2024F12A318 L £ E For The Year Ended 31 December 2024

EAAEBAELRL
Attributable to the owners of the Company
B REGEE ZTRBEE ERZH Ht REEA @
Statutory Currency
Share Share surplus translation Retained
capital premium reserve differences Others earnings Total
AR%R AR%R AR®RT AR%R AR%R AR%TR AR¥TR
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
K it31(a) K i31(b) W it31(c) i it31(d)
Note 31(a) Note 31(b) Note 31(c) Note 31(d)
R2023E1B1A M4 & Balance at 1 January 2023 836,016 1,144,391,968 159,533,054 (8,048,440) 33,428,253 55,692,208  1,385,833,059
ER T Profit for the year - - - - - 128,076,261 128,076,261
HEivirdlia Other comprehensive income
-ERZH - Currency translation differences - - - (479,050) - - (479,050)
FRGEANELE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - (479,050 - 128,076,261 127,597,211
HEBANEERANS R Transaction with owners in their
ETNRS: capacity as owners:
BRTATRYBEE Appropriation to statutory surplus
reserves - - 16,309,926 - - (16,309,926) -
FRERBEANEEBADF?M  Total transactions with owners in
ETNRFLE their capacity as owners
for the year - - 16,309,926 - - (16,309,926) -
R2023F12A318 R Balance at 31 December 2023
20241 B1RMES and 1 January 2024 836,016  1,144,391,968 175,842,980 (8,527,490) 33,428,253 167,458,543  1,513,430,270
FREF Profit for the year = = = = = 130,046,644 130,046,644
s lia Other comprehensive income
-EXER - Currency translation differences - - - 427,312 - - 427,312
FRGANELE Total comprehensive income
for the year = = = 427,312 = 130,046,644 130,473,956
HEBANEERANS R Transaction with owners in their
ETNRS: capacity as owners:
SRTATRBEE Appropriation to statutory surplus
reserves = = 15,132,901 = = (15,132,901) =
FRERBEANEEBADF?H  Total transactions with owners
ETNRHLE in their capacity as owners
for the year = = 15,132,901 = = (15,132,901) =
R2024F12A31 B £ &4 Balance at 31 December 2024 836,016  1,144,391,968 190,975,881 (8,100,178) 33,428,253 282,372,286  1,643,904,226
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
H £2024F12H318 L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

20245 2023
2024 2023
k3 AR¥T AR
Notes RMB RMB
RETHMBRERE Cash flows from operating activities
B B 1S B B 3 A Profit before income tax expenses 159,453,279 152,764,807
AT R Adjustments for:
FREEESH Amortisation of right-of-use assets 18 2,128,687 1,950,471
ME - BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 119,551,828 130,372,407
BORWFENEESBREE Credit loss allowance for trade receivables 21 3,078,422 15,363,770
ISR — % Finance costs - net 18,476,621 21,715,449
ME - BERZENTE Written off of property, plant and equipment 17 37,891,436 19,309,391
HENE BERZENZ Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (9,854,029) -
B 5 s g5 Exchange gain, net (120,549) (542,472)
EEEC A EET Operating profit before working capital changes 330,605,695 340,933,823
FERD Decrease in inventories 725,409 1,926,333
BHRWIER D,/ (EM) Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 7,473,423 (128,223,097)
BAREBAEFAEMBEAKEN  Increase in financial assets at FVOCI
EREEEM (15,867,862) (50,845,939)
HEERENFE ZEE R Increase in other assets and prepayments,
Eo At JE YR IEE deposits and other receivables (11,114,068) (51,410,679)
B R EMENRBERD Decrease in trade and other payables (103,269,963) (55,463,936)
AHBEEMN,/Chd) Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 9,401,459 (2,628,724)
REELNE Cash generated from operations 217,954,093 54,287,781
RENRIE:) Interest paid (21,695,280) (29,130,958)
BAmER RBEMH Income tax and withholding tax paid (19,646,077) (23,749,273)
REZPHBRLFER Net cash generated from operating activities 176,612,736 1,407,550
RETBFARESRE Cash flows used in investing activities
BEWE BERREUAR Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
HihREBEE other long-term assets (152,353,577) (69,378,570)
HEME BERREMSTIE  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment 34,451,627 =
REEFDFMARLTE Net cash used in investing activities (117,901,950) (69,378,570)
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EHEERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
H £2024%F12831H It £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

20245 2023%
2024 2023
ok AR®TR AR
Notes RMB RMB

METHFMEHERE Cash flows from financing activities
fi& SR PR 15 30R Proceeds from borrowings 210,000,000 360,000,000
EBERER Repayments of borrowings (287,000,000) (399,530,119)
HEGEBENR Payment of lease liabilities (974,128) (482,557)
RAAARRRENKRE Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders 15 - (50,000,000)
RETHMARSEHE Net cash used in financing activities (77,974,128) (90,012,676)
BeRESESENRLFE Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (19,263,342) (157,983,696)

FUHSRBLEEY Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year 202,617,643 360,738,465
ExgHso e Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 530,452 (137,126)
ERREREELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 183,884,753 202,617,643
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2024F12H318 L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.

—RER

China Gas Industry Investment
Holdings Co. Ltd. ([4~2 ] ]) #2006
FOA4RER SRS TM L BER
RAERRDE o AR F M EE
It & Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands ° E & A A
WEZELEMBAPEARKLNE
(T e -

ARBR—RLEEBRAT - ARF
LEWBAR (RREIAEE]) 2R
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BReHERERe REREXRER
CHEN BHREENR
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1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 August 2006 as an
exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s registered
office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of its subsidiaries is the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC” or “China”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) is principally engaged in the
production and supply of industrial gases in the PRC.

ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”)

(@) New standards, interpretations and

amendments adopted from 1 January 2024
The adoption of IFRS Accounting Standards which became
effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2024

Amendments to IFRS 16 Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flow and IFRS 7,
Financial Instruments: Disclosures,

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments has had no significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”)

(Continued)
(b) New or amended IFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended IFRS Accounting Standards,
potentially relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s
current intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Amendments to
and IFRS 7 the Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments?

Annual Improvement Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9,
to IFRS Accounting IFRS 10 and IAS 72
Standards — Volume 11

Amendments to IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®
Amendments to IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability®
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature —
and IFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
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2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”)

(Continued)

(b)

New or amended IFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Other than IFRS 18 which would impact the presentation and
disclosure of the Group’s financial statements, the Directors
do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and
revision in the future will have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards and International Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
Interpretations (collectively “IFRS Accounting Standards”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) which is carried at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollars
("“USD”) and the subsidiaries established in the PRC considered
Renminbi (‘RMB”) as their functional currency. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB as in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, it presents more relevant information
to the management who monitors the performance and financial
position of the Group based on RMB.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the following accounting policies which conform
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by IASB. For the purposes
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements when considered
together with other information included in the financial statements.

(@) Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to
direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains/
losses on transactions between the companies within the
Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(b)

(c)

LTD.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The board of directors of the Company,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM?”). The Group’s
business activities, for which discrete financial statements
are available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the
CODM. The Group has determined that it has three reportable
segments as follows:

— Supply of industrial gas

— Liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) and gas transmission services

— Technical support and management services

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Company’s functional currency
is USD, and the subsidiaries are incorporated in the PRC and
these entities considered RMB as their functional currency.
Since the majority of assets and operations of the Group
are located in the PRC, the Historical Financial Information is
presented in RMB, which is the Group’s presentation currency.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(c)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

- assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of
financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that consolidated statement of financial
position

- income and expenses for each consolidated statement
of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable

approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates

prevailing on the transaction dates,

income and expenses are translated at the dates of the

in which case

transactions), and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(c)

(d)
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Foreign currency translation (Continued)
Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit

or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

IN FO RMATI O N (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

RER HEAEREH
Residual

value rate Estimated useful lives

BEY Buildings 3% 304 30 years
e Machinery 3% 204 20 years
BEFHEB Electronic equipment 0% 5% 5 years
TAREMBZE Instruments and other equipment 0% 105 10 years
HE Vehicles 10% 104 10 years
HEWER Leasehold improvements 0% HEF R E E G et

AERAFH UBRRERE
Shorter of remaining term

of the lease and the estimated
useful lives of assets

REBRESHR BEENRER
AERERKTIAER  XE
HBEE T E -

MEENREESREMGA
WEewE - MEEMREES
IO Z R ATl & %8 o

HEMEZERERIEBLL
BAERAEREEREE X
RAfERARERATEM(E
18), e — B IPRER -

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in
“Other (losses)/gains, net” in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

%R Annual Report 2024 129



G OB A R M EE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £20245128318 Lt £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. EXREFHERER @ 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

d W% BERRXREE (d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
ERIBEFEZETHHEE Construction in progress represents leasehold improvements,
WRE - EEZSREERE - &£ production line and manufacturing plants under construction.
TR AR 255 EE B Construction in progress is stated at cost less accumulated
(InB)FER B A B I bE T3 impairment losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of
MHEBENZIEMNERRUE construction and acquisition, and capitalized costs attributable
RAREREKAE - BEEE to the construction during the period of construction. No
TRREEBERTERZITE provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress
FrRERIEMNINERE - 2 until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready
EHEERHERE  KATY for intended use. When the assets concerned are available for
HEYE BERZE  LE use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment

FHERITE - and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated in
above.

(e) FEMEERE (e) Impairment of non-financial assets
BEREERBRAFERAFTFHNELE Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
EDE#E  EETGFETR subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
BEAHE HEEESEHIER or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
By H g LR REDR indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
TR SRR ERR - & for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
BEMFHBRIBRARFEHERE indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
HE g =W B R - Blggt impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
HEMEEETHRENR - BE carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
EREZEENEDEBLERY The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
WESERZFEER - ATRE less costs to sell and value in use.

TRUNEENAABERLE
Wﬁéﬁiﬁ%{%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%qﬂﬁm%

B -

RAGEREMS  EEZRBEL For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are
A#pEeRE (ERAEEL grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately

ﬁiﬁ’:‘ﬁl@é%‘ké%ﬁﬂ ballkzn) identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units which are largely
HEMANBESELR _L)E’JE independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group

EAKFEDHE - BREEIHN - of assets). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that

BIER ’.i“ﬂ’]#imﬂé&ﬁ%?& suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of

iﬂ;ﬁiﬁi’iAFﬁﬂ{E% S A ¥ the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

EITRE ©
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(f)

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
other comprehensive income,

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
profit or loss, and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded either in profit or loss or other comprehensive income
(“ocr).
held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has

For investments in equity instruments that are not

made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards

of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or

loss are recorded in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost:

contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest

method.
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Assets that are held for collection of



B B W R M A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2024%F12831H It £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. EREFTHERER »)

()

FHE ()
BB ITA(E)
BAABEFSARMAE S Kz
((BAREETARMGEE R
#)) R EREENRERE
FHESRMEENEEMS
MZzEEEREREMEE N
e RHE  AHEAREBER
AHMbEFEA WS E - BREE
M E IR A E M ARG W
HE P18 21 P A R 2 FE SRR B MR
o B 1R A B R SN E
@ MERR c ERMEERIL
RE - AR EMES KRS
FER M Rt Wk s B B i 2
EHFOBRERFZLREM(E
1B,/ Wm—FEINER - &
FeRMEENNEBRATDEE
BRAFORSH AR B U A - SN E
Wz T IR [ Eo At (&5 48) Uk
@m—FBEIN2S - MRES
ARG HEERaERTIERE
BEEEY -

Bt m A

EHAERBIERE DK HE R
REE UEBRIVEESR
HARBEREEREERE
B eREERBBAERAK
o XEARFMBARARNKFE
SIEF R o 0K TE 58 il £ #E F 4
ANFKBARLEMS  MAE—
REBBERURME AR
RHEHF-BHBEERY BN
BEIWERBRGIAITIE -

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss and recognised in “Other (losses)/gains,
net”. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in “Other
(losses)/gains, net” and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(f)
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised
cost and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected

credit losses.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
products sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.

If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and other
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at, amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(i)
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Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of

transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings

using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case,
the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-
payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period
of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other

income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI O N (Continued)

()

(k)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Dividend

Dividends are recognised when they become legally payable.
In the case of final dividends, this is when approved by the
shareholders at the AGM.
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4. EXEHHEER ® 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

() BENHREZLMEH () Current and deferred income tax
HA TS B il 2 IR IE The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
ZRIZEEERBERMEREE payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
REHERTWAFTTERNER applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
BB BEMRENRIEE RN changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
EHELAGEARBBEEEDN temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
EERIBEEERBEZISED
BB BT 15 75 Current income tax
BEAPRE R X B IRBALDF R The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
EMBRAREEMERELE of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
R B B R RS B 7S RO 2R statement of financial position date in the countries where the
HEIE B M EE BMH OB Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
ERIFE - BERERBE AL income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
AR EFTIRR IS R E BT tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
mB RN WEERB regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
ST AR 4 T8 HR 78 M) B TS K B X2 where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
RIE R RO TE A o paid to the tax authorities.
B2 Deferred income tax
BILFSMERBEEREE Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
FEEMNHREAREEREENE on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
Wi ZFEMR - A WIET assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. However,
HIEAEKRBVILTHEREE deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
BITe AR - MIELEFRS the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is not
RREBERS (TREEKEH) accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
FHEENBENYVILER liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
MEXSHITEGHER at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
RERBEZ BT gTHAA taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
IR - BREFGEHARE 5 tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
MAKBHERMKEER/M enacted by the consolidated statement of financial position
B R(EBE)ETE - LB date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
REREEELEREHEED income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
BRNELEMSHBERER - is settled.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

U]

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred income tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

U]

(m)
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Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim special
tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets or in
relation to qualifying expenditure. The Group accounts for such
allowances as tax credits, which means that the allowance
reduces income tax payable and current tax expense.

Employee benefits

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits, annual leave and sick leave that are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are recognised
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

Full-time employees in the PRC are covered by various
government-sponsored defined contribution pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant government agencies
are responsible for the pension
employees. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
pension plans. Under these plans, the Group has no further

liability to these retired

payment obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made. Contributions to these plans are expensed
as incurred and contributions paid to the defined-contribution
pension plans for an employee are not available to reduce the
Group’s future obligations to such defined contribution pension
plans even if the employee leaves.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI O N (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(n)

Housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate
in various government-supervised housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurance plan. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees, subject to certain
ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited
to the contributions payable in each year. Contributions to the
housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances
are expensed as incurred.

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as
a liability when the Group has a present contractual or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

- the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares, and

- by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.
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Earnings per share (Continued)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

= the after income tax effect of interest and other financing
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares,
and

- the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
industrial gas generated and supplied or services provided,
stated net of value added taxes.
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(o) WeEmR#E) (0) Revenue recognition (Continued)
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Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods or
services is transferred to a customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at
a point of time. The following is a description of the accounting
policy for our principal revenue streams:

Supply of industrial gas

Sales and distribution of natural gas are recognised at a
point in time when control is transferred to customers, which
generally coincides with the time when gas is transmitted and
used by the customers, and is based on the gas consumption
data derived from meter readings. Payment of the transaction
price is due immediately at the point the customer consume
the gas.

Supply of liquefied industrial gas and liquefied natural
gas

For supply of liquefied industrial gas and LNG for which the
control of products is transferred to customer on delivery,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the physical possession of products and the Group has
present right to payment and the collection of the consideration
is probable.

Gas transmission service

For gas transmission service for which the obligation of service
is satisfied on transmission of gas, revenue is recognised for
each reporting period based on the volume of gas transmitted
and the unit service fee as agreed in the service contract.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)
Technical support and management services

The Group provides technical support and management
services in respect of the production and supply of industrial
gas products. Revenue recognition is based on satisfying the
performance obligation related to the actual volume of gas
transmitted and the unit price as agreed upon in the service

contract.

Others

Others consist of income from sales of compressed natural
gas and LNG for vehicles at natural gas station and other
special gas, which are recognised when the relevant items are

delivered to the buyers.

(p) Leases

The Group leases land, office and buildings as lessee. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 20 years
and may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different

terms and conditions.

Leases are recognised as a

corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset
is amortised over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the

lease term on a straight-line basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(p)

Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable
° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a

rate

° amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate

implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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4. EXREFHERER @ 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(p) HE#H) (p) Leases (Continued)
M HMEEEE MR IRE Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
BERERERAMZ - BH on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-
MENHEERRBI2E AT term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
ZHEE UERBBEGERSE and leases with a remaining term of 12 months or less as of
HAFIGRARKABZAR the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16.
FlerEARR A28 Ak E R ey
& .
FHAEEENHEEAGESH The right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities are present
AR EKPERTR © separately on the consolidated statement of financial position.
() BAEER (@) Related parties
iy FALTHHABRREKE () A person or a close member of that person’s family is
REAREE BB - & related to the Group if that person:
AL
iy BmEREEZEH () has control or joint control over the Group;

RS ARG

iy HEAKEBEKRY (i)  has significant influence over the Group; or
27 3%

(i) RAEHEFKRE (i) is a member of key management personnel of the
RAIZEEERE Group or the Group’s parent.
AB

iy MWRFAETH JET—HHJL? B (i)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

RS BN [E A R conditions apply:

iy ZEREAEEHS ()  the entity and the Group are members of the same
F—SBEMKE AR group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
(AEB/MEAF - and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
o= NI DS )
BRRKLEE S

) o
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(q) Related parties (Continued)
(i) (Continued)

(i

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (g)(i).

a person identified in (g)(i)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the group or to the group’s parent.
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4. EXEHHEER ® 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

() BB S (&) (q) Related parties (Continued)
R-ATHERKEKEIRTRE Close members of the family of a person are those family
A2z A THERETE members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
BEARBEEREZATTEDN by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

EHREBKRE B

- ZAANTH TR EK - that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
REE LB

- RABAATHREIREMN - children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
B Fa & and

- RBEATHZAALHER - dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
BRREHEHNZHE domestic partner.
Ao

5. MRS AT R A 5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

HETRAB T RBBELR R EAM Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
AREHFEN G BEEEHBR on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
THRKEHHEIETEE - of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.
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5. FASE ST fhEt R E

()

AEBERREL BT RER - BB
BE UELANGHAFELER
HEERER - TXmaA B R A&
BEYT-MHRHENEENBENR
HEFHERFHENBAREBR

(a)

(b)

i 3iE B 18
AEERFEEENNBARA
BRMEEMENR - EXHEA
REEEE TEREZHMERR
MIELERIB RN Z EREE &
BHRIBEEBEREL - ZIAR
HREE &K RBNTETA
FEAEERER - ARERE
BB AR EHMBINGIR
KMABMHEAEXZETERER
BERAG - WRFEFEENK
RRBEGERERNARTSESR
FirE ZFEZRETERR
EETHRANELEMESHEER
BE-

ME - BERKREAE
REBRERE

AEEEREEEADE B
B R R 0 f T AT A
REREMAERR - WS
HTER AT R 0 E
P T 5 PR 4 0 X DR 1AL 03 £ 4
B o {4 0 (5 PR 4 0 ROIB £ 15
B 4 Y90 (8 BB £ 1 3R
B ERERENTEES -
54 4 B UM B A
HAEREHRRETR -
BN TS HA R EEBR
BEHREY @ THYERE
BMERTERE -
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Deferred taxation
The Group’s operating subsidiaries in the PRC are subject
to Enterprise Income Tax. Significant judgement is required
in determining the deferred tax relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses in various jurisdictions. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises assets or
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

(b) Useful lives and residual value of property,

plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. The estimates are based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives and
residual values of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives or residual values are
less than previously estimated values. Actual economic lives
and residual values may differ from estimated useful lives and
residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values, which therefore affect
the depreciation charges in future periods.
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5. FASE St fhEt R H

(&)

(c)

(d)

ME BERRKERE
ANEBEE KT 4 Tt & 5t
BRAHYE KHBREER
REOBERR -WE - BEK
FEAIKE S EAERAEE
HeREEAABERLEENK
Ko RetEFEAEER &A%
EAM AT ESEEARND
KERBEERERITEE  DE
EERIEE - 202412 A31
H W% BEERXENEE
FE A ARE1,510,162,9217C
(20234 : AR¥1,527,518,212
JT) °

B2 REREMERRK
TH B E

B RENMEMEKFIAD
BEEBBLENEGRENAR
REREEERENRE -1
EMEPR  ARERBELAE
BeREESL  RETHREA
A BBHEELZE
SR KR EBREFENE AR
% FTERMBERERE LB A
R F B R BE R M EE36()

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group evaluates the impairment risks of property,
equipment and leasehold improvements in accordance with
the accounting policies stated in note 4(e). Recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment is the value in
use, which is higher than the asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal. When calculating the value in use, the Group is
required to estimate and evaluate the future cash flow of each
assets group and the discount rate to determine the current
value. As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment are RMB1,510,162,921 (2023:

RMB1,527,518,212).

Impairment of trade, notes and other

receivables

The loss allowances for trade, notes and other receivables
are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in note 36(a).
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7 & & #
ARFRTEBRET AAREEE
BEREE HEENARERH
/e AT EAREANERES
B AR -

AEBFERPEAREEERMET
ERE oI AEBIREERMS
FERIL RAAR K AR B RBE 8 ik AR 7S -
REBTREBNEZERERERE
FTERBARERBLEEXEEFE
AEEBRE  UNHERAEZEXE
% BRAEBEREES  AXE
EIBEBREEERADBE R LT (E
REMENEZEERNASEERKS
¥E o BHlt AEEEHERUAT=E
(20234 : =) 42 & 5 & -

- HEIXRE
-  RIERARERBEXRY

- B ERERRS

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company have been identified as
CODM of the Group who review the Group’s internal reporting in
order to assess performance of the Group on a regular basis and
allocate resources.

The Group is primarily engaged in the production and supply of
industrial gas in the PRC. Additionally, the Group is involved in
the production and supply of liquefied natural gas and related gas
transmission service. The Group also provides technical support
and management services. The CODM assesses performance of the
business based on a measure of operating results and considers the
business from the product perspective. Information reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment focuses on the operation results of the Group as a whole
as the Group’s resources are integrated. Accordingly, the Group has
identified three (2023: three) operating segments as follows:

- Supply of industrial gas
- LNG and gas transmission services

- Technical support and management services
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6. 7HER @ 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)
(i) ARSEBERETRER MK (i) The Group’s reportable segments are managed separately
% FEERKREEBERER as each business offers different products and services and
HMAEBEARESHTIHAE requires different business strategies. The following summary
BoREBEZURED I describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
R T segment:
BZ2024F12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December 2024
METERE RLRAKR BWXER
(BERKL) KSBHERE EERB # 85 r5EE
Supply of Technical
industrial gas LNG and gas support and
(pipeline and  transmission management

liquefied) services services  Elimination Group
AR¥R AR¥R AR¥R AR¥T AR®R
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
7 U Segment revenue 1,112,662,660 213,195,599 14,764,420  (27,010,910) 1,313,611,769
EH Gross profit 299,147,627 6,798,135 9,301,072 - 315,246,834
HZE2023F12A31AILEEE
Year ended 31 December 2023

METERE REXAER BWIXER
(BERRIL) REHXRS EERY Hi rEE

Supply of Technical

industrial gas LNG and gas  support and

(pipeline and transmission  management
liquefied) service service Elimination Group
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET ARET
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
=0 G Segment revenue 1,2083,621,320 305,356,594 2,917,278 (20,741,204) 1,491,153,988
EH Gross profit 320,611,598 10,050,185 1,441,159 - 332,102,942

(i) b 32 & K (ii) Geographic information
AARIRHESHEFMA - M The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while the
REBFERPEIEEELFER - Group operates its business in the PRC and all its revenue is
BEWKSRAPE - Bl - 8 derived in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical information
EE2Y|BR S HIEER - on the total revenues is presented.
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6. 7EEFR @ 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continveq)
(iii) REXEEXFAEANESR (iii) Information about major customers
MAEEBYZTI0%A EHE A customer (2023: one) which contributed more than 10% of
P (20234 : =)W K: the total revenue of the Group are as follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T AR
RMB RMB
=PA Customer A 1,063,918,484 1,084,929,182
7. W= 7. REVENUE
AEEMBUREHIREREFREH All of the Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers.
AEFEFERFEBRELEERMEET The Group is principally engaged in the production and supply of
¥RE  RIERARKIEERE &R = industrial gases, LNG and related gas transmission service in the
AR o AR B R #H 220244 %2023 PRC. An analysis of the Group’s revenue by category for the years
F12 A1 HIEFERERE S B ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is disclosed as follows:
DR EAT
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR®T ARBETT
RMB RMB
HEEEIXRE Supply of pipeline industrial gas 961,497,921 998,622,439
HERCTERE Supply of liquefied industrial gas 113,164,698 165,703,046
HERERAR R Supply of LNG and gas transmission
R B8 Bl X AR 75 services 213,195,599 305,356,594
EitZE RERRK Technical support and management
services 14,764,420 2,917,278
Hitb Others 10,989,131 18,554,631
1,313,611,769 1,491,153,988
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7. W
BrmES X RIS A R #539,991,1597T
(20234 : A R#27,238,0287T) M
Tz 1% RE R RIEHIA R #514,764,420
7T (20234 : AR#52,917,27870) BaRS
RN AEBA AR E—
I A RERR o
EHNaE
REBREWHBBRAKRZEINEP
BRAEEHEE-

AEECHERTIAGHARE:

7.

REVENUE (Continued)

Except for gas transmission services of RMB39,991,159 (2023:
RMB27,238,028) as well as technical support and management
services of RMB14,764,420 (2023: RMB2,917,278) which are
recognised over time, all of the Group’s revenue is recognised at a

point in time.

Contract liabilities

The Group presents advances from customers as contract liabilities

on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has recognised the following contract liabilities:

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR®T AR
RMB RMB

FETIEENAABEE:  Contract liabilities arising from:
—HERLITERE - Supply of liquefied industrial gas 6,436,111 3,542,269
—ftERIERAR - Supply of LNG 8,652,679 2,112,083
—HAh - Others 537,751 570,730
15,626,541 6,225,082
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7. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised in
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities at the beginning of each financial year.

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®T AR
RMB RMB
HERE TXRE Supply of liquefied industrial gas 2,441,151 4,068,197
HERERAR Supply of LNG 1,716,404 3,506,820
Http Others 521,753 427,276
4,679,308 8,002,293

H g A 8. OTHER INCOME
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR ARETT
RMB RMB
RS 4 BY (1 22 ) Government grants (note) 5,995,730 5,324,539
RBEEE Insurance compensation 2,536,305 -
Hith Others 1,107,073 55,862
9,639,108 5,380,401

it BITEBEERAEE  BRZRAR
B 371 7 5 2 M0 0 4 S R A R B
-

Note: Government grants are all income-related and there were no unfulfilled
conditions or other contingencies attaching to these government grants.
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9. Hftyrz (F5#E)—F 9. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

6
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR AREETT
RMB RMB
SN W 25 5 58 Net foreign exchange gains 120,549 1,917,896
HHEME  BERRE Written off property, plant and
(HaE17) equipment (note 17) (37,891,436) (19,309,391)
HEME  BENMZEWZ Gain on disposal of property, plant and
(Kit17) equipment (note 17) 9,854,029 -
Hith Others (109,239) (359,789)
(28,026,097) (17,751,284)

10. A SRR A — R 5B 10. FINANCE COSTS, NET

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR® T AR T
RMB RMB

HBEKA : Finance income:
RERITEREHM B A Interest income from bank deposits 2,076,519 3,932,470

B - Finance costs:

RITIERBF ERX Interest expense on bank borrowings (24,717,000) (29,002,175)
ALIR F B Discount interest - (542,923)
HEBENNERX Interest expense on lease liabilities (186,140) (203,336)
DI = W Y k- Add: amount capitalised 4,350,000 4,100,515
BT 32 0 B 5 B AR Finance costs expensed (20,553,140) (25,647,919)
B A —F R Finance costs, net (18,476,621) (21,715,449)
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10. FINANCE COSTS, NET (Continued)

Finance costs have been capitalised on qualifying assets at average
interest rates of 4.37% per annum for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: 4.86%).

Interest and related expenses mainly arise from the borrowings
disclosed in note 27.

11. EXPENSES BY NATURE

2024 20234
2024 2023
AR%R AR
RMB RMB
% B BN B & Auditor’s remuneration 3,000,257 3,200,000
NGRS J=0bi Consumption of utilities 765,895,043 803,384,731
RMEREEEEERN Consumption of raw materials and
SHAE low value consumables 169,979,736 173,404,120
IR m 7 B # E) Changes in inventories of finished
goods 849,506 567,580
TREEERHEHZ18) Amortisation of right-of-use assets
(note 18) 2,128,687 1,950,471
Y- BMELREHETE Depreciation of property, plant and
(B :%17) equipment (note 17) 119,551,828 130,372,407
EERMAZ (K it12) Employee benefits expenses (note 12) 52,644,341 55,370,540
HERBE Professional service fee 3,343,272 5,350,506
BEHRWHIBENEEERE Credit loss allowance for trade
Biw(hit21) receivables (note 21) 3,078,422 15,363,770
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12. BEERAFAX

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARETT ARETT
RMB RMB
IER#H® Wages and salaries 37,739,247 40,432,181
FTEANRS  BERRE Housing funds, medical insurance and
E k= 48 F R other social welfare contributions
(K1 a%0) (note (i) 9,238,995 7,571,888
RO A — R EH G E Pension costs — defined contribution
(K1 &2 (i) plans (note (i) 3,513,344 5,004,105
H {th 8 F Other benefits 2,152,755 2,362,366
52,644,341 55,370,540
HBiat - Notes:

(ii)

AEEMNFHREEVLHEZARFEE
MEFAES  BERBRREMESR
ERBTE - AEEFABRKBREEST S
#115% % 24% (20234 : 15% 2 24%) (&
BETER)AZSESELMR K
EERZEESHEERRETFREXM
B LR o

REBEPREEGIRERAT  A5EBR
HApEEEBRBERE NIRRT B #
R AEEREGAREBURA(BEL
B He BRURIELAL)HN% (RE L
B)MZEHEEHER - MAKEA
&5 WA #0% E20% (2023%F : 0%
Z20%)(RAEETLER)EHHER - BBk
HRINE T AR E R X RIKEREA S
HipEAE - IR EBH RN EIA&ER
RINEESZNRAEREBFOZDEE -

(i)
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Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in various
government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance and other employee
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds
based on approximately 15% to 24% (2023: 15% to 24%) of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these

funds is limited to the contributions payable in each year.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to
state-sponsored retirement schemes for its employees in the PRC. The Group’s
employees make monthly contributions to the schemes at approximately 8%
of the relevant income (comprising wages, salaries, allowances and bonus,
and subject to maximum caps), while the Group contributes 0% to 20% (2023:
0% to 20%) of such relevant income, subject to certain ceiling and has no
further obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions. The state-sponsored retirement schemes are responsible for
the entire post-retirement benefit obligations payable to the retired employees.
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13. EEM &L LREEES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
FAL

(a)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

EEMEBREETETH (a) Directors’ emoluments (including chief

AB) executives)

BEERLETHRARB BT Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for both years,
B ENEER EEZTHA disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong
EMENMSIT: Kong Companies Ordinances is as follows:

EELESE
BRERRR
BURRK- Rftie
IERFE  REHRHE BRRR EzHe RERA act

Housing funds,
Pension medical insurance

Wages,  costs-defined and other
and contribution social welfare Director's  Discretionary
salaries plans contributions fees bonus Total
ARBT ARBT N ARBT AR N
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

HE04F1283ALEE
HITEE

REIH#])
REB (I #H))

skh (Bt i)

RER M)

FHTEE
R (i i)
REH )
BRI i)

BUHHTEE
B

HiaE

5

Year ended 31 December 2024

Executive directors

Song Changjiang (note (j) - - - - - _
Sun Changhuan (note (j)) - - - - - _
Yao Li (note (i) - - - - _ _
Gao Guimin (note (i) - - - - - _

Non-executive directors

Zhang Wenli note (iij) - - = - - _
Lai Yui fnote (iv)) - - - 326,697 - 326,697
Ng Shuk Ming (note (1)) - - o - - _

Independent non-executive directors

Siu Chi Hung - - - 539,366 - 539,366
Xiao Huan Wei - - - 539,366 - 539,366
Li Chun Elsy - - - 539,366 - 539,366

- - - 1,944,795 - 1,944,795
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B.EEWEURAEES 18

AT

(@ ESME(BETETH

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(Continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (including chief

AB)#E) executives) (Continued)
TEAES
EERBR
RRAA- Ethi g
IEREe  AEUsad BHER BXis B @it
Housing funds,
medical insurance
Wages,  Pension costs- and other
and defined social welfare Director's Discretionary
salaries  contribution plans contributions fees bonus Total
ARBT ARBT ARBT ARBT ARBT ARBT
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
HZ2023F12831ALEE  Year ended 31 December 2023
HiTEF Executive directors
A #) Yao Li (note (i) - - - - - -
BERW ) Gao Guimin (note (ij) 367,200 - - - - 367,200
FHITEF Non-executive directors
R (A it i) Zhang Wenli (nofe (if) - - - - - -
RERM i) Zhang Aimin (note () - N - - - -
28 Lai Yui - - - 539,633 - 539,633
it Ng Shuk Ming - - - 539,633 - 539,633
BUFHTEE Independent non-executive directors
B Siu Chi Hung - - - 539,633 - 539,633
Hiag Xiao Huan Wei = 3 = 539,633 S 539,633
£33 Li Chun Elsy - = < 539,633 - 539,633
367,200 = 3 2,698,165 - 3,065,365
Htat - Notes:

0] RRIIFIER S R HR2024F 4 F22
H % Z £ I A B £ 8 £2024F
12A31BLEFESEREES
& A R#ES87,7257 R AR

387,7257T °

(i) Song Changjiang and Sun Changhuan were appointed on 22 April
2024 and agreed to waive their directors’ fee of RMB387,725 and
RMB387,725 respectively during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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13.EEMEUREBRRS
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(@ EEME(BEETETH

ABE

(&)

Bt ()

(i

(i)

()

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

()

ok 71 A= B LN2024F 4 A22H
BHEIL A BB £ 2024512 A31
AEFESREREEEHME A
R#331,1727C F1 A R #331,172
7T (20234 : A R #1,079,2667T
A R#1,079,2667T) ©

3R XF| 742023F1 A20 A # £
I @ B £ & £20244F 20234
12ABLEFENREREES
& A R#539,6337T M A R
510,6207T ©

R ANA2024F8 B19H BT ©

R A 7 & 22024512 A31H
TEFERHREESEHEARE
539,633 T, (20234 : #E) °

3R B R M2023F1 A20 A BT 3
R EEEHE2023F12A31BIEF
ErBREEZHEE ARK2,013
ﬁ: o

N|EH BEEFALAEER
BUEMBE - (ERWSIIMARE
B 5 I\ S5 1R A 2 B ok BB
HhE o

RS i SR DA &
FEADR R AR A SRR LEABF ©

MRS AEEI AR5 RH
BEERBMEERSE =T XHR

&

R2024 5 }2023F 12 A31 8 » #f
BAEE  ZTREFEIEHNE
ANBBRAZSESTFHNELS
B ANER EERRHAM
RHEHE -

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (including chief
executives) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(il

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(vili)

(ix)

Yao Li and Gao Guimin resigned on 22 April 2024 and agreed to
waive their directors’ fee of RMB331,172 and RMB331,172 respectively
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB1,079,266 and
RMB1,079,266).

Zhang Wenli was appointed on 20 January 2023 and agreed to waive
his director’s fee of RMB539,633 and RMB510,620 during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively.

Lai Yui resigned on 19 August 2024.

Ng Shuk Ming waived her director’s fee of RMB539,633 during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Zhang Aimin resigned on 20 January 2023 and agreed to waive his
director’'s fee of RMB29,013 during the years ended 31 December
2023.

No directors received any emoluments from the Group as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the reporting period.

None of the directors received or receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits during the reporting period.

The Group did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services during the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings arrangement in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and controlled entities with such Directors.
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13.EEM LU AERES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE

-
#FALT FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

(b) EEEBREFAL (b) The five highest paid individuals
rEBhEESFATH =4 Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
(2023F : =) BAEEESE - Group, 3 (2023: 3) were directors of the Group, whose
E & HRHE13@) - B TA emoluments are included in note 13(a). The emoluments of the
THE ST remaining individuals were as follows:

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR T AR
RMB RMB
IERF= Wages and salaries 2,237,930 2,112,554
RIKRAR—FREMRETE] Pension costs — defined
contribution plans 65,248 29,699
=l Termination benefits - -
)15 TE AT Discretionary bonus - -
2,303,178 2,142,253
HBME N F T3 &EEMNR : Their emoluments were within the following bands:
2024 20234
2024 2023
A" A¥
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
% B %6 (=) Emolument band
500,0017% 7t £1,000,0007% 7t HKD500,001 to HKD1,000,000 1 1
1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007% 7t HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1 1
2 2
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13.EEMELLURTERZHES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE

FALT® FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

(b) EBBREHFAL(E) (b) The five highest paid individuals (Continued)
REA  AKBE W EBEMNE During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
ERE N AZESHFA LTI to any directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
ERE  ERRSIMARE as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
B 3 A0 A AR 5 [ 1% Y B2 B Sk B compensation for loss of office. There were no arrangements
e RNER - EFHEDT under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
SEMLBEARERRERE emolument during the year.

ERBE -
B E2024F12HA31AEFE X No remuneration of the five highest paid individuals were paid
2023F12A31HILFE A& by the Group through the payment of service charges to its
BN AR = N A ] related party for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
(TN BB BMEBE X December 2023.
NIRBE) -
A
14. FIBBIAX 14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
REBMRMEHRASTAT: The income tax expense of the Group is analysed as follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR AR T
RMB RMB

BIVER 7% 18 Current tax

—HRPCEMRERH - PRC enterprise income tax 20,042,126 10,866,235

I I8 (B 7£29) Deferred tax (note 29)

—REEEZ T — Charged to profit or loss for the year 9,364,509 13,822,311

FrieBimA X Income tax expense 29,406,635 24,688,546
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14. FRIBFHBE X
7 9 [ B 1 328 ) 0 4 I B IR A o
B A b 335 7 B SR 050 B 2 A IR 3
BRE - S E AR TS B A

= G

B consolidated entities as follows:

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate of 25% in
mainland China, being the tax rate applicable to the majority of

2024 20234

2024 2023

AR®T AR

RMB RMB

B BT 13 75 5 =2 B 4 ) Profit before income tax expense 159,453,279 152,764,807

LEAREBREEERA  Tax thereon at domestic rates

Baf AL EN applicable to profit or loss in the

I8 jurisdictions concerned 39,863,320 38,191,202
HEtalEBERENTE Effect of different tax rates in other

MENEE N it @) jurisdictions (note (a)) 1,398,354 2,960,238

BARMBAR RS RRIN
BEMESREZHBEREE

Tax effect of preferential income tax
rates applicable to subsidiaries and

(M1 i) branches
(note (b)) (17,131,700) (11,567,023)
NAIHIMASZ 2 MG E Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes 2,640,427 472,344
BTG m AR TE 0B Withholding tax on profits made in
(Ht it () China (note (c)) 8,569,611 15,474,690
B) A 2 Al R B R 89 B 4R Utilisation of previously unrecognised
R ERE deductible temporary differences - (10,482,567)
WEERRLCHMEHEE Tax losses for which no deferred income
A 1A B 18 tax assets were recognised 4,678,453 1,446,584
2 B R BB IR 30 (0 72 () Super deduction for research and
development (note (d)) (10,578,751) (11,752,528)
BEMBHOWAZREEF 2 Tax effect income not subject to
(K1 7# (@) tax (note (e)) (33,079) (49,786)
EAh Others - (4,608)
GIECR A Income tax expense 29,406,635 24,688,546
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14. FRIBFHBE XX

Hiat

(@)

REFSMEHR

ARAREMEARE (BETRFES
HEAMKZSEREARATR  EA
BANFREH o tbsh  ARRMER R
Nk SRBRASMMEFSTREMH -

FEIEEMER

RIBRITED - REREM - AEER
NP EENIRNMERBEHEDIR
BEAE MG ERB & AR E AR X
A PE-BEEMSHER25% -
AEBEWBARELERREARAF
BRI ATERHEMDE - WR2019
F - 2020F R2021 FEHEBEMBHE
15% ° }A20224F  BILEMABERD
RIEEZER - I R20224 « 2023
FR224FHEZFEBEBEIS% o K
SENBRAREEERRRERARN
02F KR ATHEHEMEE - I
20224 « 20234 K2024F Z A EFH
Fr i3 &15% ©

hEIEMHR

RFEBTEBIEER  AETEKL
B AR BEF20084F1 B1 Hi& FE £80)R
Fr SN R A & 5 K B0 AR BB R AR
TEHPTISHE10% © AR B 3t E o B
JBE R BRI B HE SRR E B R AR o

B B ) S M B RE R 4T

BEFEERHGER(BRBEA
B 1) BT 7845 (5 2008 4F B 4 2 BY AR B A 7
RER  HEMBE TN EFERE
T E HI N E SRR I B ESRAG H T E £
RIRT 3B ST i 150% I E R B = ©
1R 1R B R B 75 48 /3 B AR M5 20186 &
20204F + RIBFEZE 2023 F £ MAER
NEMEEHNCEBRRETHEBAR
JIE ER T i 1 By 2 S L BT EE AR 0 B B
X E175%FIVERTHI BB X o 70202343
A BRBEELRBEMA AL S
REMBEEHINCEFENETHS
7R JE AR S I B 2 SRS HL R AR A T B
7 X #9200% 7] 1E ] 40 i 5 s ([ 48 48 3K
mh -

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes:

@

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Cayman Companies Act (as revised) and is not
subject to income tax. In addition, upon payments of dividends by the Company
to its shareholders, no Cayman lIslands withholding tax will be imposed.

PRC enterprise income tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in the PRC has
been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable profits
for the period, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and practises
in respect thereof. The general corporate income tax rate in the PRC is 25%.
Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, was approved
as High and New Technology Enterprise in the PRC and was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% in the years of 2019, 2020 and 2021. In
2022, Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. renewed this qualification and will
continue to enjoy this preferential tax rate of 15% in the years of 2022, 2023
and 2024. Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, was
approved as High and New Technology Enterprise in the PRC in 2022, and is
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% in the years of 2022, 2023
and 2024.

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed by a
company established in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits
derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject to a 10% withholding
The Company has recognised deferred tax liabilities for
undistributed profits of its subsidiaries in the PRC.

income tax.

Super Deduction for research and development expense

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the PRC (the “State Tax Bureau”) that was effective from 2008
onwards, enterprises engaging in research and development activities are
entitled to claim 150% of their research and development expenses so incurred
as tax deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that
period. According to regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureau that
was effective from 2018 to 2020, later extended to 2023, enterprises engaging
in research and development activities are entitled to claim 175% of their
research and development expenses so incurred as tax deductible expenses
when determining their assessable profits for that period. In March 2023,
the State Tax Bureau issued a notice to announce enterprises engaging in
research and development activities are entitled to claim 200% of their research
and development expenses so incurred as tax deductible expenses when
determining their assessable profits for that period (“Super Deduction”).
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y
14. FIEBE X 14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (ontined
Hiat: () Notes: (Continued)
(e) EAZHB WA (e) Income not subject to tax
RIBERRIBERRMNOEBERE According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
£ RER AEEETENHEAR Bureau, the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to deduct 10% of their
EEEERT AR ERINREHES revenue generated from supply of self-produced industrial hydrogen gas when
TEEIXEREENKEDNI0% - determining their assessable profits during the period.
15. R & 15. DIVIDENDS
2024 2023%F
2024 2023
AR® T AR®ETT
RMB RMB
FHEMNKRE Dividends payable at beginning of the
year 50,671,500 100,671,500
FREARE Dividends paid during the year - (50,000,000)
50,671,500 50,671,500
MR2025F 325 ARITHMEEZ S &% At a meeting of the Directors held on 25 March 2025, the Directors
F EEFERRMNREHO KRR did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Reporting
B (20234F : #E) © Period (2023: Nil).
HZE2023F12A31AILFERN » & RMB50,000,000 dividend was paid to China Gas Investors Ltd
REBEEERAF(CGIZMAR (“CGI") during the year ended 31 December 2023.

#50,000,0007T HY A% &, °
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per Share are based
on the following data.

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥® ARETT
RMB RMB
EF Earnings
KAGHEAB ANEIEFERNEF  Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company 130,046,644 128,076,261
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
2 H 2B
Number Number
gk 4= Number of Shares
T3 IR N A S £ Weighted average number of ordinary
shares 1,200,000,000 1,200,000,000
K aF - Note:

AN E B R E E 2024 F £ 2023F 12 A31H 1k
FEUTFEBEHSLEBER UTREER

MEFREARFBER -

Diluted earnings per share were the same as the basic earnings per Share as the
Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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17. ¥ - BERRE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

IAR
BEN HEXRR B ETRE HitiR RE EEIR @
Instruments
Leasehold Electronic and other Construction
Buildi impr t Machi Juif t Juif t Vehicl in progress Total
AR®T AR%T ARMT AR AR AR AR AR
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
R2023%1 718 At 1 January 2023
A Cost 215,378,961 54,068,343 2,303,652,073 8,617,167 61,040,755 7,991,840 84,876,088 2,735,625,227
2 RERNE Accumulated impairment and
depreciation (51,857,084)  (38,528233) (1,029,568,118)  (6267,113) (45798507  (3,033,808) - (1,175,052,863)
REFE Net book amount 163,621,877 15,540,110 1,273,983,955 2,350,054 15,242,248 4,958,032 84,876,088 1,560,472,364
B E2023F12331B.LFE  Year ended 31 December 2023
FNREFE Opening net book amount 163,621,877 15,540,110 1,273,983,955 2,350,054 15,242,248 4,958,032 84,876,088 1,560,472,364
NE Additions - - 654,867 7,521 386,549 - 111,876,709 112,925,646
BRETRIRRAMEND  Transfer from prepayments for
BRRE construction in progress and
equipment - - - - - - 3,802,000 3,802,000
REEEE: Internal transfer - - 39,513,482 - - - (39,513,482 -
HE Impairment - - (19,306,994) (1,298) (1,099) - - (19,309,391)
WEER Depreciation charge (7,851,031) (2,103,320) (116,603,849) (497,771) (2,731,151) (585,285) - (130,372,407)
ERAREFE Closing net book amount 155,670,846 13,436,790 1,178,241,461 1,858,506 12,896,547 4,372,747 161,041,315 1,5627,518,212
R2023%12A31R At 31 December 2023
¢ Cost 215,378,961 54,068,343 2,343,720,422 8,624,688 61,427,304 7,991,840 161,041,315 2,852,252,873
ZitRBERTE Accumulated impairment and
depreciation (59,708,115) (40,631,553)  (1,165,478,961) (6,766,182)  (48,530,757) (3,619,093 - (1,324,734,661)
REFE Net book amount 155,670,846 13,436,790 1,178,241,461 1,858,506 12,896,547 4,372,747 161,041,315 1,527,518,212
1202451818 At 1 January 2024
¢ Cost 215,378,961 54,068,343 2,343,720,422 8,624,688 61,427,304 7,991,840 161,041,315 2,852,252,873
Rt RERNE Accumulated impairment and
depreciation (59,708,115) (40,631,553)  (1,165,478,961) (6,766,182)  (48,530,757) (3,619,093) = (1,324,734,661)
BHEE Net book amount 155,670,846 13,436,790 1,178,241,461 1,858,506 12,896,547 4,372,747 161,041,315 1,527,518,212
B £2024F12331B.LFE  Year ended 31 December 2024
FENREFE Opening net book amount 155,670,846 13,436,790 1,178,241,461 1,858,506 12,896,547 4,372,747 161,041,315 1,527,518,212
RE Additions o o 960,177 = 2,473,567 830,531 154,912,869 159,177,144
BRETERIRRRMEN  Transfer from prepayments for
BENRE construction in progress and
equipment = = = = = = 5,508,427 5,508,427
REEES Internal transfer = = 52,361,062 = = - (52,361,062 =
B Impairment (4,218,552) (12,385,130) (21,286,208) S (1,546) o o (37,891,436)
& Disposal
— B ? my = - Cost (6,531,793) (54,068,343) (330,038,045) S (6,694,700) o o (397,332,881)
- RERERTE - Accumulated impairment and
depreciation 6,531,793 54,068,343 305,440,447 = 6,694,700 = = 372,735,283
= = (24,597,598) = = = = (24,597,598)
NEER Depreciation charge (7,752,915) (1,051,660)  (107,217,707) (493,830)  (2,428,006) (607,710) - (119,551,828)
FAREERE Closing net book amount 143,699,379 o 1,078,461,187 1,364,676 12,940,562 4,595,568 269,101,549 1,510,162,921
20245124318 At 31 December 2024
WA Cost 208,847,168 - 2,067,003,616 8,624,688 57,206,171 8,822,371 269,101,549 2,619,605,563
B RERTE Accumulated impairment and
depreciation (65,147,789) o (988,542,429) (7,260,012)  (44,265,609) (4,226,803) o (1,109,442,642)
REFE Net book amount 143,699,379 - 1,078,461,187 1,364,676 12,940,562 4,595,568 269,101,549 1,510,162,921
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as follows:

20245 20234

2024 2023

AR® T ARETT

RMB RMB

5B KA Cost of sales 95,385,587 99,115,544
THAX Administrative expenses 16,710,283 22,486,649
i m = Research and development expenses 7,455,958 8,770,214
119,551,828 130,372,407

2024512 A318 » N EE ) £ §
EHETEEDNREYRARE
B REEEYNEELBENAA
R #39,077,51570 (20234 : A R #&
40,831,3177T) ° AN B FEBUSEIL
EMREERAREHS AR LA
T E A o

REBFAREIXRAEBEHHRK
R BEEBCEEAKERRHE
LB RITENS  RNAFEHAEK
BHABEYE  BERREBETHE
- BEEXRSELEM(RE
ELEBEN])BRRFEREDTRE
HHEBEEXRSELEMKTE
1TrFfE - AT RS BRIEEREER
RABERLEXNARE PR ERE

E e

As at 31 December 2024, the Group is still in the process of
applying for the building ownership certificates of certain buildings
and the aggregated carrying amounts of these buildings amounted to
approximately RMB39,077,515 (2023: RMB40,831,317). The Group
is in the process of obtaining land use rights for the land at Yutian
Branch of Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd..

In preparation for the Group’s future development on its industrial
gas business, the management has performed an impairment
assessment on the Group’s related property, plant and equipment
during the current year, taking into account the Group’s future
operating plans and the outlook of the industry. The assessment was
performed on the relevant assets or cash generating unit (“CGU”)
level when there are indicators of possible impairment of that assets
or CGU. The recoverable amount has been determined based on
the higher value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.
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17. ¥ - BERZE =) 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

REBEREHE2023F 12310 IEFE
BERENEEREZEMANAR
SEEFERCEEEMANNEARNRE
KRR EAREBEEXFAHBRS
BRARIEE LS ARIRERSHE
2y o REWREBR  HBEETHA
EEMABR  NEIEBRETRMNEA
CEEBEMN - Al AEBEREES
ZEHARBER D SR AT EE TR
Pl ERRAMSEEITHES
BRFE ENEEEEY &AM
5 EREETAREBEAARES
5 o

HREEERREE - EXEE
AARENEERS - WHAKRE
EARRRZEWNERRELEHRE
BRAR TEBRED RS TH: M
REHBRETR - BFAR RS
FREFEFNETYER  BEARED
BEHMRERE BAEZEBEBEETR
MR EEEM - i REEN
BERERARMREERELERE -
AEBEEECBRRBETR  YE
HZEEEMREELATKRESEA
K #28,402,5097C * & IR A LT
RABEREERANE - BEEER
RRAEREZSEENAAEE -
HERLEETWENZEAA AL
MAHEREENKA - HILEBE
fEHAE - R BREREBRNND
EREELER - ZFEENAKDE
TBRARKBNAABERBESRA
REEBRBETHEIBEMRE -
FERANEZEAAEERARERRE
EERA  BERERER -

(Continued)

The assets that were impaired by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 included buildings used specifically to serve the
HBIS Tangshan branch of HBIS Co., Ltd., the controlling shareholder
of the Company and a major customer of the Group, within one of
the Group’s CGU. Following the customer’s relocation, the relevant
assets had no further alternative use and could not be transferred to
a different CGU. Accordingly, management of the Group assessed
their recoverable amount with reference to their fair value less cost of
disposal as level 3 measurement using the market approach. Given
there was no available market for the relevant assets, management
determined the fair value to be RMBNIl.

Owing to the continued implementation of the relocation plan, the
management evaluated the Group’s production plan and identified
the impairment indicators for certain machinery and equipment at the
headquarter plant and the iron-making branch plant under Tangshan
Tangsteel Gases Co. Litd.,, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Certain property, plant and equipment used specifically to
serve a particular customer had no further alternative use and could
not be transferred to a different cash generated unit. In addition,
the Group’s automobile LNG filling station suffered an operation
loss. Impairment indicators were identified by the management of
the Group and these assets were written down to their recoverable
amounts of RMB28,402,509, which were measured based on
their estimated fair value less cost of disposal. Cost approach
was adopted by the management to estimate the fair values of
these assets. The valuation model considers the cost to acquire
or construct a substitute asset of comparable utility. Adjustment
is then made for obsolescence, which encompasses physical
deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence. The
fair values upon which the recoverable amounts of these assets were
based are categorised as a Level 3 measurement under fair value
hierarchy. Key unobservable inputs used included replacement cost,
obsolescence, and physical deterioration.
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17. ¥ - BMERZE =) 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

BIEFHEER  REBRE £2024 Based on the assessment result, the Group made an impairment
FI2ANBHIEFEFRBERBA provision of RMB37,891,436 for the year ended 31 December 2024
R #37,891,4367T (20234F : A R & (2023: RMB19,309,391) and recorded it under the line item of “Other
19,309,39170) * WK & PF4R & W = gains/(losses), net” on the consolidated statement of comprehensive
R TEMKE (E518) —F8E]EE income.

TAHR -

B E2024F12A31HIEFE > A& During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group disposed
HERAMEBS A RK24597,598 property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of
TL(2023F - M)W E - BB Kk & RMB24,597,598 (2023: Nil) for the proceeds of RMB34,451,627
# - TS RIE R ARE34,451,627 7T (2023: Nil) resulting a gain on disposal of RMB9,854,029 (2023: Nil).

(20234 : &) EAHERZFZARE
9,854,0297T (20234 : f&) »
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18. EREEE 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
T AR HEWX st
Land use Leased
rights properties Total
ARM TR ARMTR AR¥R
RMB RMB RMB

EHZ2023F12A31HILFEE Year ended 31 December 2023

FHREFE Opening net book amount 40,956,416 2,720,267 43,676,683
RE Additions - 1,861,270 1,861,270
BEBRWAEIT) Amortisation charge (note 11) (877,215) (1,073,256) (1,950,471)
FERIREFE Closing net book amount 40,079,201 3,508,281 43,587,482

E £2024%12H31H Year ended 31 December 2024

ILEE
FYIERmFE Opening net book amount 40,079,201 3,508,281 43,587,482
BHER(Waz11) Amortisation charge (note 117) (877,215) (1,251,472) (2,128,687)
FEREMFE Closing net book amount 39,201,986 2,256,809 41,458,795
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR®RT AR T
RMB RMB
FEREEEEE Amortisation of right-of-use assets 2,128,687 1,950,471
A ERX Interest expenses 186,140 203,336
WA EEEN The cash outflow relating to short-term
BEm leases 3,549,430 3,740,376
HEERKEEHH The cash outflow for leases as
e m operating activities 51,335 25,430
HEERBERHH The cash outflow for leases as financing
Bamd activities 922,793 457,127
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19. Hth & & 19. OTHER ASSETS
2024 % 2023%F
2024 2023
AR AR®ETT
RMB RMB
ERIRELZED Prepayments for construction in
SEENE s progress and equipment 48,051,100 43,865,825
20. 78 20. INVENTORIES
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARERT AR T
RMB RMB
2K Finished goods 6,510,260 6,305,811
1 Spare parts - 3,403,425
B Less: provisions - -
6,510,260 9,709,236
R2024F12A31H - BEH A R B As at 31 December 2024, spare parts of RMB2,473,567 were
2AT3567TLEEF D EEWE - W reclassified to property, plant and equipment.
BR&E -
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Bxa =,
21. E S B RIE 21. TRADE RECEIVABLES
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARY T AR
RMB RMB
B 5 WK IR Trade receivables 559,343,393 567,416,816
A OB E B Less: allowance for impairment (26,577,192) (23,498,770)
532,766,201 543,918,046
20244 2023F12H31H » KN & As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, fair values of the trade
EEZREUFENAANBEHEELERR receivables of the Group approximated their carrying amounts.
BRAE °
et - Notes:
(@) LTARANEERMAEENE FHEKK (a) Ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance) based on the invoice
TE (1B B 48) M BR B0 D 4T - date is as follows:
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR T
RMB RMB
EXE6M@A Up to 6 months 419,184,161 519,639,415
[FEREIEK:S 6 months to 1 year 103,468,956 3,253,126
1224 1 to 2 years 9,154,401 2,833,423
2F A £ Over 2 years 958,683 18,192,082
532,766,201 543,918,046
AEENBESREBKE-—KEEEAH The Group’s trade receivables are generally collectible within 180 days (2023:
#EFT 180K (20234F : 180°K) A AT Yz [8] - 180 days) from the invoice date. No interest is charged on the trade receivables.
B 5 FE WK 1B T ERAE ] &2, -
(o) A2024FE K 202312 B31H » AREEB (b) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s trade

SEWEZTANEEEIAARESE - receivables are denominated in RMB.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

(0 REFBZZREWZEBENEZEBRBRE (c) Movements on the Group’s credit loss allowance of trade receivables are as
FHET : follows:
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR% T AR
RMB RMB
HRE ] At the beginning of the year 23,498,770 8,135,000
EERNEEFHERE Credit loss allowance recognised 3,078,422 15,363,770
RER At the end of the year 26,577,192 23,498,770
(d) REEERBRR SRS ERFEIFH (d) The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
Bl EtEEHEEER &A% losses, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
MTETEH 2 HEERYIEHERRER - recognition. The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of
EHEBEXNUEBEPONRAEER related customers and the corresponding historical credit losses. The historical
HENBEEEBBRAEE - BARE loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
BREFUAR  URBFERFELE£E macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
FEW FRIE 8L 1 a9 B A K% B BE M 2 8 receivables. The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2024 and 31
= E B o A2024F12 A31H %2023 December 2023 is determined as follows:
F12A310 BFREBEBEBETENOT -
BDHA BR3EA 3Z618 A #iB6fE A et
Up to 3to6 Over
3 months months 6 months
Current past due past due past due Total
AR¥T
RMB
2024 2024
TEHIE IR R Expected loss rate 1.86% 7.15% 12.45% 61.63%
AR B E Gross carrying amount 465,335,240 63,355,213 11,229,168 19,423,772 559,343,393
E RS Loss allowance provision 8,679,339 4,529,691 1,397,499 11,970,663 26,577,192
20234 2023
TE BRI A B K Expected loss rate 3.19% 3.6% 8.20% 20.69%
RME4AE Gross carrying amount 528,692,433 5,991,688 2,829,825 29,902,870 567,416,816
BIEERER Loss allowance provision 16,863,296 215,793 232,038 6,187,643 28,498,770
(e) B ZF2024F12A318 IF F E - 42 58 ) During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain trade receivables with

A A R #600,0007T (20234 : A R ¥
135,976,8267T) K& T & 5 FE M 5118 A
NEEHEEARG(R0BFE: BFREMNK
H A R #125,916,4627T (Kt 7£26) I 7
Ea8EARE10,060,364 7T (Mf5E28)) -

aggregate amount of RMB600,000 (2023: RMB135,976,826) were settled with
lease liabilities (2023: trade payables with amount of RMB125,916,462 (note
26) and lease liabilities of RMB10,060,364 (note 28)).
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22.FANFE - &Rk HM 22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

=+

FE Y Fx 18 RECEIVABLES
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®T ARETT
RMB RMB
AT e E R (B E B ) Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable 9,131,493 4,327,575

JE Uiz B B 77 B Receivables due from related parties

(K7 2£35(c)(ii) (note 35(c)(ii)) 40,880 54,241
NAEEREMBANRKIE Utilities and other prepayments 8,498,799 9,709,593
by Deposits 2,268,216 2,310,885
Http Others 687,046 727,255
20,626,434 17,129,549
B SEBNHA ER o Less: non-current portion - 173,994
20,626,434 16,955,555

20244 2023512 H31H + H 1ty
EWREOEEEEIEAARER
BILETE TEERESWREAHNA
A EBERE -

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of other
receivables were primarily denominated in RMB and HKD and
approximated their fair values at each of the reporting dates.

BERWANGHIE ke REMK
T B SH K N BT = A B At FE U SR IE A
RAEBREERR - N E £2024
FR2023F12 A31HIEFENEER
BERETBBI2E BB EIE -
BHEEEEREK RERZEE
WHREEENES - B TEKNIE

Other receivables that are measured at amortised costs included
receivables due from related parties, deposits and others were
considered to be of low credit risk, and thus the impairment provision
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
was limited to 12 months expected losses. The expected credit
losses was minimal as these receivables had no history of default,
certain amount of receivables were subsequently settled, and there

BERD TAE » M2024 45 20234
12A31 8 » BEHREMERTFH
IR AR B 3B Bl oK 2 48 B AR ©

was no significant unfavourable current conditions and forecast
future economic conditions identified as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.
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23.RERBREEEY 23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(@ BeRkREeEEYEHE: (@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARt ARE T
RMB RMB
RITHEE Cash at banks 183,884,753 202,617,643

WA EIEE: Denominated in:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARt ARETT
RMB RMB
AR RMB 175,994,463 195,342,532
ETT UsD 4,835,585 4,758,799
BT HKD 3,054,705 2,516,312
183,884,753 202,617,643
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3. HERBEEEY
(b) MEZTEFFELEEENY

23. CASH AND CASH EQU'VALENTS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

iR : financing activities:
= HEEE @t
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
AR%R AR¥R AR¥R
RMB RMB RMB
#2023%181H At 1 January 2023 572,530,119 13,263,373 585,793,492
RERESRENEE: Change from financing cash flows:
REMER Additions of new borrowings 360,000,000 - 360,000,000
BEER Repayment of borrowings (399,530,119) - (399,530,119)
MENK Lease payments - (482,557) (482,557)
EAAE Exchange adjustments - 2,967 2,967
Hitt 28 Other changes:
LB I RN Finance costs - 203,336 203,336
GEIREED New lease entered - 1,861,270 1,861,270
EnEReE Other non-cash movement - (10,060,364 (10,060,364)
R2023F12A318 K At 31 December 2023 and
2024%181A8 1 January 2024 533,000,000 4,788,025 537,788,025
RERESRENEE: Change from financing cash flows:
NEHER Additions of new borrowings 210,000,000 - 210,000,000
BEER Repayment of borrowings (287,000,000 - (287,000,000)
MERNK Lease payments - (974,128) (974,128)
ERRE Exchange adjustments = (17,409) (17,409)
Hih@ s Other changes:
B A Finance costs - 186,140 186,140
& 8 Interest accruing 4,311,893 - 4,311,893
HinEHRE# Other non-cash movement - (600,000 (600,000)
7202412 831 A At 31 December 2024 460,311,893 3,382,628 463,694,521
(c) FEHFBREXRFH: () Major non-cash transactions:

BRARSESEHRBEEN  HE
2024F12A31BLEFE A&
B E 58 E A R600,0007T
(20234 : AR #10,060,3647T)
WHETESRUGRIERTIKHE -

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, during the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s lease liabilities with
amount of RMB600,000 (2023: RMB10,060,364) were net off
with certain trade receivables.
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24. MALREBETTAHEMEZ 24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI
EWRENEREE

BRARBEFAEMES WRNSH The financial assets at FVOCI comprise the following investments in
EEBRTIHEKREENERE: notes receivables:
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARERT AR T
RMB RMB
JE W F & Notes receivables 95,526,694 79,658,832
HRZESEENIHARE - HES These assets are classified as current assets due to their short
HEARDHEE - maturity.
RHEEZSEREER - ZAREE On disposal of these financial assets, any related balance within the
FTAE A AR & U ZS 6 48 80 (F (T AR 8 FVOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

RREENHOBRERSE -
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25. IR HWEF T A 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY
TERETEHMEERABENERERE:
and liabilities:

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial assets

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR AR
RMB RMB
tRMEE Financial assets
KL ER Financial assets at amortised cost
THEE
- EZRWKIE - Trade receivables 532,766,201 543,918,046
- %%  FEANFIEEEM - Deposits, prepayments and other
FEU R IB (T B receivables (excluding recoverable
AT e ER - BT VAT and prepaid utilities and other
NABERHEMIER prepayments)
FIE) 2,996,142 3,092,381
-BHe kR EED - Cash and cash equivalents 183,884,753 202,617,643
BARBEGAAMES Financial assets at FVOCI
Wt HEE
- BIREE - Notes receivables 95,526,694 79,658,832
=R Financial liabilities
HEBEKLTEY Financial liabilities at amortised cost
THERE
- EBEREE R ER - Borrowings (principal and interest
MR payable) 460,311,893 534,290,173
- B EMENRE — Trade and other payables (excluding
(TeERNES - salaries payables, other taxes
H ) JE AT A5 I8 K payable and interests payable)
A F B 260,542,833 362,196,789
-MHEaE-H - Lease liabilities — current 2,127,918 2,128,151
-HERAB A - Lease liabilities — non-current 1,254,710 2,659,874
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26. E5 K HAuEATFRIE 26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 5 20234
2024 2023
AR T AR®IT
RMB RMB
BN FIE Trade payables 133,656,822 227,881,226
B NMEREENRIE Payables for construction and equipment 52,025,173 43,323,575
FE AR B Dividend payable 50,671,500 50,671,500
LB RIS B BN TR Payables for operating service fee 10,054,109 25,288,109
H At & < B¢ 18 Other taxes payable 3,759,179 3,455,654
ER #r & Salaries payable 2,184,062 4,103,594
BERBEENFKIE Payables for professional service fee 1,455,881 5,904,579
& Deposits 8,254,812 1,798,802
FETFILE Interests payable - 1,290,173
Hh Others 4,424,536 7,328,998
266,486,074 371,046,210
HR2024F12 8318 ENFEAR As at 31 December 2024, interest payable of RMB4,311,893 was
M4.311,898 LEEFM D EEEN - reclassified to borrowings.
DEEZEHHAEEANBE S EMNFKIEN Ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date are as
RO T follows:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®ET AR T
RMB RMB
DI E Less than 1 year 97,898,555 198,543,206
1224 1 to 2 years 9,065,552 19,974,792
2E3F 2 to 3 years 18,673,002 6,271,121
HBE3F Over 3 years 8,019,713 3,092,107
133,656,822 227,881,226
20244 K2023F12H31H + KN & As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of the
EHEZENFBEHERTMEAARE Group’s trade payables were denominated in RMB.
EIRER
=]
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26. EG K HtbEESRE 2
RE E2028F12A31HILEFE - IR
BiRiEE  BETEZRENREAR
#125,916,462 71 & T & 5 & WK

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continueq)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain trade payables
with an amount of RMB125,916,462 were net off with certain trade
receivables in accordance with the offset agreements.

RT3 -

[H =4
27. B 27. BORROWINGS
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR AR®ETT
RMB RMB
JERNHY: Non-current:
14 18 2| B B0 = HA 1B 3K Long-term borrowings due after
Gz one year (note i) 200,108,017 246,000,000
BOEg Current:
1TERNR B RBER Long-term borrowings due within
(H7#0) one year (note i) 99,159,772 87,000,000
55 HR B =R (AT Aii) Short-term borrowings (note i) 161,044,104 200,000,000
460,311,893 533,000,000
B3 - Note ()):

R2019F - AKBEAT V- ERARBRITES
BT B A R%560,000,0000 M AF I E K
ME R EFRERINEREANEENHE
TEEFEER THARERIERBEER
B o 2020498 « 2021428 « 2022468 &
2022F9 A « FHERA4.9875%H AFHERA
R#21,496,4017T + AR¥26,179,9007T * AR
#£12,833,8187T & A R #28,000,0007T 737 5l B
ZREIRE - B E2023F12A31 ALLFE « AT
BEREEEREER BE2023F12A31B#
EEMIKTEE -

In 2019, the Group entered into a five-year loan facility with an aggregate principal
amount not exceeding RMB560,000,000 from Bank of Communication. Borrowings
drawn down from the loan facility are collateralized by the fixed assets of the Group,
and shall be used in the construction of the industrial gas production plant. In
September 2020, February 2021, June 2022 and September 2022, five-year loans
of RMB21,496,401, RMB26,179,900, RMB12,833,818 and RMB28,000,000 with an
annual interest rate of 4.9875% were drawn down from the facility respectively. All the
outstanding loan was repaid during the year ended 31 December 2023 and there was
no pledged assets as at 31 December 2023.
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27. B

HiEa) : (&)

2022 - REE DR Z=ZERE A M
RITASLFETEB AR %100,000,0007T
MERBE - FRERARIOUHNERARE
100,000,0007% * A & #100,000,0007C & A B
#50,000,0007T 3 o Bl ®2022411 H ~ 2022
F12 8 K2023F1 A B % m & IR HR ° 720245
118 EER02F11ARRHNERARKE
100,000,0007¢ * W EFHLZHERBME - FFI=E
#4.60% 8 B 7 A R #100,000,0007C B % @ &
FEEN » 722024412 A31 H K% 2023%F12 A31H -
A K #186,000,0007T & A K #223,000,0007T
K{EE - HF A R¥96,000,0007T & A R
87,000,0007TC 9 BB #& (B B R K —F A E
HoERBEERAREER -

20214 » REERI Y —HERB ML E L RN
R RITAS 78 T B B A R #200,000,0007T
HEREE - AR#110,000,000TE BB E
IREL - FFIEE5.00% © R2023F6 7 0 i EH
EEERERRBMEEEME - ARH110,000,000
TEBZRERR: F5E AN - R
2024512 A31 8 K&2023F12A318 A B #
110,000,0007¢ & A E #110,000,0007T * &
BoBRBEERREER -

a7 (i) «

20224 - REBETV—HERGRBRTA
$ #WE T B A R #100,000,0007T &) R F H
BERERBE - N2023F12A318 B EF
TR ABIBUHAEERHBETERARE
100,000,0007T & % fER EH A E IR © 12024
F12 8318 » EFEFHED FI/R4.35%5%3.95%
B 8 8 52 B R 17 18 5 A R #40,000,0007T K
AR #20,000,000t EZERE AR E R -
BB IR R EIEAR -

2022 - REB ARG IMEREFET
R 1T AN € 88 /B A R #550,000,0007T #) — &
R E R % & o HR2028F12A31H « &
FERIBRHREREHRTERARE
100,000,000 Jy &8 & fE 3R B H 1B # 18 M -
M2024F12A31H » F 5 E 5§l B4.25% K
4.15% /YA (8 32 55 B IR 17 {5 5k A R #6:50,000,000
7T & A R #50,000,0007T D B & B IR E S ik
R ERBEERREER -

H £2024%F12831H It £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

27. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note (i): (Continued)

In 2022, the Group entered into three loan facilities each with an aggregate principal
amount not exceeding RMB100,000,000 from Bank of Cangzhou respectively. Loans of
RMB100,000,000, RMB100,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 with an annual interest rate
of 4.90% were drawn down from the facilities in November 2022, December 2022 and
January 2023 respectively. In November 2024, a loan of RMB100,000,000 drawn down
in November 2022 was repaid and the loan facility was rescheduled. RMB100,000,000
was drawn from the facility with an annual interest rate of 4.60%. As at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023, RMB186,000,000 and RMB223,000,000 was
outstanding in which RMB96,000,000 and RMB87,000,000 was due within one year
according to repayment schedule, respectively. The borrowings are unsecured and
unguaranteed.

In 2021, the Group entered into a loan facility with an aggregate principal amount
not exceeding RMB200,000,000 from Hebei Tangshan Rural Commercial Bank.
RMB110,000,000 was drawn from the facility with an annual interest rate of 5.00%. In
June 2023, the loan was repaid and the loan facility was rescheduled. RMB110,000,000
was drawn from the facility with an annual interest rate of 4.90%. As at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023, RMB110,000,000 and RMB110,000,000 was
outstanding respectively. The borrowing is unsecured and unguaranteed.

Note (ii):

In 2022, the Group entered a two-year revolving loan facility with an aggregate principal
amount not exceeding RMB100,000,000 from Bank of Communications. As at 31
December 2023, short-term bank borrowings outstanding of RMB100,000,000 with a
fixed rate of 4.35% per annum was drawn down from such revolving loan facility. As
at 31 December 2024, short-term bank borrowings outstanding of RMB40,000,000
and RMB20,000,000 with fixed rate of 4.35% and 3.95% per annum respectively were
drawn down from such revolving loan facility. The borrowings are unsecured and

unguaranteed.

In 2022, the Group entered into two one-year revolving loan agreements each with a
principal amount of RMB50,000,000 from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
respectively. As at 31 December 2023, short term bank borrowings outstanding of
RMB100,000,000 with an annual interest rate of 4.35% was drawn down from each
revolving loan agreement. As at 31 December 2024, short-term bank borrowings
outstanding of RMB50,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 with an annual interest rate
of 4.25% and 4.15% were drawn down from each resolving loan agreement. The
borrowings are unsecured and unguaranteed.
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27. B R @)
R2024F 2 2023F2 A31H » A&
ERATEEE:

27. BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in following currencies:

20245 20234

2024 2023

AR ARETT

RMB RMB

AR RMB 460,311,893 533,000,000

7K & B 720244 2023412 A31H
M ERE BB RN

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the maturities of the Group’s
borrowings are set out as follows:

20245 20234

2024 2023

AR T AR T

RMB RMB

1FE R Within 1 year 260,203,876 287,000,000
1224 Between 1 and 2 years 200,108,017 136,000,000
2FE5HF Between 2 and 5 years - 110,000,000
460,311,893 533,000,000

R2024 % 2023412 A31H ) B B

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the effective interest rates are

FEMT as follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
52 ERERIT B 3K Short-term bank borrowings 4.56% 4.35%
REFIRITERK Long-term bank borrowings 4.92% 4.90%
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28. HEAE 28. LEASE LIABILITIES

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR T ARETT
RMB RMB

=ERMEE KRB Minimum lease payment due
-1FR — Within 1 year 2,241,514 2,313,611
- 1ZE2%F - Between 1 to 2 years 1,132,775 1,528,081
- 2E54F - Between 2 to 5 years 166,500 1,288,594
3,540,789 5,130,286
B ARRBEEH Less: future finance charges (158,161) (342,261)
HEBERE Present value of lease liabilities 3,382,628 4,788,025
- 1R - Within 1 year 2,127,918 2,128,151
- 1224 - Between 1 to 2 years 1,089,561 1,415,744
- 2&5%F — Between 2 to 5 years 165,149 1,244,130
3,382,628 4,788,025
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29. EEFR M 29. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
RIEFTEBFBEITAT: Details of the deferred income tax are analysed as follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR%TT AR
RMB RMB
BIETIAE E Deferred tax assets 4,161,589 4,956,487
BELEHIERE Deferred tax liabilities (51,203,287) (42,633,676)
(47,041,698) (87,677,189)
EHAELEHAEENABALE Details of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and
BRAEFERBATEENFEET movements during the current and prior year is as follows:

¥ BER PREFH EBEZEWKE
RERE BB HERRG at

Impairment Withholding Allowance on

on property, tax on impairment
plant and profit to be of trade
equipment distributed receivables Total
AR®TRT AR® T AR®TRT AR%T
RMB RMB RMB RMB
$H202351A1H As at 1 January 2023 (1,728,958) 27,158,986 (1,575,150) 23,854,878
e,/ (B2) Debited/(credited) to the consolidated
afmERER statement of comprehensive income 308,125 15,474,690 (1,960,504) 13,822,311
M2023F12831H K At 31 December 2023 and
202451 A1H 1 January 2024 (1,420,833) 42,633,676 (3,535,654) 37,677,189
g2/ (B:) Debited/(credited) to the consolidated
AHERARER statement of comprehensive income 1,420,833 8,569,611 (625,935) 9,364,509
M2024512831H At 31 December 2024 = 51,203,287 (4,161,589) 47,041,698
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20. EIEFr 85 H 2

Hiat -

REPRCEMBREREMEBART 5@
BERTRECES RAEERESRIINEELER
AR IR B 5k B2008F1 A1 B &8 E 4 B & F 8
MI0%MTEMT - RIFBBRPWHTERLHE
R+ MR 200841 A1 B Z Al E £ H R 5 Ik & F
BB IR o B A4 SR @ 2 ) AN 5 1B R B B
BRAANKEBE  FtAEBHENMERR
RS IRFEATE £ RETR HAEENESR
ARAIREHRD RN E BRI ERRTIRERE -

RIEFEHREED R A BT EEB B RATHR
HRGAE ZFERERR - M LAR] B i R R B SRR i A
SHBARBESRRR - K20245F12A31H -
N6 B 3 £ BB B A R #5101,309,257 7T (2023
F: AR#90,072,9867T) fERIE LT FT15 &

29. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (continueq)

Note:

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its related regulations, the
Group is subject to a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or
arrangements, for dividends distributed by a PRC enterprise to its immediate holding
company outside the PRC or earnings generated beginning on 1 January 2008 and
undistributed earnings generated prior to 1 January 2008 are exempted from such
withholding tax. Since, the Group controls the dividend policy of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries, deferred tax liability arising from the undistributed profits of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries is only provided to the extent that such profits are expected to be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carrying forwards and
deductible temporary differences to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
did not recognise deferred income tax assets in respect of losses of RMB101,309,257
(2023: RMB90,072,986). These tax losses will expire from 2025 to 2034.

E o ZEMIEBEEN2025F £ 2034 F 2| H o

30. R 30. SHARE CAPITAL

[ Evig - gE| ok |
Number of

shares Amount

EE Authorised
= IR H {2£0.0001 = T #Y Ordinary shares of USD0.0001 200,000% 7T
TER: each: (HBERARE
1,388,6917LT)
HR2024F12 A31H & At 31 December 2024 and UsSD200,000

2023F 12 A31H 31 December 2023 (Equivalent to

2,000,000,000 RMB1,388,691)

[ gvig - gE| AR® R
Number of
shares RMB
ERTRBEEER: Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:
R20245F12 A31A & At 31 December 2024 and
2023%12A31H 31 December 2023 1,200,000,000 836,016
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31. #E 31. RESERVES

rE The Group

B £20244F %2023F12 A31H IF 4 Details of the movements of the Group’s reserves for the years

B AEEREREEHFEEINRNEH ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are presented in the

EEEERK - consolidated statement of changes in equity.

BmANREEOEERENDOT The nature and purposes of reserves within equity as follows:

@ BHEERAEZXEBEARMNEAE (@ Share premium is arising from the issuance of new shares
I EREITHARGD - R20194 at price in excess of the par value of the shares. In June
6 ANEEHECGIFILRBEE 2019, the Group entered into an interest-free loan agreement
;i E - A€ £ 559,650,000 with CGI with the principal amount of USD9,650,000. In
% JT > R2019F11 8 » CGI # November 2019, CGI capitalised such shareholder loan into
EEBRREERERBARRT 4,245 494 shares of the Company, of which RMB2,989 and
4,245,494 fIx1n - ER AR RMB67,930,117 were recorded as share capital and other
2,989t & A R #67,930,117 7T reserves, respectively.

DRI RBRA R B HE o

(o) EEEBFEEERBEAET (b)  Statutory surplus reserves represented the amount transferred
EERFPBRKIOHERTN from net profit for the year of the subsidiaries established in
FRAEF (ERKB AT R E the PRC (based on the subsidiaries PRC statutory financial
EEMBRE)ERBOKIE & statements) in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until
EREETRABRBEERZE the statutory surplus reserves reach 50% of the registered
WEARFEMEAKS0% A LE © capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserves
ZEEERBBEBTANRA - cannot be reduced except either in setting off the accumulated
ERANEERFTERIEER losses or increasing capital, provided the remaining balance
BRoh - BARRENRTEHRT of this reserve is not less than 25% registered capital of the
BLRZEMB AR GZEMER subsidiaries.

#25% o

gEoh - IRBRBIINE B EIER In addition, in accordance with the law of the PRC on
FRNEBEEMBATESE enterprises with foreign investments and the stipulated
AR IR E - HIHAESF provisions of the articles of association of wholly owned foreign
ERENRTBEEENLERE subsidiaries in the PRC, appropriation from net profits (after
HZEAREITERATE BN offsetting accumulated losses brought forward from prior
HES PETREESOMA years) should be made by these companies to their respective
MBEDLEAFIOREERAI10% ° Reserve Fund. The percentage of net profit to be appropriated
ERBEESEREINTIMER to the Reserve Fund is not less than 10% of the net profit.
50% s Al B 7 B K o When the balance of the Reserve Fund reaches 50% of the

registered capital, such transfer needs not be made.
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3. RE=

AEBEE)

©

EXEZHEBRBRBRENAREN
SNEOTHBE B S BR M0 B B 7S
BREENAARBREEZE -
TR B S 40 T R & 5T
BURAETTRRIE

AEENEBKELERRIEILE
HREERAR(EHRE)N
2007 R BEERR - BAR
a) Koon] i % 19 5 BR 2~ 71 (150 4 AR
2 1) 52 BB 50% M 50% 2 °
R20155F « IRIBE—RV|ARIEHA
ek TR B ERNE RS
HI50% [ B TAAAF] - AR
B 2 EM B AT L8R
BEEMEEERAR(LEERE
BHMDEFENARFEETRG
HI150% ° s ARIEMEE - FElR
B ABAARINZENBAR
AR R) /A _E 5 B E 21 K CGl
2 Bl #EB50% N 50% HE 7% o

72007 FRK I FEIH R AR R - AR
A ROm i % & B R EEAER
LB Bl e E i R AR RE AT B
AR#72,068,6007T ° HLiA A%
EEME « MR D EEHR
Bilvima BTEHAEE
MR Hm & THREREZED
RERN ((ZEYERBE) 5
fRAS0F - AENEMRENIE
NAEELHR - EEYERHE
MM TEHEESYMEREZR  Z
EHEREZEYEEZETEN
REERBTEBRGHEE - B
BE=-HHEMENNGER
HEFHNEFREZSEAE
HEWZHRENEBAARE
72,068,6007T ° FEil & EEKZE
B AR RPEE R
BEE HEFBHEFEEID
FEANBEE  WEFEAERAT
AR D EMREN L E%A
[EM G Z e RBAT A RP R H
] -

H £2024%F12831H It £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

31. RESERVES (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

(c) Currency translation differences comprise all relevant
translation differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of operations with functional currency
other than RMB. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policy set out in note 4(c).

(d) Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. (“TTG”), the major
operating company of the Group, was established in 2007 as a
joint venture company owned as to 50% by the Company and
50% by HBIS Company Limited (‘HBIS Company”). In 2015,
pursuant to a series of corporate restructuring agreements,
HBIS Company transferred its 50% equity interests in TTG to
the Company in exchange for 50% of the Company’s issued
shares which were held by Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment
Co., Ltd. (“SH Huitang Zhihe”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of HBIS Company. Following this corporate restructuring, TTG
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the
Company became owned as to 50% by SH Huitang Zhihe and
50% by CGl.

Upon establishment of TTG in 2007, each of the Company
and the HBIS Company agreed to make additional capital
contributions into TTG in the same proportion with the
amount of RMB72,068,600, respectively. With respect to
HBIS Company’s contribution, HBIS Company entered into
an agreement with TTG to grant TTG the rights to use
certain of HBIS Company’s plants and buildings (“Building
Use Agreement”) for a period of 30 years, same as official
joint venture period of 30 years of TTG. The Building Use
Agreement also specified that the plants and buildings should
be transferred to TTG as HBIS Company’s capital contribution
when the property certificates are obtained. Based on a
valuation report issued by a third-party appraiser, both parties
agreed that the value of such use rights as at the agreement
date was RMB72,068,600. TTG recorded this amount as
right of use assets in its statement of financial position,
and amortized them on a straight-line basis over the 30-
year period, and correspondingly credited “other reserves”
under equity since the use rights were considered as HBIS
Company’s capital contribution to TTG.
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31. RE=

rER#E)

©)

(&)

MARAME * ARAEHRE
& - Ro007E HEMAES
YRBRHERLZH A&
% 8 N R #72,068,6007T © &
SREABR B30 » #5140 £ SCATt
PSR B & Y R
TEMKEE BHERARE
HRENEHER - REER
2015 AR B4 - AR AL
TRESZENREROER T
CGl ° IREE L5 XCGIEH
AR BREEREREZE
HERFEEBEAENES
I ¥ 5Z E R IH R 8% A2015F12
A31RAHE BRI RS
B E A -

201812 A+ A & [# £ CGl
IV BEARE R FER
ZH - FIHNEFREREHR
BBRICCGIIEHEEIR$9.658 8
F L (HEE R AR66,667,025
TL) o BRI AHEMEEES
B R ©

RCGIHEEMRENERE
RATRIENRIE  EiNRga
A A% 0 BT S W AR IR BT AR UE £
MmEEYFE ARG - WL —
HYMEEFAHZE B
& i RS S 18 A5 B A RZ E IR
E X ZEYym D3
© o Al BEIMRENALLER
THETABREENREHER
AR #44,041,9227T © #HE £
HMOBHMHEEEART R -

R2024%12 A31H @ IREHE
BABRER R FE & B IR BB e [ b
¥L2HEBRRDMNERE
Bk BETENB ARG
HBEAH A RE47,930,9027T
(20234 : A R#£43,543,3297T)
BAAIDEZEEERES

31. RESERVES (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

(@)
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With respect to the Company, the Company made cash
contribution and entered into an interest free long-term loan
arrangement with TTG in 2007, with a total principal amount
of RMB72,068,600. The term of the loan was 30 years and
shall be automatically converted into TTG’s paid-in capital upon
the transfer of HBIS Company’s plants and buildings to TTG
as described above. In the Group’s corporate restructuring
in 2015, the Company transferred its right on the loan to
CGI at Nil consideration. Based on the contractual terms
and the commitment made by CGI, management concluded
that the loan did not meet the definition of financial liability
and recorded the amount in “other reserves” in equity in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2015.

In December 2018, the Group entered into agreement with
CGl to early terminate the above loan agreement and both
parties agreed that the loan would be fully settled with a cash
repayment of USD 9.65 million (equivalent to RMB66,667,025)
by TTG to CGI. The repayment was recorded as a reduction
in the balance of other reserves.

Concurrent with the early termination of the loan agreement
between CGI and TTG, TTG and HBIS Company entered
into an agreement to early terminate the above Building Use
Agreement and entered into a new Assets Use Agreement
whereby TTG will pay rental fees to HBIS Company for the
use of the plants and buildings going forward. Accordingly,
TTG wrote off the unamortised balance of the right of use
assets with the amount of RMB44,041,922 at the time of the
termination, with the same amount being reduced from the
balance of other reserves.

As at 31 December 2024, amounts of RMB47,930,902 (2023:
RMB43,543,329) included the reserves of subsidiaries in the
PRC were undistributable which is for production safety fund
in accordance with the “Administrative Measures for the Actual
and Use of Expense for Work Safety” issued by the Ministry
of Finance and the Ministry of Emergency Management of the
PRC.
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2. ER AT KA R KT 32. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

20245 20234
2024 2023
H it AR®ERT AR
Notes RMB RMB
ERBEE Non-current assets
CRAREE Right-of-use assets 878,933 1,499,357
AR —HHEAF Investment in a subsidiary 920,668,379 920,668,379
BERT—REME QR Loan to a subsidiary 222,249,600 217,492,800
HE®RS Rental deposit - 173,994
1,143,796,912 1,139,834,530
REBEE Current assets
e Deposit 176,277 -
JiE Uk B8 Bt 5 FR0E Amount due from a related party 40,880 45,311
ReMReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 19,537,802 13,718,956
19,754,959 13,764,267
REBEE Current liabilities
ZoNEMENFE Trade and other payables 53,348,315 54,706,079
JE A — BB B A B ZUE Amount due to a subsidiary - 385,656
HEAaRE Lease liability 707,942 744,156
54,056,257 55,835,891
REBEEFE Net current liabilities (34,301,298) (42,071,624)
BEERADERS Total assets less current liabilities 1,109,495,614 1,097,762,906
FEREBEE Non-current liability
HEBE Lease liability 297,798 948,986
EEFE NET ASSETS 1,109,197,816 1,096,813,920
EXRRf#EE Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 30 836,016 836,016
i Reserves 1,225,642,832 1,225,215,520
2EEE Accumulated losses (117,281,032) (129,237,616)
R TOTAL EQUITY 1,109,197,816 1,096,813,920
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2. ERATINBBEARRLE 32. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF
() FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

AR ERNHEEESOT The movements of the Company’s reserves during the reporting
period are as follows:

% 13 % B EREH Rt BB @t
Currency
Share translation Accumulated
premium differences losses Total
AR®TT AR®TRT AR®xR AR%R
RMB RMB RMB RMB
M2023F1H1AH At 1 January 2023 1,208,504,005 13,557,266 (113,763,366)  1,108,297,905
FRER Loss for the year - - (15,474,250) (15,474,250)
BREARRAIMEEZ Exchange differences arising on
ERZESE translation of the Company - 3,154,249 - 3,154,249
M2023F128318 K At 31 December 2023 and
2024%1H1A 1 January 2024 1,208,504,005 16,711,515 (129,237,616)  1,095,977,904
F W& F Profit for the year - - 11,956,584 11,956,584
BEARAIMEEZ Exchange differences arising on
ERZER translation of the Company - 427,312 - 427,312
M2024%12831H At 31 December 2024 1,208,504,005 17,138,827 (117,281,032) 1,108,361,800
R2024F12 A31H » &EFAKRRARZ As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserve available for
R mER R EEE  AARPH distribution, factoring in the share premium and accumulated
DIk EEHA/ARE,091,222,9737C losses of the Company, amounted to RMB1,091,222,973 (2023:
(2023%F : A R#1,079,266,3897T) ° RMB1,079,266,389).
BREFRSAREEIEER])  XAFRZ Under the Cayman Companies Act (as revised), the share premium of
B aEREARBETHIK &4 the Company can be distributed as dividend on the condition that the
RARRBHRNEERZBERIRN Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in the ordinary
KREAHERBEKBERIBANE course of business immediately following the date on which the
1% o AN - AR B2k AR5 % B 78 5 dividend is proposed to be paid. Additionally, the distribution of share
AARRRIBEAR NG AL EZ 2 4R premium as a dividend must be approved by an ordinary resolution
BATBRAERIE - passed by the shareholders of the Company in accordance with the

Company’s Article of Association.
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33. RMNB AR WA &= 33. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
R20244F 2023412 A318 - K & Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
ANAElFBEIT: shown as follows:
BRER/
WERARER TRALHY BRfER KRR LR EL D) TEEH
Paid up capital/  Proportion of equity interest
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation registered capital  attributable to the Company Principal activities
B Z12R318
As at December 31,
2024% 2023F
2024 2023
BERE:
Directly held:
ELERREERAA(H2) P HREERA ARH777,965,404 7T 100% 100% IXRENEERMRE
Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd.” (notg) PRC, limited liability company* RMB777,965,404 100% 100%  Production and supply of
industrial gases
BERE:
Indirectly held:
REEARRARAR M) B BEREERA AE%12,000,0007C 100% 100%  RICRBENEERMRE
Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd.” (nofg) PRC, limited liability company RMB12,000,000 100% 100%  Production and
supply of LNG
BUEERINMANERAR W Z) E - FREERA AR 153,000,000 100% 100%  AERICKKRRMNEHR
Tangshan Tangsteel Dongxin Village Gases PRC, limited liability company RMB3,000,000 100% 100%  An automobile LNG
Refuelling Station Co., Ltd." fote) filing station
MeE: FTERARMERA12A31BIIEAEY K Note: All companies have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.
FEHKEH -
PRBRBEEEERANIEEESE * Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law

* The English is for identification purpose only.
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34. EREIE 34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
RERBINERREENERST H Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not yet
LU incurred is as follows:

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR%T AR
RMB RMB
LA B DA TS Y o B Commitments for the acquisition of:
—WE - BEIEE - Property, plant and equipment 55,676,466 17,263,238

B5.BEHATRS 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
i —H A EE R EEES S - HR Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
S AVEH B @A SR R i H AT directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
TERTEN REFTHEREH influence over the other party in making financial and operating
HEoMERZHRAZES HFEKX decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are
FESBMAEES  METTESRA subject to common control, common significant influence or joint
A& - control.

THR R ACEASEREEHK, The following companies are related parties of the Group that had
XRGHRNEE @ - balances and/or transactions with the Group.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

35. @B AR F 2

(@) ZEBEREBBELTNER (@) Names and relationships with related parties
=L B
Name Relationship
hEREREERAF(CGI) [
China Gas Investors Ltd. (‘CGI") Shareholder
FEEESNREERAA(LEEEBN]) R
Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment Co., Ltd. (“SH Huitang Zhihe’) Shareholder

AR RERAR(CTERA))
HBIS Company Limited (“HBIS Company”)

LEBRBANG AT

Parent company of SH Huitang Zhihe

BLRHEEEEREEAR(DTHESR]) a8 B 17 B R 3R
Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Co., Ltd. (‘HBIS Tangsteel”) Shareholder of HBIS Company
MHEmERAR(CTHEE]) M ERN SRR

HBIS Group Co., Ltd. (‘HBIS”)
BLRERMARAAF

Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate Co., Ltd.
ERBRENERAR

Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace Charge Co., Ltd.
L= HEFR AR

HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co., Ltd.
BEUAGHERAT AR

Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.

Parent company of HBIS Tangsteel

A8 B 1 B B R R
Subsidiary of HBIS Company
A58 B A B B R A
Subsidiary of HBIS Company
88 R 17 B B 2 )
Subsidiary of HBIS Company
A E W B AR
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel

BLRHESEERERERAA A 5 7 S ) R R R
Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Heavy Machinery and Equipment Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
BLUREEERRIERERAR A 5 7 S ) Bt B R R

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd.
BUEITAREREREELT

Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda Electric Co., Ltd.

EHR (L) KBEREELA

Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan) Water Co., Ltd.

Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
EE okl NG
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
AHERGBEA
Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
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5. @BEAIRF 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(a) ZEBEREBBELINER (a) Names and relationships with related parties
(%) (Continued)
% B
Name Relationship
EMESELDECIERRA(ERES]) MHERABEA

HBIS Tangsteel Meijin (Tangshan) Coal Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Tangshan Meijin”)

JE sk B

Tangshan Hongci Hospital

EHERTIERERNERAR

Tangsteel International Engineering Technology Corp.

EILEENHNEERAF

Tangshan Huitang Wulian Technology Co., Ltd.

ERN(LB)REEBARAT

CGlI (Shanghai) Investment Management Co., Ltd.

BILEEHEERHERAF

Tangshan Huitang New Business Co., Ltd.

BLRHASEEL(RRANA(ELEE])

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Jinheng Enterprise Development Corporation
(“Tangshan Jinheng”)

EL2EANBRERAR

Tangshan Jinheng Human Resource Management Co., Ltd.

BILBEIERMREERAF

Tangshan Huitang Industrial Technology Service Co., Ltd.

MEEERRLA

HBIS Group Hong Kong Co., Limited

AR BRER LA

HBIS-POSCO Automotive Steel Co., Ltd.

ALMERREBEZHERAF

Hebei Iron and Steel Construction Group Leting Co. Ltd.

Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
A EmA B E A
Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
AHEERGBEA
Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
AEERNBEA
Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
—ZHERENHERR
Subsidiary of an indirect shareholder
A58 R B A ]
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
A 58 75 S ) O 2
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel

EleENHEAF
Subsidiary of Tangshan Jinheng
A 5 7 S ) B R A
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
i E ol =INS]
Subsidiary of HBIS
MHEENAELE

Joint Venture of HBIS
ARE BN E AR
Subsidiary of HBIS
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(b) HEABLTHWEARS

()

B B W R M A
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(b) Significant transactions with related parties

BELHEX Y% - () Purchases of utilities, property, plant and
V4 equipment
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥TT AR T
RMB RMB
A1 8 iz 10 7 PR 1 7] HBIS Company Limited 22,572 50,065,154
BILTFEMERE T Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
NG 25,119 71,904
EILFERMBRAR  Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 219,958,456 218,284,548
& #f % 87 Tangshan Meijin 118,618,075 186,183,838
B8 B S 7 (B LL) K7 Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan) Water
BEREERA Co., Ltd. 10,953,012 12,418,660
BElLal T RERER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
Egaa/NG] Electric Co., Ltd. - 9,215,602
ML =ME AR AT HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co.,
Ltd. 467,824,275 455,283,310
817,401,509 931,523,016
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5. B @

(b) BEBEABAOIMNERRS @)

(i) HEEdm

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

(Continued)

(i) Sales of products

2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR AR®IT
RMB RMB
A1 88 B% 1 B PR 1 A HBIS Company Limited 333,580 1,205,007
AL S R @44 =  Hebei Iron and Steel Construction
BRAA] Group Leting Co. Ltd. 164,752 -
EILFERMBR QA Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 329,447,551 335,457,628
BILH#EEEm% 958 Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
AR AR High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd. 20,293,436 35,699,114
FE §if 5% 87 Tangshan Meijin 7,292,080 12,015,538
FEILMEEEE®ERE  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
BRAF Heavy Machinery and Equipment
Co., Ltd. 1,068,721 1,152,473
EILSAEERT Tangshan Hongci Hospital 148,230 278,650
EILMEEE AR ET  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
NG Co., Ltd. 48,337 1,770,872
FEILAIZT A KERHBR Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
BEAQA Electric Co., Ltd. 12,102 27,511
iR = M AR AT HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel
Co., Ltd. 644,891,642 677,901,710
A HEIE R ERE R HBIS-POSCO Automotive Steel
NG Co., Ltd. 5,332,301 1,199,561

1,009,032,732

1,066,708,064
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5. @B AR Z 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EREBAEMNEARS (&) (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(Continued)
(i) [ EGHE T FE (1 5k 8 B i (i)  Gas transmission and other services provided to
K B iR 7% related parties
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR ARBETT
RMB RMB
A1 88 % 19 7B BR A 7 HBIS Company Limited 34,991,085 27,238,028
BILHEEEm% /958 Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
RAER QR High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd. = 2,287,278
B S REEE AR AR Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace Charge
Co., Ltd. = 990,000
34,991,085 30,515,306
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5. B @

(b) BEBEABAOIMNERRS @)

(iv) EZRE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

(Continued)

(iv)  Receipt of services

2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR®T AR T
RMB RMB
AR B R AR HBIS Company Limited = 34,252,245
=N S 1 Tangshan Hongci Hospital 303,555 474,115
BLHEEEAREM  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
NS Co., Ltd. 708,989 1,685,945
FILME EESENM%¥  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
ERB AT Jinheng Enterprise Development
Corporation 452,065 2,463,182
EILFERMBER AT Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. = 349,430
FL&EANERAER Tangshan Jinheng Human
NG Resource Management Co., Ltd. 1,976,202 1,214,084
BLEEYWHAIZAER Tangshan Huitang Wulian
NG Technology Co., Ltd. 90,473 271,420
BILEETERMMRAE Tangshan Huitang Industrial
BRAA Technology Service Co., Ltd. 147,257 154,619
3,678,541 40,765,040
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BL5.BEAERZ ) 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EREBAEMNEARS (&) (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(Continued)
V) BB TREEEE (v)  Interest expenses on lease liabilities due to related
FIE B parties
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ R AR T
RMB RMB
] 8 A% 1D B IR A R HBIS Company Limited 98,021 125,127
A 8 5 A BR A A HBIS Group Hong Kong
Co., Limited 72,030 54,768
170,051 179,895
i) FBEEMF (vi)  Purchase of materials
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ R AR T
RMB RMB
A % 1 B BR A E) HBIS Company Limited - 11,070
(vii) W T BE FAEE (vii)  Right-of-use assets acquired from related parties
E
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR R AREETT
RMB RMB
BB FR AR HBIS Group Hong Kong
Co., Limited = 1,861,270
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5. B @

(c) EREAEET VA& &k
() EBEZENFKE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties

(i) Trade receivables

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T AR T
RMB RMB
AR B R AR HBIS Company Limited 48,778,101 11,364,191
% = M ARAF  HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel
Co., Ltd. 211,393,951 289,009,488
BEILFERM AR AT Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 262,607,653 211,841,028
BWAFEMERET Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
NG = 20,780,346
BN #EEEm% 258 Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
RAB R AT High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd. 17,163,089 7,389,345
EILMM#EEEEMEE  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
BRAF Heavy Machinery and Equipment
Co., Ltd. 5,203,580 4,117,445
EiSREEE AR AT Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace Charge
Co., Ltd. = 1,272,000
EILMEEE AR ET  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
NS Co., Ltd. 225,961 3,269,396
=GN <10 Tangshan Hongci Hospital - 38,375
S TERMRAE AR Hegang Industrial Technology
NG Service Co., Ltd. 94,360 94,360
AR IR T EREB R HBIS-POSCO Automotive Steel
NG| Co., Ltd. 2,021,673 1,355,504
547,488,368 550,531,478
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

H i JE W5 E (i) Other receivables
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR®RT ARMETT
RMB RMB
ELMEEEABREE  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Co.,
NGT Ltd. - 8,930
EEBEEMMEEBMR Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment
NC] Co., Ltd. 40,880 45,311
40,880 54,241
FEUR GBS 7 ey B At 5k T8 T Other receivables due from related parties are
I - N A RIEER unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
& o demand.
= oN=F- (i) Contract liabilities
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T AR
RMB RMB
=4I Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
HEERATA Electric Co., Ltd. 2,093 2,093
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5. B @

(c) ESREAEETT MY RR(#E)
() BEZENAE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(iv)  Trade payables

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T AR T
RMB RMB
A1 8 B% 19 7B PR ] HBIS Company Limited 24,139 22,769
& #f 5% 87 Tangshan Meijin 70,703,080 153,406,923
EILFERM AR LA Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 25,744,066 26,751,150
B 8 Bk 57 HE (B L) 7K 7 Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan) Water
BEREME QA Co., Ltd. 4,718,022 5,141,118
BEILEEYWHEREER Tangshan Huitang Wulian
A A] Technology Co., Ltd. 97,552 289,356
BElLHEEBAEREMT Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
NS Co., Ltd. 875,526 911,724
BELlal T RER/REMR Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
BEERAR] Electric Co., Ltd. 53,044 53,044
FILME EESEBNM%¥  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
ERE AT Jinheng Enterprise Development
Corporation = 151,194
BlLEETERMMRYE Tangshan Huitang Industrial
BRAA Technology Service Co., Ltd. 341,120 174,720
102,556,549 186,901,998
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5. @B ERFZ 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) EHEBEMNERE) (c) Balances with related parties (Continued)
) HMENZKE (v)  Other payables
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR AR T
RMB RMB
FEREREBR AR China Gas Investors Ltd. 50,671,500 50,671,500
A 8 Bz 10 B PR 7 HBIS Company Limited 7,027,163 21,531,750
BlWal T RER/RER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
EAERQTF Electric Co., Ltd. 7,094,722 5,111,667
EILA#EMARSEME A  Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
Al 700 700
N (EE)REEE  CGll (Shanghai) Investment
BRAA] Management Co., Ltd. - 7,500,000
BB TR M Tangsteel International Engineering
BRAA] Technology Corp. 400,000 2,586,900
65,194,085 87,402,517
FEAST BEESE 5 9 At 5RIB T Other payables due to related parties are unsecured,
A PEERIREK non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
BiE -
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5. B @

(c) EEEAEETS V& &R ()

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

i) THEEA[E (i) Lease liabilities

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR T AR
RMB RMB
A B B R A F) HBIS Company Limited 2,053,926 2,621,905

A & B A R A A HBIS Group Hong Kong Co.,
Limited 1,005,740 1,693,143
3,059,666 4,315,048

BHHENERERES
CFERBEEEGRRES
il &R EHAERTEHIR
BHEEA KT AR R
ERER -

(d BAREEASNEMH
s EIE A BRF AR H B

The balances which are trading in nature will be settled
in accordance with respective normal commercial credit
terms, and the balances of lease liabilities are expected
to be settled according to the payment schedule
prescribed in the lease contracts.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of members of key management during the

T year was as follows:
2024 £ 20234
2024 2023
AR T ARBETT
RMB RMB
ITERF® Wages and salaries 4,442,891 5,380,277
FEATES - BERKBR & Housing funds, medical insurance and
H b4t & 18 7 4 50 other social welfare contributions 186,281 159,745
BIRKA—-REMSFKETE]  Pension costs — defined contribution
plans 181,528 133,689
4,810,700 5,673,711
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36. B 15 B be B B

AEENESEEERRLLBREST
B RSB TAMAZEEMBE
@ BARBETSRR(ZER
SNEE LB A A R R ) - = B R B A
RBUEESER - EFEBTAN
BEATHERRE - AEERER
RREESETRERMENRER
AEE YSREEREHAEEY
BREANBETHNZE - EFTHE
- AR Ko RF (A LR - 3 K B 6 RE
BHERMBEARMNER - BitES
BITEBBEAERIA N AL R SR E
It 55 B T SR AN BOR B SIA0 T o

(@) FEER
FHERRRESRIANSS
HFBFZBTHERESMTA
168 5K ) 24 T 45 B S B 3 K
Bf B 18 R LB -

AEENEERREZEAR
HE 5 WA - H A YR
EMRERBCEEY - B
BOHEEERER LHEE
TERMEERR -

REEIW EH R 5 EFRUS T
T EERBRSEY  ERZE5E
WK TE 4P HI89% (2023 4F
97%) K90% (20234 : 98%) 7
FIEWAEBREREPMAS
BRRBWER o

H £2024%F12831H It £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks which
result from the use of financial instruments in its ordinary course
of operations. The financial risks include market risks (mainly
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
notes below. The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The directors
meet regularly to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate
strategies to manage financial risks on timely and effective manner.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies
applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are set out below.

(@) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms
of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the
Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group does not obtain collateral from the counterparties.
At the end of reporting period, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 89% (2023: 97%) and 90%
(2023: 98%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.
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36. A RERE»

(a)

EEREE
=y 1. ¢/ ¢:
K%l?ﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁéi,ﬁﬁ%ﬁ,ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
BEONSEEESERIE
WEEEE - RITE2EMEE
BB ALEEERAREER
R N e B R B B S R IR
RIEEITHME - EHEWFRIE
WIEREEEBRDE2ZEEE
ANBEEVCZHBLREERE
HAEREBRARTHRER
BEBREMEL G - BEE
EEBRNTBEENEMEER 1
ZWR%TQE?/’ET BANEEE
W SR TE B 7 ) B2 BE R R AT s AR
e

R2024F12A31H T IR E 5
ERRERERBEARK
26,577,19270 (2023%F : AR ¥
23,498,7707T) °

AEEERENTFBTHAAEA
AMATEMEER  BEETR
RITENTBHEREMBHG
BEKE THELERRAESRE
N N R

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

(a)
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Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. To measure the ECLs,
the trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs
on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix
by reference to past default experience of the debtor, current
market condition in relation to each debtor’s exposure. The
ECLs also
reference to general macroeconomic conditions that may affect

incorporated forward-looking information with

the ability of the debtors to settle receivables.

An impairment provision of RMB26,577,192 (2023:
RMB23,498,770) for trade receivables was made at 31
December 2024.

The management of the Group has also assessed all available

forward-looking information, including but not limited to
expect growth rate of the industry and expected subsequent
settlement, and concluded that there no significant increase

in credit risk.
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36. M5B EE e

(a)

EERRE
EZEWFIE (E)
R2024F12A31H A& B E
5 FE IR 3K TH £989% (2023 4F :
97%) 3k & 1 8 52 B A5 R A 7] &
EffB AR - AECERER
BNBEZARBOIEREE
) EREFMKEEEN
XGBEBEARERTEE
EREBEITEAAMKE &
BETEAMEXTRNEKNIE
Ko BERTAEEERR (B1F
KB ) K {E BT BB
180K - I BEERBEF P B
RS - B S B R E M B 2= 5T
HHEEEFPHEEEE - 210
EWHEORREERY - &

BERE AEBXEEESH
EWFEHRE TS E NMEER
% o LA - 2024 4F 220234

128318 » WEERTME K
A F 9 IR AR K2 TR A 2R 4 Ak
e

H i fE W TR
E@JEH%AIEE’J%E,HM?EEETE
BRI AT

Y195 58 By 3 4 3R 5 BORUE
B ELA R WK IR D BB AR [ 5 —
Bl MAKEREEZEEE

- BAEREEBERZ
1216 A &£ %5

irE e

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, approximately 89% (2023: 97%)
of the Group’s trade receivables were due from HBIS Group
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, joint venture and their respective
associates (collectively the “HBIS Group”). Given the strong
business relationship with the HBIS Group and its good
reputation, management does not expect that there will be
any significant losses from non-performance by HBIS Group.
The credit period granted to the Group’s customers, including
the HBIS Group, is usually no more than 180 days and the
credit quality of these customers is assessed, which takes
into account their financial position, past experience and other
factors. In view of the sound collection history of receivables
due from them, management believes that the credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade receivables balances
due from them is not significant. In addition, there was no
significant unfavourable current conditions and forecast future
economic conditions identified as at 31 December 2024 and
2028.

Other receivables
ECLs model for other receivables are summarised below:

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition are classified in “Stage 1” and have their credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group. The ECLs are measured

on a 12-month basis.
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36. A RERE» 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(@ SERREE (@) Credit risk (Continued)
H 1t fE Y 50 () Other receivables (Continued)
- WEIBAVIRERANRE - If a significant increase in credit risk (as define below)
BERR(EERETX) MR since initial recognition is identified, the financial
ANt Alzzem T A instrument is moved to “Stage 2” but it not yet deemed

WRAEE R M

AR B LREERE -

EHRBEERERRE2N
HEHE .

- fHemIALREER
B AlZemIAKET
[E=FE] - BEEHE
B BIEEEERE -

- WRE—REBRE_R
B FMBWADNZRER
BECRMBREERE) T
HowepmITAEERTIN
EERBEE=RFR) =
SEBIERHE R ERARM
B A A B R AR (BR
HARBENREERE M
WIEBR AR EE A ERF
ZOEFTER B A o

R2024F K 2023%12 A31H -
HMEW R EBERTRER
% AAREBUENEEDH
MEAMERRENEE - K&

] 7R A HL th JE U IR R (B B 52
BWAEK -

to be credit-impaired. The ECLs are measured on lifetime
basis.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”. The ECLs are
measured on lifetime basis.

At Stages 1 and 2,
the gross carrying amount (without deducting the

interest income is calculated on
loss allowance). If a financial instrument subsequently
becomes credit-impaired (Stage 3), the Group is required
to calculate the interest income by applying the effective
interest method in subsequent reporting periods to the
amortised cost of the financial asset (the gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) rather than the gross
carrying amount.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no provision was made

against the gross amount of other receivables because the

Group considered the impact of the impairment of other

receivables to be insignificant based on past credit history and

the nature of other receivables.
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36. A RERE»

(a)

(b)

FERR@E

R REEZFEYUALRIEL
7 1BEGIA R A7 & Wz 8y
EREE
REEBREMNASFEYIN
kBRI BEFSAEMES K
SHEREEELNAR X
SEERIHANMHBEENE
BRUNEREBERS - T8
BEEZSTREBEHENE
HIESE

EERE-EERER  HR
BRERERARENAR -

REBE SRR

mEE R RPN E E &
FERITEARNRESHEME
REEGENTRAMGEMERED
BEEMRER AEEELER
5 K B AR A IR IA RIR £ R
EEREFTHAZRDESR
R ARENBEREEREER
IKFHRBEENAENRE
BE R EEHNMRBNR

RER AEBE-—BHERBRY
BB EFRB/AKE—
EAREERDETER

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at FVOCI/

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and
financial assets at FVOCI, the Group only transacts with state-
owned or reputable financial institutions in mainland China.
There is no recent history of default in relation to those financial
institution.

The credit policies have been consistently applied and are
considered to be effective in managing the Group’s exposure.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement
of trade and other payables and also in respect of its cash
flow management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The liquidity policy has been followed by the Group during the
year and is considered by the directors to have been effective
in managing liquidity risks.
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36. A RERE» 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) RBELERZ) (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

TRHBAEAEE SR ABNR
TEHBNMBE - DAKREH
TRHEENRURRERER
ANFOKRFARASEE -

The following table summarises the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

PIME 1828 2255 @zt REE
More than More than
Less than 1 year but less 2 years but less Carrying
1 year than 2 years than 5 years Total Amount
AR®T ARET AR®T AR¥T AR®T
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
R2024%£12831A At 31 December 2024
ERAERETHE) Borrowings (principal and accrued
interest) 279,976,236 197,805,664 = 477,781,900 460,311,893
BHREMERTIE Trade and other payables
(TRERNHE R (excluding salaries payables and
EfEfHE) other tax payables) 260,542,833 = = 260,542,833 260,542,833
HEAE Lease liabilities 2,241,514 1,132,775 o 3,540,789 3,382,628
542,760,583 198,938,439 = 741,865,522 724,237,354
72023124318 At 31 December 2023
B (Ae REFFE) Borrowings (principal and accrued
interest) 307,322,250 145,677,500 112,695,000 565,694,750 534,290,173
BHREMERFTE Trade and other payables
(TRREERES (excluding salaries payables,
HthERHERERFS) other tax payables and
interests payable) 362,196,789 5 - 362,196,789 362,196,789
HEaRE Lease liabilities 2,313,611 1,528,081 1,288,594 5,130,286 4,788,025
671,832,650 147,205,581 113,983,594 938,021,825 901,274,987
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36. A RERE»

(c)

A = & by

A 2 [, B B g 70 T 355 ) R B
MERETMTANAABENK
RenE8RtRPNRARER -
AEENFERBREERER
MR SEHEY - LWFEBHF X
AREMEREARERBER S
mE R RE R AR E F
AEMEREASER
EEMNEER -

L
YNV

HWRERBEFEWHH X
#5018 £ & - R & 22024
F 202312 A1 HILFER
Bk BT 15 % A )i ) F& 25 Bl 38 A0
4N RHES19,424TT 0 A R
1,013,0887T °

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(c)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk primarily
arose from cash and cash equivalents. Those carried at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk whereas
those carried at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

If the interest rate of cash and cash equivalents had been
50 basis points higher, the profit before income tax for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 would have
been approximately RMB919,424 and RMB1,013,088 higher,
respectively.
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36. A RERE»
(d) HMEE =E B2

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

(d) Foreign currency risk

SMNERREE SR TANRR
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Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through operation
outside PRC which give rise to other payables and cash and
cash equivalents that are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate.

The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily USD and
HKD. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge its foreign currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign
currency exposures regularly and considers no significant
exposure on its foreign exchange risk.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s profit before income tax in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of reporting period.
The sensitivity analysis includes balances between Group
companies where the denomination of the balances is in a
currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or
the borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase
in profit and other equity where the USD strengthens against
the relevant currency. For a weakening of the USD against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below
would be negative.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

BE & HERFAESHA

A (FE) R & E
Increase/

(decrease) Effect on
in foreign profit before
exchange rate income tax
AR% T ARYTT
RMB RMB

2024 2024
ET usD 5% 241,779
(5%) (241,779)
BT HKD 5% 152,735
(5%) (152,735)

2023F 2023
E7T usD 5% 237,940
(5%) (237,940)
BT HKD 5% 125,816
(5%) (125,816)

FREESTRERETE
ERHEMRBLEMETE @ XL
ERZHERRSEEERT
EOTERETESR TARMR
AXEERER  MAAEME
E S RIR =) A R¥5 A& o

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for both derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant.
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36. A RERE»

(d)

(e)

S EE | Bax (4%)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(e)
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The stated changes represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over
the period until the next annual reporting date. Results of
the analysis as presented in the above table represent an
aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ profit
for the year and equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange rate ruling
at the end of reporting period for presentation purposes.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into
the Group’s presentation currency.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or obtain new bank borrowings. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the year.

As part of this review, the directors of the Group consider
the cost of capital and the risk associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through issuance of
new shares as well as the addition of new borrowings.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total capital. Total debt consists of total
borrowings, as well as lease liabilities (including “current and
non-current” items as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position).
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

BEXEE#E) (e) Capital management (Continued)
R2024F K 2023%12 A31 HHY The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as
EEBELERNT: follows:
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR AR
RMB RMB
BT Total debt 463,694,521 539,078,198
e AR Total equity 1,643,904,226 1,513,430,270
BEABEBELX Gearing ratio 28% 36%
VAN = =
REEFE 37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
AREBEEER (@) Fair value hierarchy
BEAREBAEINEKIEZEAAE Financial instruments carried at fair value or where fair value
BERNSBTARKEBERRGTE was disclosed can be categorized by levels of the inputs to

RAEENGHERTEABIE
BAETOR BABERD

valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The inputs
are categorized into three levels within a fair value hierarchy

AEBEEERR BRI T =1l as follows:

i

F1EH: MRABERERET Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
HHmE(CREH (unadjusted);
)

F2EM T B ABIE Level 2. Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
HNT] B B ok B Level 1 inputs;
Ry A SR

FEIEH: TREEHREASE Level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market
(B FESTHEETH data).
B -
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37. AR EBEFTEw

(a)

IRBEEERE
HRIBEERE  AEEEH
BEBRAZLREFEY
BHRYHE B REME
WFB) AR eRARE(BRE
S EMENRIA - 5T ERTT
fEREHEaE) MEEERELR
NABEES - AKEEAH
R R E(EEE QR EEM
o DHRERSFFERUE
S MR FERGE -

TR 27 K &£ B R2024F &
2023F12 A1 HIE AR BEST

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continuea)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, including
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and deposits
and other receivables and financial liabilities including trade
and other payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings, and
lease liabilities, approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities. The carrying amount of the Group’s non-current
borrowings approximate their fair values as they are carried at
interest rate close to market rate at each year end.

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and

ENEERAE: 2023:
F1ER F2E R EIE R @t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Kzt AR¥R AR¥R AR¥R AR¥TR
Note RMB RMB RMB RMB
R2024F12A31H As at 31 December 2024
BRAAEBEMARMES Financial assets at FVOCI
REmemEE 24 95,526,694 95,326,694
72023412 4318 As at 31 December 2023
BRAREBEMARMES Financial assets at FVOCI
hEmemEE 24 3 - 79,658,832 79,658,832

FIERTABREEEERE - &
RZEFTALENERMSE
B AREQABENREE
EEHEREFEHNESD
BERMRBEREET - &
WEE(HF24) R R BEK
BREEREEMES -

RERN ReMmEERERE
BEME BIBREZ2EHRDN
AhEEFEZHATEEER
WEEAFIBRNEFIBR
B o
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The level 3 instruments include notes receivable. As these
instruments are not traded in an active market, their fair
values have been determined based on discounted cash flow
using the expected return based on management judgement
and estimates. Fair value of notes receivables (note 24) are
considered approximate to their carrying amount.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities.
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37. DR EBEEFEw
(b) EHERFTAEEEAY

(c)

B (3B
HE

TR EVRE E202449F 22023
FI2A1BLEFERAAEBE

VN REE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continuea)

(b) Fair value measurements using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments
of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

HFAEMGEENESZEMEE income for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:
HESERTAZ

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

ARETRT ARETT

RMB RMB

RET) As the beginning of the year 79,658,832 28,812,893

U Acquisitions 304,581,983 300,000,111

& Disposals (288,714,121) (249,154,172

NREEZEH Change in fair value - -

RER As the end of the year 95,526,694 79,658,832

FAREE KR FE Net unrealised gain for the year - -
HEBEREN (c) Valuation process and techniques

AEEREEKEEBIETH
HRENEIBRTAME - ZE
%L*EIE%E%&L%EE’METE'
¥ E=b—FEHA—REERM
%EZIK%@%SE%&IEB’J’Aﬁ
B1E -

HRZETAYERNERTS
BEE -HArREBENERZRE
EAEMEERN B

Eﬁiﬁiﬁimu%*ﬁﬁu &TT
BRBAME X207

FEEARKREEREREER
KRR

- HAUBERTUERHR
ABUE - BREBRESE -

The Group has a team that manages the valuation of level
3 instruments for financial reporting purposes. The team
manages the valuation exercise of the investments on a case
by case basis. At least one a year, the team uses valuation
techniques to determine the fair value of the Group’s level 3
instruments.

As these instruments are not traded in an active market, their
fair values have been determined by using various applicable
valuation techniques, including:

- the discounted cash flow model and unobservable inputs
mainly including assumptions of expected future cash
flows and discount rate; and

- a combination of observable and unobservable inputs,
including discount rate etc..

£ %R Annual Report 2024 219



BO I R M A

Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

H £20245128318 Lt £ E For the year ended 31 December 2024

37. AR EBEFTEw
(c) HMEBERREFEIME)
RER (5 ER &S -

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continuea)

(c) Valuation process and techniques (Continued)
There were no changes to valuation techniques during the

year.
kDN ¢y
HE 2024%F 2023 FUBEBRAHE 2024 2023 AREEWEE
Unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Description 2024 2023 inputs 2024 2023 inputs to fair value
AR¥RT AR
RMB RMB
KR E 95,526,604 79,658,832 EBFHBUBX 1.95%-2.40% 1.85%-2.30% REMAZHHEEAR

Notes receivables

ARABEDE
Risk-adjusted The higher the risk-adjusted
discount rate discount rate, the lower

the fair value

AREREEREA R EBEMBED
FTERRBVIERRARZIRE
ik 2 B 78 & B 38 338 R 3% 1M B
EHEMEHAERETE  ABE
20244 [ 2023F 12 A31 HA fE
KEBAABESEROAR
#976,0607T 3 A K #964,648
JT K AR #1,008,356 T 5 A R
#993,7907T °

38. B ESTE
B E2024%F F2023F12 A31 8 Ik 4
- ARRIER R AR IR
T 7] BB AR B o 720244 F 2023412
AB81H + R £ A ] 18 RATEAY
AR E -

39. FEHRE R
RERSMBBEIERN  ARE

RBEMRIBRLEEMETEE
MEXREM -

Key assumptions used in the valuation of the fair value of
notes receivables include risk-adjusted discount rate, if the
risk-adjusted discount rate had decreased or increased by
3% with all other variables held constant, the fair value of
notes receivables would have been increased or decreased
by approximately RMB976,060 or RMB964,648 and
RMB1,008,356 or RMB993,790 as at 31 December 2024 and
2028.

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no option
was granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
The Company did not have any outstanding share options as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As of the approval date on these financial statements, the Group
had no significant events after the Reporting Period which need to
be disclosed.
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